Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

William Arthur Langley, III

Date

Studies on the Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin and Immune Responses to Influenza Vaccine Vectors and RNA Viral Infections in Mice

By

William Arthur Langley, III Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

Rafi Ahmed Advisor

Richard Compans Committee Member David Steinhauer Advisor

Joshy Jacob Committee Member

Jacqueline Katz Committee Member Samuel Speck Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

Studies on the Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin and Immune Responses to Influenza Vaccine Vectors and RNA Viral Infections in Mice

By

William Arthur Langley, III B.S., University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, 2001

Advisors: Rafi Ahmed, Ph.D. and David Steinhauer, Ph.D.

An abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics 2010

Abstract

Studies on the Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin and Immune Responses to Influenza Vaccine Vectors and RNA Viral Infections in Mice

By

William Arthur Langley, III

Influenza is a major health concern for humans and despite intensive efforts, strategies to prevent and/or cure it have not proven to be very successful. Viral mutants resistant to available drugs are common and antigenic changes in the glycoproteins make it necessary to frequently reformulate vaccine components. The work presented herein examines numerous aspects of influenza structure and immune responses to viruses in hopes of providing insights that may aid in the development of improved anti-viral strategies and vaccines. Drugs and vaccines that are able to effectively target conserved components of influenza are likely to prove effective at targeting multiple influenza subtypes. We have extended studies on one of these potential targets, the fusion peptide of the influenza HA, and demonstrated that single residue deletions in this domain prevent it from mediating fusion. These studies demonstrate length constraints for the fusion peptide and may help lead to the design of drugs that can target this conserved region of the virus. Further work focuses on the ability of candidate influenza vaccines containing disrupted NS1 proteins to elicit CTL responses. We show that, although these viruses are severely attenuated, they are able to generate potent memory CTLs and these are able to mediate viral clearance. Several properties make influenza attractive as a vaccine vector. We demonstrate that recombinant influenza vectors containing inserts of Bacillus anthracis are able to elicit antibody responses against these inserted domains and that these responses can be boosted by heterologous vectors to levels that are able to neutralize the anthrax toxin. However, CTLs recognizing multiple strains of influenza inhibit previously infected mice from developing antibody or CTL responses after immunization with influenza vectors, although, these cross-reactive cells are able to protect mice from challenges with heterosubtypic viruses. Finally, we look at the longevity of humoral responses to influenza, LCMV, and VSV in mice. We show that depletion of naïve and memory B cells by rituximab results in a decrease of virus-specific plasma cells. These data indicate that plasma cells are intrinsically long-lived, but that some re-seeding by memory B cells may be necessary to maintain their numbers long-term.

Studies on the Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin and Immune Responses to Influenza Vaccine Vectors and RNA Viral Infections in Mice

By

William Arthur Langley, III B.S., University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, 2001

Advisors: Rafi Ahmed, Ph.D. and David Steinhauer, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics 2010

Acknowledgements

It is with sincere gratitude that I acknowledge the members of my thesis committee for their advice and encouragement throughout my graduate studies. I would especially like to thank my co-advisors, David Steinhauer and Rafi Ahmed, for their guidance and support throughout the time that I have spent in their laboratories. I have enjoyed my time at Emory University and the research environment that it has provided.

I am also grateful for all of the friends that I have made, both in and out of the lab, over the past few years and the experiences that we have shared. I would like to thank my family for all of their support and their understanding of my long hours spent in the laboratory. I would especially like to thank my wife, Genevieve, who has been extremely supportive and is always there to offer me a hug at the end of the day.

Table of Contents

Abstract Acknowledgements Table of Contents List of Figures and Tables

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction

Influenza background	1
Influenza vaccines and antivirals	16
Influenza virus vaccine vectors	28
Maintenance of humoral immunity against viruses	35

Chapter 2: Single residue deletions along the length of the influenza HA fusion

41
43
44
48
72
75
75

Chapter 3: Immunization with Live Attenuated Influenza Viruses That Express Altered NS1 Proteins Results in Potent and Protective Memory CD8⁺ T-Cell

There and the found in the found in the found of the foun	
Responses	86
Abstract	88
Introduction	89
Materials and Methods	92
Results	96
Discussion.	111
Acknowledgements	113
References.	114

Chapter 4: Induction of neutralizing antibody responses to anthrax PA using broadly-applicable influenza vectors: Implications for disparate immune system

priming pathways	122
Abstract	124
Introduction	125
Materials and Methods	129
Results and Discussion.	131
Acknowledgements	146
References	146

Chapter 5: The effects of preexisting immunity to influenza on responsibility vectors in mice	nses to
millenza vectors in mice	134
Abstract	156
Introduction	157
Materials and Methods	161
Results	164
Discussion	178
Acknowledgements	181
References	182

Chapter 6: The role of memory B cells in maintaining long-lived humoral immunity

	189
Abstract	191
Introduction	192
Results	195
Discussion	212
Materials and Methods	215
References	220
Chapter 7: Discussion and Future Directions	227
References	238

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter 2: Single residue deletions along the length of the influenza HA fusion peptide lead to inhibition of membrane fusion function

Figure 2-1: HA Fusion peptide sequences from representatives of each of the subtypes and nomenclature and fusion peptide sequences of the HA deletion addressed in this study	16 HA mutants 51
Figure 2-2: Ribbon diagrams of the three conformations of the HA trimer	52
Table 2-1: Antibody reactivity of cell-surface HAs by ELISA	54
Figure 2-3: Cell surface expression of HAs as assayed by trypsin cleavage of H HA1 and HA2	A0 into 56
Figure 2-4: Graphs of ELISA experiments to demonstrate HA conformational resulting from incubation at reduced pH	changes 61
Figure 2-5: Graphs of ELISA experiments showing reactivity with the low pH-monoclonal antibody IIF4 as a function of pH	specific 62
Figure 2-6: Western blot analysis for the determination of the pH of conform change by trypsin susceptibility	national 63
Figure 2-7: Polykaryon formation by HA-expressing BHK cells following incub pH 4.8	ation at 66
Figure 2-8: Dye transfer assay for hemifusion and full fusion activity of HA muta	ints 67
Chapter 3: Immunization with Live Attenuated Influenza Viruses That I Altered NS1 Proteins Results in Potent and Protective Memory CD8 ⁺ Responses	Express T-Cell
Figure 3-1: Constructs used in this study	99
Figure 3-2: T-cell responses in the spleen and lungs of mice 8 days after infecti the NS1 mutant viruses	ion with 102
Figure 3-3: Long-lived memory CD8 T-cell populations are primed by infection NS1-mutant viruses.	with the 104
Figure 3-4: Recall of memory P14 cells primed by NS1 mutant viruses	106

Chapter 4: Induction of neutralizing antibody responses to anthrax PA using broadly-applicable influenza vectors: Implications for disparate immune system priming pathways

Figure 4-1: Bacillus anthracis protective antigen and vector constructs	133
Figure 4-2: Antibody responses following immunization with viral vectors	138
Figure 4-3: Antibody responses following heterologous boosting	139
Figure 4-4: Antibody responses following intramuscular boosting	141
Table 4-1: Anthrax toxin neutralizing titers.	145

Chapter 5: The effects of preexisting immunity to influenza on responses to influenza vectors in mice

Chapter 6: The role of memory B cells in maintaining long-lived humoral immunity

Figure 6-1: B cell depletion in PB of rituximab treated mice	.196
Figure 6-2: Memory B cell depletion in rituximab treated mice	. 198
Figure 6-3: Anti-viral IgG titers in rituximab treated mice	. 200

Figure 6-4: Antibody titers and plasma cell numbers following rituximab treat aged immune mice	ment in 203
Figure 6-5: HAI and VSV neutralization serum titers	205
Figure 6-6: Plasma cell numbers in rituximab treated versus untreated mice	207
Figure 6-7: B cell numbers and antibody titers following short treatment regiment	S
	210 211

Chapter 7: Discussion and future directions

Figure 7-1: Survival of anthrax spore challenge	232
Figure 7-2: LCMV-specific CD8 ⁺ T cells following B cell depletion	236

Chapter 1: Introduction

Influenza background

Classification

Influenza A virus is a major health concern for humans, a fact highlighted by the current H1N1 pandemic. It is a member of the *Orthomyxoviridae* family of viruses, which consists of five genera, all of which contain segmented singlestranded negative sense RNA genomes. The five genera are the *Influenzavirus A*, *Influenzavirus B*, *Influenzavirus C*, *Isavirus*, and *Thogotovirus* [1]. A sixth genus, consisting of the previously unclassified Quaranfil virus, Johnston Atoll virus, and the Lake Chad virus has recently been proposed [2].

The *Thogotovirus* genus consists of three viruses, the Thogoto virus, the Dhori virus, and the Araguari virus. Members of this genus can consist of six or seven segments [3]. Thogoto virus was first isolated from ticks in Kenya and livestock have been shown to have high levels of antibodies against it [4]. Thogoto virus infections have been known to cause spontaneous abortions in sheep [5] and Dhori virus was reported to have caused encephalitis and viral illness after the accidental infection of five laboratory workers [6]. Araguari virus was isolated from an opossum and has not been reported in humans [7]. The only member of the genus *Isavirus*, the infectious salmon anemia virus, consists of eight segments [8]. It is known to infect fish [9] and is a major concern for salmon farmers, but has not been reported in humans [10].

In contrast to the *Thogotovirus* and *Isavirus* genera, the *Influenzavirus* genera are all known to circulate in humans and a high degree of homology exists between the 5' and 3' ends of these viruses indicating a probable common evolutionary ancestor [11]. Influenza C virus was first isolated in 1949 [12] and shown to consist of only seven segments [12-13]. It has been isolated from humans and pigs [14], but these viruses are of little clinical significance [15-16]. Influenza B virus consists of eight segments and can be widespread in some years. First isolated in 1940 [17], it is normally thought of as a pathogen of humans, but has also been isolated from seals [18]. Its hemagglutinin (HA) protein shares stretches of homology with the HA protein of influenza A viruses [19].

Of the *Orthomyxoviridae*, influenza A virus generally causes the most severe infections in humans and will be the focus of this dissertation. It consists of eight segments [20-21] encoding ten or eleven proteins, depending on the strain [22]. In addition to humans, influenza A virus has also been detected in domestic and wild fowl [23-27], dogs [28], horses [29], whales [30], pigs [31-33], seals [34], minks [35], and cats [36], among others. The pathogenesis and sustained transmission of the virus in these animals can vary greatly. Influenza was first demonstrated to be caused by a virus when a filterable agent isolated from pigs suffering from influenza was used to infect other pigs and recreate the illness. Although, it was also necessary to co-infect the pigs with *Haemophilus influenzae suis* bacteria in order to reproduce the clinical symptoms [37]. Smith, Andrewes, and Laidlaw at Mill Hill outside of London were the first to isolate

human influenza virus in 1933. They demonstrated that the virus could be infectious in ferrets and used them to maintain their stocks in the laboratory [38]. The virus was first plaque purified and maintained in MDCK cells in 1975, following the discovery that the addition of trypsin to culture media was necessary [39].

Genome description

The eight segments of the influenza genome can encode ten or eleven different proteins, depending on the strain. The polymerase shows RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity and consists of one acidic (PA) and two basic subunits (PB1 and PB2) based on isoelectric focusing and electrophoresis [40]. These subunits are encoded by the three largest segments of the viral genome. PB1 and PB2 consist of 2341 nucleotides, while PA is 2233 nucleotides [41-43]. The PB1 subunit has been shown to have polymerase activity and is responsible for transcribing the anti-genomic copies of the genome (cRNA) and then transcribing these back into multiple copies of the genome [44-45]. It also contains nuclear localization signals [46] and mutations within it have been shown to inhibit transcriptional activity [44]. PB1-F2 is the most recently discovered influenza protein and is encoded by an alternate reading frame of the PB1 segment. It is a virulence factor, causing apoptosis of infected host cells, and is not found in all strains of influenza viruses [22].

The PB2 subunit is a cap-binding protein that plays a role in initiation of viral mRNA synthesis by recruiting capped RNA primers [47-48]. It had been

shown to have protease activity which would allow it to cleave the 7-methyl guanosine triphosphate caps from host mRNAs [49], however, more recently, it has been demonstrated that while PB2 is able to bind to the host mRNA caps, it is actually the PB1 subunit that cleaves them [50]. The PB2 subunit has also been shown to contain nuclear localization signals [51] and has been demonstrated to play a role in restricting the host range of influenza virus [52-53].

The PA function is not entirely clear, but it has been shown to play a role in both transcription and replication, where it may initiate strand synthesis without a primer being present [54-56]. It also plays a crucial role in bringing together the three polymerase subunits by binding to PB1 [57] and has been reported to have protease activity, although the significance of this is still unknown [58].

The nucleocapsid protein (NP) consists of 1565 nucleotides [59]. It encapsulates cRNAs and vRNAs and interacts with the polymerase proteins allowing transcription to occur by bringing them together with the template RNA [60-61]. Together with the polymerase proteins, it forms the ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) and one RNP is associated with each segment of the viral genome [62].

The second smallest segment of the genome is 1027 nucleotides long and encodes two proteins [63]. One of which, the matrix protein, M1, is the most abundant viral protein [64]. It has a structural role in the virion and it also plays a fundamental role in virus assembly [65]. The other protein encoded by this segment, M2, is a small transmembrane protein derived from spliced mRNA. It is a homotetramer and has proton channel activity allowing virus disassembly to occur during the initial stages of infection [66-68]. It is the least abundant surface protein with only 20-60 molecules per virion [69].

The smallest segment in the influenza genome is only 890 nucleotides long, but also encodes two proteins, non-structural protein 1 (NS1) and nonstructural protein 2 (NS2) [70-72]. NS2 functions to mediate the export of newly synthesized RNPs from the nucleus and therefore, is also referred to as the nuclear export protein (NEP) [73]. It has also been shown to interact with the M1 protein and may be important in defining viral structure [73].

The NS1 protein of has multiple functions in infected cells. It has been demonstrated to control both viral RNA replication [74] and viral protein synthesis [75]. It is also a major virulence factor of the virus, as it is known to inhibit host interferon responses [76]. One way in which it is able to accomplish this is by inhibiting the IRF-3, NF- κ B and c-Jun/ATF-2 transcription factors [77-78]. It probably does this by binding to RIG-I, preventing intracellular sensing of viral single-stranded RNA [79-80]. It can also inhibit 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) and serine/threonine protein kinase R (PKR) [81-82] and activate the PI3K pathway [83]. It is thus able to influence multiple aspects of innate and, therefore, adaptive immune responses. These functions make viruses containing deletion of or truncations within the NS1 protein viable options for constructing attenuated influenza vaccines. This will be discussed in further detail below and is the focus of Chapter 3.

The NA is encoded by its own segment which is 1413 nucleotides long [84]. It forms a mushroom-like tetramer on the viral surface, where it is the

second most abundant glycoprotein, behind HA [85]. There are nine known, antigenically distinct, subtypes of this protein that, along with the HA protein, form the basis for classifying influenza subtypes [86]. It functions to mediate the release of mature virions from infected cells towards the end of the viral life cycle by cleaving the sialic acid residues that are interacting with the viral HA proteins [87-88]. Inhibition of this protein leads to virus clumping on the surface of host cells and is the target of the NA inhibitor drugs which will be discussed below [89].

The HA protein plays a major role in the viral life cycle and has historically been the most studied segment of the influenza genome. The HA of the A/Aichi/2/68 H3N2 subtype influenza virus is one of the most well-studied HA proteins and all subsequent discussions will refer to the HA from this influenza strain, unless noted otherwise. It is synthesized as a 550 amino acid monomer that folds into non-covalently linked homotrimers in the endoplasmic reticulum before being transported to cellular surfaces through the Golgi complex [90-91]. During this process, it is N-glycosylated at seven asparagines residues [91]. The precursor peptide, HA0, is proteolytically cleaved into the disulfide-linked units HA1 and HA2 by proteases found in the respiratory tract of hosts [92-94]. This cleavage is necessary for viral replication and will be discussed in more detail in the section below describing the viral life cycle.

There are sixteen antigenically distinct HA subtypes [27] and it is the major surface antigen to which neutralizing antibodies are produced [95]. It binds to sialic acid residues on the ends of glycans on host cell membranes enabling

the virus to enter host cells by clathrin-dependent receptor-mediated endocytosis [96-98]. Human influenza isolates show a preference for α 2,6 linked sialic acids, while avian virus isolates typically show more affinity to glycans with α 2,3 linkage [99-100].

This protein has also been demonstrated to be a major determinant of influenza virus pathogenicity. As mentioned above, in order for viral particles to be infective, the precursor molecule, HAO, must be cleaved into the HA1 and HA2 subunits [101-102]. This cleavage occurs at a site referred to as the cleavage loop and uncleaved HA proteins are still able to bind to host cells, but they are unable to mediate membrane fusion which is what makes the viral particles noninfectious [92-93]. The protease recognition motif (R-X-R/K-R) in the HA cleavage loop allows for cleavage by extracellular trypsin-like proteases and some highly pathogenic avian strains have been found to contain multiple basic amino acid insertions at this site allowing proteases that are ubiquitously expressed in many organs and tissues to access and cleave this loop. This can result in more virulent viruses that may spread systemically [103-107]. The absence of a nearby carbohydrate has also been associated with increased virulence in influenza viruses, presumably due to the increased accessibility of the cleavage loop for proteases [108-109]. In fact, the tropism of the neurovirulent A/WSN/33 influenza strain is increased to include neurons because of the loss of this glycosylation site [110].

The HA structure and function will be discussed in more detail as it relates to specific studies in this dissertation in subsequent sections.

Replication cycle

The RNA polymerase lacks proofreading resulting in replication errors at a rate of about one in 10⁴ bases [111-112]. These errors result in many variants that are not viable, however, some of these mutations can prove to be advantageous to the virus. Amino acid substitutions in the HA and NA proteins are commonly observed and can allow the viruses to escape neutralization in previously immunized hosts [113]. This phenomenon is referred to as genetic drift and is responsible for yearly epidemics of influenza.

The segmented nature of the influenza virus genome allows reassortment of gene segments between different strains of the virus to take place in multiply infected hosts, referred to as genetic shift. Pigs have been shown to be susceptible to both avian and human influenza viruses and can serve as mixing vessels where this reassortment can occur [24, 114-115]. The reassortment of genetic segments can lead to the introduction of novel influenza subtypes to which a population does not have prior immunity and result in pandemic strains of the virus. This has most recently been seen with the triple reassortant 2009 H1N1 pandemic strain [116]. While pandemic viruses are usually associated with the introduction of novel HA and NA proteins, the PB1 protein, the PB2 protein [52-53], the NP protein [117-119] and the NS proteins [120] have also been demonstrated to play a role in restricting the host range of influenza virus [52-53]. These pandemic strains will be discussed in more detail in a subsequent section.

As mentioned above, the influenza HA plays an integral role in the replication of the virus. Upon cleavage of HA0 into HA1 and HA2, the N-terminus

of HA2 is released. This highly conserved hydrophobic domain is generally considered to consist of the first 23 amino acids of the newly formed chain and is referred to as the fusion peptide [121]. Following cleavage, the fusion peptides of each monomer insert into a cavity in the trimer interior, and the HA molecule is transformed into a metastable protein that can be subsequently triggered to induce membrane fusion upon acidification [122-123]. This metastable state is formed despite the physical rearrangement of only six residues at the C-terminus of the newly formed HA1 subunit and twelve residues of the fusion peptide [103]. Following receptor binding and internalization of the virus by receptor-mediated endocytosis (described above), the acidification of endosomes triggers the HA to undergo extensive structural rearrangements, transforming from the metastable conformation into a highly thermostable form of the protein. As mentioned above, uncleaved HA proteins are still able to bind to host cells, but they are unable to mediate membrane fusion making the viral particles noninfectious [92-93]. It is also known that the cleaved HA must be exposed to low pH environments before fusion can occur [122, 124]. This drop in pH is targeted by some classes of antiinfluenza drugs and will be discussed in detail in the section below covering antivirals.

The neutral pH and the low pH conformation of HA following acidification have been well characterized and crystal structures of both conformations have been resolved [125-127]. The known conformational changes leading to membrane fusion are summarized below and depicted in Chapter 2, Figure 2. It is not known whether these changes occur in a specific order. 1) The membrane distal domains of the HA1 subunit detrimerize.

2) The fusion peptide is extruded out of the trimer interior.

3) The extended chain region that links the long and short helices of HA forms a helix and extends the central coiled coil in the N-terminal direction, directing the fusion peptide toward the target membrane.

4) A helix-to-loop transition within the long helix of the neutral pH HA near the fusion peptide reorients residues C-terminal to it by 180 degrees converting the molecule into a rod-like structure that brings the fusion peptide and the membrane anchor domain into close proximity with one another.

The mechanism by which acidification triggers conformational changes is not known, but mutations leading to increases in the pH at which fusion takes place have been reported at various regions throughout the trimer. One study found that mutations leading to increases in the pH at which fusion occur fell into two groups, those that resulted in the destabilization of the fusion peptide position within the neutral pH conformation and those that disturbed intersubunit contacts [128]. Mutations that destabilize the neutral pH conformation have also been reported by others [129-130] and give insight into how the conformational changes may be triggered. Other studies have found that the spacing of glycines within the fusion peptide may be important [131] and that shortened fusion peptides or those in which the N-terminal glycines have been substituted for by other amino acids are unable to mediate fusion [130]. Studies with double mutants suggest that upon acidification, changes in this region may precede or dictate the events elsewhere in the molecule [132].

Based in part on structural features within the fusion peptide region, HA subtypes can be segregated into two clades. The kinetics of membrane fusion differ between these clades, and can be linked to specific residues. In all HAs, HA2 residues K51, D109, and D112 are completely conserved, whereas the residues at positions HA1 17, and HA2 106, and 111 are group-specific [27, 133]. These differences could play a role in the ecology of influenza viruses. Chapter 2 explores some of the structural constraints of the fusion peptide and offers further insight into its role in the fusion process.

After fusion of the viral and cellular membranes takes place, the viral contents are released into the host cell cytoplasm. The RNA segments, coated in NP, are imported into the nucleus by the importin α /importin β pathway [134-135]. Subsequently, replication of the viral genome and mRNA synthesis both occur in the nucleus of host cells [136-137]. Because the genomes of influenza viruses are negative sense RNA, they cannot be directly translated into protein, so mRNA must be transcribed from vRNA before proteins can be made. The synthesis of mRNA from vRNA involves the snatching of capped primers from nascent host cell mRNA by the polymerase complex, as described above. This "cap-snatching" also serves the purpose of blocking the translation of host cell mRNAs, thereby increasing viral output [138]. The viral mRNA is then exported to the cytoplasm of the cells where it can be translated. Newly synthesized NP and NS1 proteins migrate back to the nucleus where it is believed that the increased

concentration of free NP may trigger the shift from mRNA synthesis to replication of the viral genome [139-140].

The replication process involves synthesis of cRNA from a vRNA template, followed by synthesis of vRNA from the cRNA (vRNA \rightarrow cRNA \rightarrow vRNA). Newly synthesized vRNAs are encapsulated in NP within the nucleus (forming vRNPs) and exported to the cell surface for inclusion in new viral particles via interactions with the NS2 (NEP) and M1 proteins [73, 141]. The HA, NA, and M proteins are transported to the cell surface through the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi where they are integrated into the cell membrane [64, 69, 127, 142].

The vRNPs interact with the M1 protein [143], which buds outward at lipid rafts in the cell membrane forming new virions [144-146]. Interactions between M1 and the cytoplasmic domains of HA, NA, or M2 have been proposed as signals for budding [147], although M1 alone has been reported to be sufficient for virus-like particle formation [148]. It had been hypothesized that incorporation of vRNPs into new viruses was random [149], but recent studies support the model that the individual segments contain packaging signals that enable them to be packaged as a complete set [150-152]. Finally, the NA proteins cleave sialic acids from the HA receptors, releasing them from the host cell, starting the viral replication cycle again.

Epidemiology and pathogenesis

All 16 HA subtypes have been shown to circulate in waterfowl and these are considered to be the natural reservoir for the virus [23-27]. Most strains replicate in the respiratory tract and intestines of these birds without causing any overt symptoms [153-154]. In the United States, it has been estimated that somewhere between 5-20% of the population becomes infected with influenza each year leading to more than 200,000 hospitalizations and around 41,000 deaths [155-156]. Worldwide, influenza is responsible for three to five million cases of severe illness, and 250,000-500,000 deaths each year [157].

Influenza viruses are transmitted directly via aerosolized droplets or indirectly by contact with contaminated surfaces [158-159]. Symptoms in humans can include fever, coughing, sneezing, sore throat, runny or stuffy nose, achy body, headache, chills, or nausea and vomiting [156]. People 65 years and older, people with chronic medical conditions, pregnant women, and young children are the most likely to suffer life-threatening complications from influenza infections.

Influenza infections in healthy humans result in peak viremia around fortyeight hours post-infection and are usually cleared by around the eighth day [160-162]. Viral clearance is mediated by both the cellular and humoral branches of the immune system and influenza-specific T and B lymphocytes are detectable as early as two days after viral exposure [163-166]. Studies have found that mice having only CD8⁺ T cells [167-168] or only B cells are still capable of clearing influenza infections. However, CD4⁺ T cells alone were unable to clear influenza virus in the absence of B and CD8⁺ T cells, despite proliferating to similar levels compared to non-depleted mice. The study demonstrating this concludes that the main role of CD4⁺ T cells in controlling influenza infections is the promotion of the T-dependent antibody response [169]. Even though CTL responses are capable of clearing influenza virus in the absence of B cells, B cell knockout mice have been shown to have a 50-100-fold greater susceptibility to influenza virus infection than do WT mice [168]. A majority of antibody in natural infections has been demonstrated to recognize the HA and NA proteins and these are the main immunogens in current influenza vaccines [170-171]. B cell responses against influenza and their role in influenza vaccines are both discussed in further detail in sections below.

Influenza-like illnesses have been recorded as far back as ancient Greece, and a survey of historical literature concluded that at least thirteen pandemics have probably occurred since the year 1500 [156], although, 1889 is the earliest pandemic for which concrete evidence exists. Retroactive studies on human serum suggest that this pandemic was caused by an H2N2 subtype virus and that an H3N8 subtype virus circulated shortly thereafter [172-174]. The 1918 "Spanish flu" was caused by an H1N1 virus and was the worst pandemic in recorded history, estimated to have killed around fifty million people worldwide, and is believed to have been a wholly avian virus that did not arise from reassortment [175-177]. The 1957 "Asian flu" was caused by an H2N2 subtype virus and was less severe [178]. It contained PB1, HA and NA segments from avian viruses and the other five segments were retained from the 1918 H1N1 strain [108, 179]. Likewise, the "Hong Kong flu" of 1968 was caused by an H3N2

subtype virus that acquired the HA and PB1 segments from an avian virus and the six other segments from the 1957 H2N2 strain [179-180]. The currently circulating 2009 strain is caused by an H1N1 subtype virus and is a triple reassortant, containing segments from avian, swine, and human influenza strains [181-182]. H1N1 and H3N2 subtype viruses are still circulating in humans today, while the H2N2 strain appears to have been displaced by the H3N2 strain's emergence in 1968 [183]. Whether the current pandemic strain will eventually displace the H3N2 strain remains to be seen.

As mentioned above, pigs have been postulated to be the mixing vessels where avian and human influenza viruses can undergo reassortment leading to the generation of progeny that can cause pandemics in man. It has further been postulated that pigs could act as hosts for avian viruses allowing them to gradually adapt to humans without any reassortment at all [184].

Although direct transmission from birds to humans is rare, a number of cases of human infection by avian influenza viruses have been documented. Prior to the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, it had been widely hypothesized that the next pandemic strain would be the H5N1 avian influenza. This strain was first recognized as a severe threat in 1997, when an outbreak was reported in humans that resulting in acute respiratory distress and a high fatality rate among infected individuals [185-187]. These were the first documented cases of avian influenza viruses being directly transmitted to humans. The WHO reports that as of December 30, 2009, there have been 467 confirmed cases worldwide resulting in 282 deaths [188]. This is a shocking 60% fatality rate, indicating that this virus

could be catastrophic if it mutates into a form that is able to more efficiently infect humans.

Other influenza subtypes have also been documented to have infected humans. H7N7 subtype viruses have been associated with conjunctivitis in humans as far back as 1977, although one death in a 2003 outbreak has been linked to it as well [189-193]. H9N2 has also been detected in humans, but only seems to cause relatively mild respiratory disease with no reported fatalities [194-195].

Influenza vaccines and antivirals:

Despite intensive efforts, current strategies aimed at preventing and/or curing influenza infections have not proven to be very successful. Viral mutants resistant to currently available drugs are common and antigenic changes in the glycoproteins make it necessary to reformulate the current vaccines almost annually. The history of influenza pandemics, the ongoing pandemic, and the potential for future pandemics clearly warrants further research into influenza vaccine and drug development.

Current vaccines

Vaccines are the most effective means of preventing influenza infections, and influenza vaccines have been developed and tested since the late 1930s [196-197]. Antibodies have been demonstrated to be the major mediator of protection in immunocompetent hosts and current influenza vaccines are designed mainly to elicit these humoral responses [95, 198].

There are currently two types of influenza vaccines licensed for human use in the U.S., the inactivated influenza vaccine and the live attenuated, coldadapted influenza vaccine (LAIV). Both of these vaccines are grown in eggs and are trivalent, containing H1N1, H3N2, and influenza B strains without any adjuvant. Influenza strains circulating throughout the world are continuously being monitored by scientists and each year the WHO meets and recommends the specific strains that should be included in that season's vaccine. In the U.S., the Vaccines and Related Biologicals Advisory Committee reviews the WHO recommendations and manufacturers working seeds are approved by Center for Biologics Evaluation & Research [199].

The inactivated vaccine is administered intramuscularly and is 70-90% effective in healthy individuals [170, 200]. During this year's pandemic, a monovalent H1N1 vaccine targeting the new strain was licensed by the FDA and is manufactured in an identical manner to the trivalent vaccine [201].

The first inactivated influenza vaccines used in humans consisted of whole viruses inactivated either by formalin or β -propiolactone [202-203]. Two other types of inactivated vaccines that have been used in humans are the split virion and the subunit. Both are derived by disrupting whole viruses with detergents, but subunit vaccines are then further purified, enriching for HA and NA proteins, getting rid of many of the byproducts of the production process that have been

associated with adverse reactions [204]. Whole virus and split virion vaccines were shown in the late 1960s to be correlated with elevated reactogenicity among the vaccinated, leading to the increased use of subunit vaccines [204-206].

While inactivated vaccines do elicit strong humoral responses against the HA and NA proteins, they have been shown to be poor inducers of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) [95, 170]. It is believed by many that this lack of CTL response makes this vaccine ineffective at protecting against heterologous strains of influenza, especially when compared to the LAIV [207-209].

The LAIV has been available since 2003 [210] and contains the same three vaccine strains as the inactivated vaccine [203]. A version protecting against the pandemic H1N1 strain has also been made available and is manufactured and administered in the same fashion as the seasonal vaccine [201]. The vaccine is both cold adaptated (ca), able to grow at 25° C, and temperature sensitive (ts), unable to grow at 37° C, which correlates with reduced virulence in vaccinated individuals because of limited replication in the lower respiratory tract [211-212]. The viruses are manufactured by combining the six internal segments, containing the mutations responsible for both the ca and the ts phenotypes, from the A/Ann Arbor/6/60 influenza A strain or the B/Ann Arbor/1/66 influenza B strain with the HA and NA surface proteins from the strain against which vaccination is desired [213-214]. These are referred to as 6/2 cold reassortant vaccines and, although immunized individuals have been shown to

excrete virus, they are considered safe because the mutations have been shown to be genetically stable [211, 215-216].

A major advantage of this vaccine over the inactivated vaccine is that it is administered intranasally, so no needles are involved. It has also been shown to be better at stimulating CTL responses, including IFN- γ and TNF- α responses, better at generating mucosal IgA responses, and to have a better capacity to interact with and be presented by antigen presenting cells (APC) [170, 217-218]. The responses to this vaccine have been shown to confer at least some protection against heterologous influenza strains [207-209].

Novel vaccine approaches

The currently licensed vaccines are ineffective when it comes to protecting against newly introduced influenza strains and currently circulating strains that have undergone genetic drift. Vaccines that are able to elicit heterologous immunity to many influenza subtypes are desirable. Although the HA and NA proteins are highly variable, the internal proteins of influenza viruses, including the NP and polymerase genes, are much more conserved [219] and immune responses directed against these may provide immunity to heterologous strains of influenza [208]. Another problem with current vaccines is that highly pathogenic avian strains that are likely to cause pandemics do not grow to high titers in eggs, making vaccine production difficult using currently licensed methods. For these reasons, novel approaches to influenza vaccination have been undertaken by numerous laboratories in order to improve both their efficacy and their production.

One experimental approach to producing improved influenza vaccines involves the generation of viruses with truncated or deleted NS1 proteins. The NS1 protein and its many functions were described above, but, one of its functions that is of particular interest when it comes to vaccine design is its ability to inhibit type I interferon responses in infected animals. Type I interferons (IFN-I) are produced by infected or activated cells during viral infections and are required for optimal priming of both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell responses [220-222]. This production of interferons has been shown to play a role in clearing influenza virus from infected hosts and T cells lacking the IFN-I receptor show reduced expansion and memory formation after infections [223-227].

Influenza viruses lacking NS1 function are highly attenuated and induce robust IFN-I responses, yet they are still able to be grown to high titers in cells and eggs [76-77]. These viruses have also been shown to be potent activators of dendritic cells [228]. In fact, robust humoral and cellular immune responses resulting in protection against WT homologous strains has been seen after vaccination with these viruses in mice [77, 229-230], pigs [231], horses [232], and macaques [233]. In the macaque study, it was also demonstrated that the immune responses generated by these live-attenuated strains were more protective than those elicited by inactivated vaccines.

Importantly, the immune responses generated by these viruses have been shown to reduce replication of heterologous influenza strains in vaccinated animals, indicating the induction of broad cross-protective responses [230-231]. To date, no human data have been generated for these viruses. Chapter 3 further explores the immune responses that are generated during infection with influenza viruses containing either full or truncated versions of the NS1 protein, focusing in depth on the quality of effector and memory CD8⁺ T cell responses that these attenuated viruses are able to elicit.

One drawback of these vaccines is the potential for them to undergo reassortment with WT viruses. This has been addressed by incorporating further attenuating mutations into both the HA and the PB2 segments in these viruses, thereby making reassortment to a virulent subtype more unlikely [234].

DNA vaccines are also an enticing alternative to the currently influenza licensed vaccines. They are noninfectious, nonreplicating, stable, and easily produced, relatively, in mass quantities [235]. When injected into animals they are transcribed and translated, producing proteins that can be presented by the major histocompatibility complex [236-237]. They are also easily manipulated and have been demonstrated to elicit cellular and humoral immune responses against a wide variety of pathogens [238-242].

Currently, DNA vaccines have only been licensed for use in fish and horses [243], but human trials analyzing their safety and efficacy as components of HIV vaccines are underway [244-245]. Like the LAIV, DNA vaccines are able to elicit CTL responses and could potentially protect against heterolosubtypic influenza strains [246]. Influenza DNA vaccines have been demonstrated to confer protection against drifted influenza strains in ferrets [247-248] and both drifted and heterosubtypic strains in murine models [236, 249].

However, several disadvantages exist with DNA vaccines. They must be administered by either intramuscular injection or a gene gun and there are questions about whether or not the DNA is able to incorporate into human genomes and the potential consequences this might have. DNA immunizations have also been shown to induce relatively low immune responses compared to some other vaccination methods [250].

Recombinant proteins have been proven effective in protecting against human papillomavirus (HPV) [251] and this approach also holds promise for future influenza vaccines. Recombinant proteins can be produced by the baculovirus expression system in insect cells and, because these are eukaryotic cells, the recombinant proteins have similar glycosylation patterns to those produced by natural influenza infections [252]. This process provides a safe, efficient way to produce highly purified proteins without the use of eggs and these proteins are non-replicating and non-infectious.

Immunization with recombinant HA proteins was shown to protect against homosubtypic influenza challenges in mice [253] and chickens [254] and a recombinant M2 protein immunization was shown to protect against both homolosubtypic and heterolosubtypic challenges in mice [255]. Human trials with recombinant influenza proteins have found them to be safe and immunogenic [256-257], able to generate antibodies at titers that are considered to be protective in humans [258-259]. A similar approach to recombinant protein immunizations is vaccination with virus-like particles (VLPs). These are produced in a similar fashion to the recombinant proteins in insect cells, but they also include the influenza matrix protein which results in budding particles containing the other recombinant proteins on their surface [260]. VLPs have the advantage of expressing recombinant proteins in their native conformations on a viral surface and of being able to be administered IN. They have been demonstrated to activate CTLs [261], elicit mucosal antibodies [262], and to be protective against homologous [263] and heterologous [262, 264] influenza strains in mice. VLPs are licensed in the U.S. for vaccines against hepatitis B and HPV and human trials of VLPs as influenza vaccines are currently underway.

In addition to novel types of influenza vaccines, increasing the immunogenicity of current and future vaccines is desirable and a number of methods are being tested to accomplish this goal, including the addition of adjuvants and the administration of the vaccines by more immunogenic routes. Clinical trials in humans have demonstrated that influenza vaccines for subtypes to which humans have not been previously exposed are often poorly immunogenic [259]. For this reason, adjuvants that can safely increase the response to these vaccines are desired. Aluminum salts are the only adjuvant that is currently licensed for use in humans in the U.S., however, studies with this adjuvant in influenza vaccines administered to humans have yielded mixed results as to its effectiveness [265-266]. MF59 is an oil in water emulsion that is licensed for use in influenza vaccines in Europe [267] and has not been

correlated with adverse events in humans that have received vaccines containing it [268]. Clinical trials in the U.S. have shown it to increase antibody responses among those vaccinated with it in trials involving both H5N3 [269] and H9N2 subtype viruses [270]. Although, the latter study also reported more discomfort at the injection site in people that received the adjuvant than in those that received non-adjuvanted vaccine. Other adjuvants that have been tried in humans, including the saponin QS21, have not been proven effective at boosting immune responses to vaccines [271]. On the other hand, the addition of granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor to VLPs was able to increase immune responses to influenza vaccines in mice [272]. However, the concerns with using adjuvants in human vaccines are great and, even if proven safe and effective, the perception of them may deter some people from getting vaccinated.

In addition to increasing immunogenicity of influenza vaccines by the use of adjuvants, other routes and means of administering the vaccines may prove to be more effective. One example of this is transcutaneous administration. This may prove to be a better route of administration because of the numerous APCs that reside in the skin [273]. One way to immunize by this route is through the use of microneedle vaccines. These consist of patches containing microscopic structures coated in antigen that are designed to pierce the skin and release the antigen to the APCs that are present [274-275]. This route of vaccination has been shown to require less influenza antigen to elicit the same level of response compared to IM vaccinations [276] and H1N1 coated microneedles have been demonstrated to be more protective than traditional IM vaccinations in mice [277]. In human trials, these patches were also found to be more immunogenic than IM injections [278]. A few of the advantages of this type of vaccine include ease of administration, it could be applied in the absence of trained healthcare workers, and the fact that it has been reported to be painless [275, 279-280].

Current antivirals

Antivirals can offer an alternative to vaccination or, more likely, be utilized as treatment after an infection occurs. Currently, there are two classes of drugs available for the prevention and treatment of influenza, the adamantanes and the NA inhibitors.

The adamantane derivatives amantadine and rimantadine have been shown to inhibit influenza replication in infected cells [281-282]. They work by targeting the M2 proton channel and inhibiting the acidification of the virus interior in endosomes and thus, viral uncoating [283]. Resistance to amantadine is common among influenza viruses, including H5N1 and H1N1 subtypes, and can usually be traced to mutations in the M2 protein, although mutations in the HA allowing the pH-specific conformational change to occur at elevated pH levels have also been reported [128, 284-286]. In fact, resistance to amantadine and rimantadine has become so common that the U.S. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices has recommended that neither be used for the treatment or chemoprophylaxis of influenza A in the United States [287].

The second class of influenza antivirals is the NA inhibitors, which include oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and zanamivir (Relenza). As mentioned above, these drugs
act on the NA protein of the virus and inhibit the budding viruses from being released from cellular surfaces [288-289]. They are able to reduce the severity of infections, but need to be administered early on to be most effective [89, 290-291]. Drug resistant mutants are less common than those seen with the M2 inhibitors, but have been reported [292-297]. Viral strains resistant to both M2 inhibitors and NA inhibitors were reported in immunocompromised patients that had received dual therapy [298].

Novel antivirals

Due to the emergence of influenza viruses resistant to the above classes of drugs, new drugs, new routes of administration of existing drugs, and new drug targets within the virus are being explored. Among these novel targets are the polymerase complex and the HA protein.

Polymerase inhibitors include the nucleoside T-705, which has broad activity with influenza A, B and C, as well as other RNA viruses [299-301]. The PB1 subunit of the polymerase has proven to be a popular target and drugs inhibiting its polymerase activity [302] as well as its cap-snatching endonuclease activity [303] have been developed.

The HA protein has historically been the most well-studied protein of the influenza virus. The first x-ray structure of the HA was reported in 1981 from the H3 subtype A/Hong Kong/1968 virus [127] and structures of many of the other HA subtypes, including the cleaved, uncleaved, and low pH conformations, have subsequently been solved [103, 125-126, 304-307]. The structural data, along

with other known properties of this protein should make it ideal for the development novel anti-influenza drugs and, in fact, several drugs are being, or have been, developed to act on this protein. These include the receptor analogues targeting the receptor binding site [308-310] and inhibitors of serine proteases [311-312].

Other drugs have been found to inhibit the conformational change that occurs during membrane fusion, although several only act on specific HA subtypes. One group of these is the benzoquinones and hydroquinones [313]. The most potent example of this class of drugs is *tert*-butyl hydroguinone (TBHQ). Although it was shown by viral infectivity assays to be a relatively weak inhibitor, it does lend credence to the belief that the HA can be stabilized in its neutral-conformation state [314]. A drug screen by the pharmaceutical company Wyeth-Ayerst Research found several drugs that were shown to bind near the fusion peptide and inhibit fusion [315]. Analysis of viral mutants resistant to another experimental drug, 180299, that showed inhibiting activity against influenza were analyzed and was similarly shown to bind the HA near the fusion peptide [316]. Finally, a compound isolated from broth containing fungi of the genus Stachybotrys was also shown to interfere with the low pH conformational change and a derivative of this drug demonstrated anti-influenza activity in vivo in mice [317-319].

The above studies suggest that a greater understanding of the roles that individual fusion peptide residues play in the initiation of fusion may aid in the development of new generations of anti-influenza drugs designed to inhibit membrane fusion function. Chapter 2 focuses on the composition of the fusion peptide in influenza viruses and may add some insight into the rigidity and conservation seen in this particular stretch of amino acids.

Influenza virus vaccine vectors and anthrax

Influenza vectors

Viral vectors have been shown to make effective vaccines for a number of pathogens, including some for which vaccine development has otherwise proven to be problematic. Replicating viral vectors have been demonstrated to elicit both humoral and cellular immune responses that are greater in magnitude and longer lasting when compared to many non-replicating vaccines [320-323]. One likely reason for increased B cell responses is the ability of viral vectors to display the antigens in their native state on viral surfaces where they can interact with B cell receptors. The ability of these live vectors to replicate in the cytoplasm of host antigen-presenting cells (APCs) allows them to be presented via major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules and probably leads to the increases seen with CD8⁺ T cell responses [324].

Numerous viruses are currently being developed for use as vaccine vectors. These include adenovirus [325], canarypox virus [326], rhabdovirus [327], measles virus [328], and modified vaccinia virus Ankara [329], to name just a few. A number of factors must be taken into account when choosing a virus

vector for vaccine purposes. Viral vectors must be safe, immunogenic, and genetically stable. They should also be efficiently targeted to the appropriate tissue to generate responses at the correct locations, whether directed by vector tropism or the route of inoculation by which it is administered. Another major factor that must be considered is preexisting immunity to the vector itself. Preexisting immunity is likely to render these vectors ineffective or at least less effective than those to which no prior immunity exists.

Influenza virus has many properties that make it a viable candidate for use as a viral vector. Influenza vaccines have an extensive record of safety and effectiveness in the human population and are manufactured in both live and inactivated forms annually [165-166, 330]. Influenza virus does not form a DNA intermediate during its replication cycle and is not able to integrate into the host's chromosomes. Exposure to live influenza viruses, either through infection or vaccination with the LAIV, elicits robust humoral and cellular immune responses in hosts in as little as 2-6 days [165, 170-171]. In addition, extensive knowledge of both the structure and function of the hemagglutinin (HA) glycoprotein exists allowing for manipulation of this protein [121, 127, 331-332]. Furthermore, a reverse genetics system has been developed for influenza which facilitates the manipulation of individual viral segments and allows for the generation of recombinant influenza strains [333]. The reverse genetics systems consist of DNA plasmids containing cDNA from influenza flanked by RNA I and II promoters. The original method for generating recombinant influenza viruses, developed in 1999, required transfecting cells with 17 plasmids [333]. More

recently, however, methods using only eight plasmids [334] or even a single plasmid have been developed [335]. These are more feasible for use in cell lines that may be used in manufacturing vaccines for humans. Finally, the HA protein has been reported to have an adjuvant effect when administered as a component of virus-like particles containing epitopes derived from simian immunodeficiency viruses [336].

Although influenza infections are common in humans, infecting 5-20% of Americans each year [337], immunity to influenza viruses is largely mediated by antibodies against the HA and neuraminidase (NA) glycoproteins [171], both of which continually undergo genotypic and phenotypic changes in response to host selective pressures, making them highly divergent from year to year. There are sixteen antigenically distinct HA subtypes and nine distinct NA subtypes and immunity against one subtype does not confer immunity to the others [27]. Furthermore, as mentioned in a previous section, only three of the HA (H1, H2, and H3) and two of the NA (N1 and N2) subtypes have circulated extensively in humans during the past century, making it possible to develop influenza vectors expressing HA and NA subtypes to which preexisting immunity would be unlikely [27, 183]. The effects of preexisting immunity to homosubtypic and heterosubtypic influenza viruses on responses generated by influenza virus vectors is the focus of Chapter 5.

Li et al. were the first to demonstrate that influenza viruses could be effective vaccine vectors [338]. They inserted a 12-amino-acid peptide derived from the V3 loop of gp120 of HIV type 1 into the HA protein of recombinant influenza viruses and were able to elicit T cells against this insert and generate neutralizing antibody responses in a cell culture assay as well. Since then, a number of papers have been published demonstrating that influenza vectors containing HIV epitopes are able to elicit T and/or B cell responses against these inserts in mice and that, importantly, these responses can be both mucosal and systemic when the virus is given IN [339-342]. Influenza vectors containing foreign epitopes have also been used in mice to generate protective CD8⁺ T cell responses against LCMV [343] and protective B and T cell responses against malaria [344]. An entire protein from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* was inserted into the NS gene segment of influenza and these recombinant viruses were able to protect both mice and guinea pigs against a mycobacterial challenge [345]. Chapters 4 and 5 explore the ability of influenza vectors to elicit immune responses against anthrax in mouse models.

<u>Anthrax</u>

Bacillus anthracis is a Gram-positive bacterium that is the causative agent of anthrax, primarily a pathogen of herbivores. It can cause cutaneous, gastrointestinal, or pulmonary anthrax (the most deadly form), depending on the site where infections occur [346]. It can be fatal in humans and was utilized in an act of bioterrorism in 2001 [347]. The potential for future attacks of a similar nature make research into effective vaccines against it an important undertaking.

The major virulence factor of anthrax has been shown to be the bacterial toxin [348], which is composed of three polypeptide subunits, the PA, the lethal

factor (LF), and the edema factor (EF) [349]. The LF and EF subunits derive their names after the effects they have in infected hosts. The PA alone is unable to cause pathology when injected into hosts, while PA and EF alone cause skin edema, but not death, and PA and LF alone is lethal, but does not cause edema [350].

The PA subunit is composed of 735 amino acids that fold into four structurally distinct domains (Chapter 4, Figure 1a) serving unique functions [351]. Domain 4 is 140 amino acids in length and is responsible for binding to the host cell receptors, tumor endothelial marker 8 (TEM8) and capillary morphogenesis protein 2 (CMG2) [351-354]. It is, therefore, referred to as the receptor binding domain, or RBD. After binding to host cells, the protein is endocytosed and domain 1 is cleaved by the protease furin leaving domain 1' [351]. Domain 1' is responsible for binding the LF and EF subunits, and is therefore referred to as the lethal factor and edema factor binding domain, or LEF [355]. Upon entering host cells, the PA forms ring-shaped heptamers via interactions between domain 3 on different PA proteins [356] and domain 2 forms pores in the endosomes through which the LF and EF can be excreted [357].

Protection against anthrax is mediated primarily by antibodies to the bacterial toxin. Ivins and Welkos demonstrated for the first time that the PA alone could confer protective immunity in a guinea pig model [358], although, the presence of the EF or LF was suggested to augment this protection [359]. Two of the subunits, domain 1' (LEF) and domain 4 (RBD), have been shown to be specifically targeted by neutralizing antibodies [349, 360].

Currently, only one FDA approved vaccine against anthrax is available in the U.S., the anthrax vaccine absorbed (AVA). The AVA is prepared by adsorbing filtered culture supernatant fluids from the *B. anthracis* V770-NP1-R strain onto aluminum hydroxide gel and then adding benzethonium chloride and formaldehyde as preservatives [359]. It requires five or six immunizations over an 18 month period, as well as yearly boosts, to retain its effectiveness [361]. The intramuscular (IM) route of inoculation does not induce strong mucosal antibody responses and mucosal surfaces are the sites where infection with BA is the most deadly and where initial contact would likely occur in the event of a terrorist attack [362-363]. Furthermore, lot-to-lot variability in composition and adverse reactions to the vaccine in humans have also been observed [364]. Clearly, the present vaccine is less than ideal and would be impractical should anthrax be released into the public.

Since the 2001 attacks, a number of strategies have been explored in efforts to improve the costs, logistics, and efficacy of anthrax vaccines. These experimental vaccines include purified PA with aluminum adjuvants [365], purified PA with novel adjuvants [366], live-attenuated BA strains [367], viral vectors [327], and plasmid based vaccines [368]. In addition to these novel vaccines, administration via IN [369] or transcutaneous [370] routes have also been tested.

Our laboratory demonstrated that chimeric HA proteins containing either the LEF domain (domain 1') or the RBD domain (domain 4) inserted at the amino terminus (Chapter 4, Figure 1B) are able to be expressed on viral surfaces, are able to undergo the low pH conformational change, and are able to mediate fusion. Furthermore, recombinant influenza viruses containing these chimeric proteins are able to grow to titers comparable to WT viruses, and to elicit antibody responses specific for the inserted epitopes. The inserts are also stable, remaining intact for at least six passages on MDCK cells. It is also noteworthy that plasmids containing the chimeric HA proteins elicited larger responses against the anthrax domains than plasmids containing the domains alone [371].

In the previous study, the serum from immunized mice was not tested for neutralizing ability against the anthrax toxin. The work described in Chapter 4 further characterizes the responses generated by these chimeric influenza vectors and explores the ability of various regimens utilizing heterologous virus vectors for priming or boosting to generate toxin neutralizing antibodies in mice.

One of the suggested advantages of using influenza virus vectors is the fact that there are many antigenically distinct subtypes of the virus and that preexisting immunity to these vectors in humans could be overcome by constructing vectors of different subtypes. None of the published studies describing influenza vectors, however, have explored the effects of preexisting immunity to heterologous influenza virus subtypes on the responses that are able to be generated against them. This is a very important question to answer if influenza vectors should ever be seriously developed and is the focus of Chapter 5.

Maintenance of humoral immunity against viruses

Humoral immunity following viral infections is can be measured by secreted antibodies. These are a major component of the immune response against a large variety of pathogens and the ability to generate long-lasting protective humoral responses is a requisite for most vaccines, including those against influenza. Humoral immunity is mediated by B lymphocytes, which develop in the fetal liver prior to birth and in the bone marrow after birth. In the bone marrow, B cells undergo rearrangement of their immunoglobulin genes, and non-self-reactive cells expressing IgM migrate to the spleen where they continue maturing into naïve B cells expressing varying levels of IgM and IgD on their surfaces [372-374]. Approximately $1-2 \times 10^7$ immature B cells are produced daily in humans, but only about three percent of these successfully mature into naïve B cells [375-376]

Some antigens are able to elicit B cell responses that do not require T cell help and are referred to as T-independent antigens, however, the generation of effective B cell responses against most antigens requires T cell help, and it is these T-dependent responses that are the focus of the work presented here [377-378]. The T-dependent responses are initiated when antigen is encountered by dendritic cells near the site of entry which then present the antigen to cognate T and B cells in the secondary lymphoid organs [324, 379]. The size of the B cell response, as well as the longevity of B cell survival following encounter with antigen, can be greatly increased by co-stimulatory signals generated by activated CD4⁺ T cells. Mice deficient in CD40 or CD28 have been demonstrated

to have impaired B cell formation and mice with CD4⁺ T cells that do not express Slam-associated protein (SAP) have been shown to be impaired in the development of long-term humoral immunity [380-382]. Similarly, antigen complexed with complement has also been demonstrated to increase signaling by receptors on the B cell surfaces and enhance long-term humoral responses [383].

After being exposed to antigen and T cell help, B cells can either become short-lived plasma cells, with half-lives of 3-5 days, or migrate into B-cell follicles where they participate in germinal center (GC) reactions [384]. Chemokines, such as CXCL13, secreted by follicular dendritic cells (FDC) and follicular stromal cells are known to control this migration [385-386]. Once in GCs, B cells interact with FDCs and CD4⁺ T cells and undergo affinity maturation and somatic hypermutation. After these GC reactions, the B cells go on to become either memory B cells or long-lived plasma cells [387-388]. The factors determining the fate of individual B cells is not completely understood, but is thought to be determined by the signals that B cells receive during this time. Cells receiving CD40L stimulation or coming into contact with B cell-specific activator protein have been shown to preferentially become memory B cells [389-390], while those exposed to OX40, CD23, or B-lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp-1) are more likely to become plasma cells [391-393]. Other data suggests that B cells with higher antigen affinity may preferentially become plasma cells [394].

Most of the cells emerging from GCs have switched immunoglobulin isotypes from IgM and IgD primarily to IgG, and the plasma cells that emerge

36

generally secrete higher affinity antibodies compared to the short-lived plasma cells that do not migrate to GCs [395]. Although both memory B cells and plasma cells can be found in many sites, the major reservoir of memory B cells has been shown to be spleen and a majority of plasma cells have been demonstrated to reside in the bone marrow following LCMV infection in mice [396-397].

The humoral responses generated by most acute infections is known to be long-lived, even in the absence of re-exposure to the original antigen by natural occurrences or vaccination. This was first reported in 1846 by Peter Panum when he published the observation that adults who had survived a measles outbreak in the Faroe Islands were protected from the virus when a second outbreak occurred 65 years later, despite no documented cases of measles on these islands during the intervening years [398]. In 2008, antibodies recognizing the 1918 pandemic influenza strain were able to be derived from the memory B cells of people who survived the pandemic 90 years earlier [399]. Long-lived humoral immunity has also been reported in humans immunized against smallpox [400-402] and one study that followed antibody levels in humans for up to 26 years estimated the half-life of the humoral response to some viral antigens in humans to be more than 200 years [320]. Our laboratory has reported antibody levels following LCMV infection in mice to persist at relatively constant levels for the lifetime of the mice [397], however, the half-life of antibodies has been demonstrated to be less than three weeks [403-405], leading to the conclusion that plasma cells must somehow be maintained for long periods of time in hosts in the absence of re-exposure to antigen.

The mechanism behind long-term plasma cell maintenance is a debated topic, with several, non-exclusive, models having been proposed. Some evidence exists that memory B cells are needed to maintain plasma cell numbers over time, while other data suggest that plasma cells are long-lived and do not require replenishment by memory B cells. In 1997, Manz, Thiel, and Radbruch demonstrated through BrdU labeling that plasma cells can persist for at least 90 days with no significant turnover [406] and two, more recent studies, have reported no decline in plasma cell numbers following memory B cell depletion in NP immunized mice [407-408]

Evidence supporting the model that memory B cells are needed to maintain plasma cells long-term includes the fact that memory B cells, themselves, have been shown to be long-lived and to undergo homeostatic renewal [409-411]. However, there are two opposing models of how this may occur *in vivo*. One model postulates that antigen or antigen-antibody complexes are retained for long periods of time on FDCs and that memory B cell interaction with these complexes is a requirement for the memory B cells to be transformed into plasma cells [411-412]. This has been partially debunked by the finding that mice with B cells that were not able to secrete antibody and only able to express membrane bound IgM were still able to mount immune responses and secondary B cell responses comparable to WT mice [409], although, this does not rule out that non-complexed antigen could still persist long-term. Another model postulates that non-specific stimuli, including bystander T cell help and toll-like receptor signaling, can stimulate the memory B cells to become plasma cells in

the absence of persisting antigen. The fact that memory B cells can be nonspecifically stimulated *in vitro* and transformed into plasma cells supports this model [408, 413]. Other data supporting this include a study reporting that antitetanus and anti-measles antibody levels correlated with memory B cell numbers in the peripheral blood of humans [413]. Our laboratory reported a decline in plasma cell numbers over time in LCMV immune mice that had been sub-lethally irradiated in order to deplete memory B cells and estimated the half-life of these plasma cells to be around 138 days [396]. However, the radiation may have also damaged the plasma cells and the bone marrow stromal cells.

Work presented in Chapter 6 takes a different approach to this question. We look at the longevity of plasma cells in mice infected with influenza, LCMV, or VSV following memory B cell depletion by antibody therapy. We utilize transgenic mice expressing the human CD20 protein [414]. While the exact function of this glycoprotein is unknown, it has been variously proposed to play a role in B-cell activation, proliferation, and calcium transport. A homologue of human CD20 has been described in mice, which also shows a similar pattern of expression [415]. It is known to be expressed on naïve and memory B cells, but is down-regulated on plasma cells, allowing for the specific depletion of naïve and memory B cells, but not plasma cells by rituximab treatment [414, 416-417]. Rituximab is a chimeric monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody that is used in the treatment of many lymphomas, leukemias, and some autoimmune disorders in humans. Rituximab destroys B cells via complement-dependent cytotoxicity, antibody-dependent effector cell-mediated cytotoxicity, and apoptosis when cross-linked by Fc- γ

receptor-expressing cells [418]. Our results not only offer insight into the longevity of plasma cells following viral infections in the absence of memory B cells, but may also have implications for human rituximab treatment.

The work presented in the following chapters explores both the biology of influenza viruses, as well as the immune response generated following immunization with influenza vaccine vectors and infections with RNA viruses in mice. The overall aim of these studies is to gain a better understanding of influenza virus structure and immune responses against influenza and other RNA viruses with the hope that these insights could potentially lead to improvement of anti-viral drugs, vaccines, and vaccine regimens. The findings presented here could prove beneficial in the development of new drugs and vaccines to combat influenza, the development of novel vectors that could be used for vaccinating against a wide array of pathogens, and the understanding of the mechanisms involved in long-term humoral immunity against viruses in general.

Chapter 2

Single residue deletions along the length of the influenza HA fusion peptide lead to inhibition of membrane fusion function

The work in this chapter was published in Virology.

Single residue deletions along the length of the influenza HA fusion peptide lead to inhibition of membrane fusion function

William A. Langley^a, Sudha Thoennes^a, Konrad C. Bradley^a, Summer E. Galloway^a, Ganesh R. Talekar^a, Sandra F. Cummings^a, Eva Varecková^b, Rupert J. Russell^c and David A. Steinhauer^{a,}

^aDepartment of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of Medicine, 1510 Clifton Road, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

^bInstitute of Virology, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovak Republic

^cSchool of Biology, University of St. Andrews, Fife KY16 9ST, UK

Received 22 June 2009; revised 13 August 2009; accepted 24 August 2009. Available online 15 September 2009.

Abstract

A panel of eight single amino acid deletion mutants was generated within the first 24 residues of the fusion peptide domain of the of the hemagglutinin (HA) of A/Aichi/2/68 influenza A virus (H3N2 subtype). The mutant HAs were analyzed for folding, cell surface transport, cleavage activation, capacity to undergo acidinduced conformational changes, and membrane fusion activity. We found that the mutant Δ F24, at the C-terminal end of the fusion peptide, was expressed in a non-native conformation, whereas all other deletion mutants were transported to the cell surface and could be cleaved into HA1 and HA2 to activate membrane fusion potential. Furthermore, upon acidification these cleaved HAs were able to undergo the characteristic structural rearrangements that are required for fusion. Despite this, all mutants were inhibited for fusion activity based on two separate assays. The results indicate that the mutant fusion peptide domains associate with target membranes in a non-functional fashion, and suggest that structural features along the length of the fusion peptide are likely to be relevant for optimal membrane fusion activity.

Keywords: Influenza; Hemagglutinin; Membrane fusion; Fusion peptide

Introduction

All enveloped viruses encode glycoproteins that function to mediate fusion of their membranes with those of host cells during the initial stages of infection. Such viral fusion proteins (VFPs) are designed to respond to external stimuli at the appropriate time and place, to rearrange their molecular structures and initiate the fusion process. Membrane fusion can occur at the plasma membrane of host cells, often following the engagement of receptor molecules, or within subcellular compartments such as endosomes following internalization and acidification of the local environment ([Harrison, 2008], [Kielian and Rey, 2006], [Lamb and Jardetzky, 2007], [Weissenhorn et al., 2007] and [White et al., 2008]). Often, more than one viral protein is involved, and for some viruses multiple cellular components take part in the fusion process. However, for most enveloped viruses a single membrane anchored VFP serves as the principal protagonist for drawing the membranes into proximity with one another to initiate the fusion event. For these VFPs, the structural rearrangements that trigger fusion are generally coincident with the exposure of relatively hydrophobic domains to allow for their interaction with cellular target membranes. These "fusion peptide" domains are known to occur in one of three basic forms; (i) they can be present at the N-terminus of the fusion subunit of the protein, (ii) they can reside within the polypeptide chain as single loop internal fusion peptide domains, and (iii) they can exist as internal bipartite loops.

Most of the VFPs that have been characterized appear to share some of the mechanistic features for bringing viral and cellular membranes into proximity with

one another in the initial stages of the fusion process. However, VFPs are often segregated into three classes, based primarily on common structural considerations. Among these, representatives of Class I VFPs from members of the orthomyxoviridae, paramyxoviridae, and retroviridae families have been particularly well characterized. For these VFPs, polypeptide precursors associate to form trimers that are cleaved to generate N-terminal fusion peptides on their membrane-anchored subunit. During the fusion process, these membraneanchored subunits undergo conformational changes to generate highly stable helical rod structures. As a consequence, the N-terminal fusion peptides are relocated to the same end of the molecule as the C-proximal viral membrane anchor domain. The molecular rearrangements and end-state structures for Class I VFPs are consistent with a model for membrane fusion, in which Nterminal fusion peptides are directed to interact with cellular target membranes, and formation of helical rod structures bring the viral and cellular membranes into proximity to one another as a prelude to the fusion process.

The influenza A virus hemagglutinin glycoprotein (HA) serves as the prototype for the Class I VFPs. It is synthesized as polypeptide chains of approximately 550 amino acids that associate non-covalently as homotrimers. The precursor form of the trimer (HA0) requires proteolytic cleavage of each monomer into the disulfide-linked subunits HA1 and HA2 in order to activate membrane fusion potential and virus infectivity ([Appleyard and Maber, 1974], [Klenk et al., 1975] and [Lazarowitz and Choppin, 1975]). Cleavage of HA0 not only liberates the HA2 N-terminal fusion peptide domain, but allows the HA to assume a neutral pH conformation that can subsequently be triggered by acidification to undergo the conformational changes required for membrane fusion ([Bizebard et al., 1995], [Bullough et al., 1994] and [Chen et al., 1999]).

Although the fusion peptides of all Class I VFPs feature several large hydrophobic amino acids and include a number of glycine residues interspersed along their length, there is no direct sequence homology outside of the individual virus families. By contrast, the HA fusion peptide domains of all16 HA subtypes of influenza A viruses, as well as those of influenza B viruses, are highly homologous. This is particularly evident within the N-terminal 11 residues, and at positions with large hydrophobic or glycine residues (Fig. 1A). The reason for such conservation is likely due to constraints on the folding of the precursor HAO structure, the capacity of this structure to be cleaved into a neutral pH structure that is responsive to acidification, and the requirement that fusion peptides be capable of adopting functional structures while interacting with target membranes to initiate the process of membrane fusion.

A number of studies on expressed proteins and mutant influenza viruses have focused on the membrane fusion properties of mutant HAs with changes in the fusion peptide domain ([Cross et al., 2001], [Daniels et al., 1985], [Gething et al., 1986], [Korte et al., 2001], [Lai and Tamm, 2007], [Lin et al., 1997], [Nobusawa et al., 1995], [Qiao et al., 1999], [Steinhauer et al., 1995] and [Yewdell et al., 1993]). Among the implications derived from these studies, the N-terminal glycine has been demonstrated as particularly important for fusion activity, and large hydrophobic residues at positions 2, 3, 6, 9, and 10 are desirable for optimal function. The conserved tryptophan at HA2 position 14 also appears to play a fundamental role for fusion. The glycine at position 4 has been shown to tolerate changes in functional HAs, but the glycine at position 8 may be more critical, and numerous observations suggest that the spacing of glycine residues in fusion peptides may be important for fusion peptides to adopt functional structures.

The actual length of fusion peptide domains has not been addressed in great detail, particularly as components of intact HA molecules. Experiments on mutants with a deletion of either the N-terminal glycine or the leucine at HA2 position 2 were shown to be non-functional, using assays with synthetic peptide analogs or full length expressed HAs ([Steinhauer et al., 1995] and [Wharton et al., 1988]). Further evidence for length constraints in the terminal region of the influenza fusion peptide derive from studies on cleavage activation mutants selected for growth in the presence of the protease thermolysin (Orlich and Rott, 1994). This protease cleaves HA0 between the residues that normally constitute HA2 Gly1 and Leu2, which generates an HA2 subunit with leucine at the N-terminus and a fusion peptide that is truncated by one residue. However, mutants selected for growth in the presence of thermolysin were found to contain single residue insertions just downstream of the N-terminal leucine, which functioned to restore authentic fusion peptide length.

For the present study, we extended previous analyses on the length requirements for functional influenza HA fusion peptide sequences using expressed HAs with single residue deletions that span this domain. We found that with one exception, the mutants fold into native HAs that were expressed on cell surfaces, cleaved into HA1 and HA2, and were able to undergo the acidinduced conformational changes requisite for fusion. However, all mutants were debilitated for membrane fusion function, suggesting either an overall length requirement for these fusion peptide sequences, a requirement for particular structural elements along the length of this domain, or constraints on the relative spacing of such elements within fusion peptide sequences.

Results and discussion

In previous studies, single residue deletion mutants of glycine at the HA2 Nterminus and leucine at position 2 have been characterized using fusion peptide analogs, expressed HAs, and laboratory-selected mutants ([Orlich and Rott, 1994], [Steinhauer et al., 1995] and [Wharton et al., 1988]). The results of these studies suggest that single residue deletions at Gly1 or Leu2 lead to inhibition of fusion activity. Here we assess the structural properties and membrane fusion activity of seven additional single amino acid deletions along the length of the fusion peptide using expressed HAs derived from the parental influenza virus A/Aichi/2/68, an H3 subtype. The nomenclature and positions of deletion mutants examined in this study are shown in Fig. 1B. Fig. 1 also includes the fusion peptide sequences of representatives of the 16 HA subtypes as a reference. The Δ L2 mutant has been characterized previously, but was included in the current study as an additional control. The previous study showed that ΔL2 HA to fold properly and undergo conformational changes in response to acidic pH, but was negative for fusion activity (Steinhauer et al., 1995).

Fig. 2 shows three conformations that the HA assumes during the influenza life cycle, with fusion peptide residues highlighted in yellow. In the HAO precursor structure, the residues that constitute the N-terminal portion of the fusion peptide form the membrane proximal half of the surface loop that is recognized by activating proteases (Chen et al., 1998). In the cleaved neutral pH HA, these residues are relocated into a cavity in the interior of the trimer, where they make contacts with ionizable residues that are thought to be significant for priming the HA for subsequent conformational changes in response to acidification ([Chen et al., 1998], [Thoennes et al., 2008] and [Wilson et al., 1981]). In the low pH structure that results following the conformational changes required for fusion, the fusion peptide is relocated to the end of the helical rod structure to facilitate interaction with the target membrane ([Bullough et al., 1994] and [Chen et al., 1999]). Therefore, residues that constitute the fusion peptide provide critical roles in the context of each of the major HA conformations. The rationale behind the choice of HA2 positions for the current deletion studies was to cover the length of the HA2 N-terminal region from the N-terminus through the conserved aromatic residue (Y or F) at position 24, as residue 25 is not conserved and is often a charged or polar amino acid (Fig. 1). Individual positions for deletion were selected on the basis of previous observations on natural isolates or laboratory mutants, which showed that residues with alternative side chains at these

positions were operative in fusion-positive HAs ([Cross et al., 2001], [Daniels et al., 1985], [Gething et al., 1986], [Korte et al., 2001], [Lai and Tamm, 2007], [Lin et al., 1997], [Nobusawa et al., 1995], [Qiao et al., 1999], [Steinhauer et al., 1995] and [Yewdell et al., 1993]). As such, it is unlikely that the side chains present in the WT fusion peptide at these positions are obligately required for folding of the native HA, or for fusion activity following the acid-induced conformational changes. Therefore, any consequences of their deletion are likely to result from either a decrease in the overall length of the fusion peptide, the disruption of critical motifs or structural elements within this domain, or the relative length or spacing of such features.

			-	-			_					-												-	
H1	1 G	<u>2</u> L	<u>3</u> F	<u>4</u> G	<u>5</u> A	<u>6</u> I	$\frac{7}{A}$	8 G	<u>9</u> F	<u>10</u> I	11 E	12 G	13 G	14 W	15 T	$\frac{16}{G}$	17 M	18 I	19 D	20 G	21 W	22 ¥	23 G	24 ¥	25 H
H2	-	Ξ.	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	_	-	_	ō	-	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	Y	H
H3	_	-	_	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	N	_	-	Ē	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
н4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N	-	-	0	-	L	-	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
H5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Q	-	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	Y	н
H6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Y	H
H7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N	-	-	E	-	L	v	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
H8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	s	$\sim -\infty$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	F	H
H9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	P	_	L	v	A	-	-	-	-	F	2
H10	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N	-	-	E	-	-	v	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
H11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	P	-	L	-	N	-	-	-	-	F	Q
H12	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	P	_	L	v	A	-	-	-	-	F	Q
H13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	P	-	L	-	N	-	-	-	-	F	Q
H14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N	-	-	Q	-	L	-	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
H15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N	-	-	Е	-	L	-	-	-	-	-	-	F	R
H16	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	P	-	L	-	N	-	-	-	-	F	Q

A. Fusion peptide sequences of representatives for each HA subtype

B. H3 subtype fusion peptide deletion mutants for this study

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25
WT	G	L	F	G	A	I	A	G	F	I	E	N	G	W	E	G	M	I	D	G	W	Y	G	F	R
$\Delta L2$	-	Δ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
∆G4	-	-	-	Δ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ΔI6	-	-	-	-	-	Δ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
$\Delta F9$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Δ	-	-		-	-	-	-	\overline{a}	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
$\Delta N12$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Δ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Δ E 15	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Δ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ΔD19	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- 1	-	-	-	-	-	i = 0	-	-	Δ	-	- 1	-	\sim	-	-
∆F24	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	$\sim -\infty$	-	Δ	-

Fig. 1. A) HA Fusion peptide sequences from representatives of each of the 16 HA subtypes. H1: A/PR/8/34, H2: A/Japan/305/57, H3: A/Aichi/2/68, H4: A/Duck-/Czechoslovakia/56, H5: A/Chick/Pennsylvania/1370/83, H6: A/Shearwater-/Australia/1/72, H7: A/FPV/Rostock/34, H8: A/Turkey/Ontario/6118/68, H9: A/Turkey/Wisconsin/66, H10: A/Chicken/Germany/N/49, H11: A/Duck/England-/56, H12: A/Duck/Alberta/60/76, H13: A/Gull/Maryland/704/77, H14: A/Mallard-/Astrakhan/263/1982, H15: A/Duck/Australia-/341/1983, H16: A/Black-Headed Gull/Sweden/2/99. B) Nomenclature and fusion peptide sequences of the HA deletion mutants addressed in this study. The symbol Δ denotes the deletion of the amino acid residue at this position.



Fig. 2. Ribbon diagrams of the three conformations of the HA trimer. The HA0 precursor structure is shown on the left. Residues that will constitute the HA1 subunit following cleavage are depicted in blue, and the HA2 subunits in red. In all three structures, the residues that ultimately form the fusion peptide at the Nterminus of HA2 are shown in yellow. In the left panel, the cleavage loop of one of the HA0 monomers can be seen extending from the trimer surface and the cleavage site is indicated. The center panel shows that most of the HA structure remains unchanged following cleavage, the major structural consequence being the relocation of N-terminal HA2 "fusion peptide" residues from the bottom of the cleavage loop to the interior of the trimer. The right panel shows the structure of the HA2 trimer following the acid-induced conformational changes required for membrane fusion. In this thermostable rod-like structure, the fusion peptide and the viral transmembrane domain are located at the same end. Dashed lines indicate that the structure is unknown for both the fusion peptide and the 10residue peptide that links it to HA2 residues of known structure. The antigenic sites A, B, and E are indicated for HA0 in the left panel, but these sites remain unchanged following proteolytic activation into the neutral pH cleaved structure shown in the center panel. The region bound by low pH HA-specific antibody IIF4 is shown in the right panel. The panel in the lower right corner depicts a magnified view of the fusion peptide region of cleaved neutral pH HA. The structural locations of HA2 residues that were deleted in this study are shown as yellow spheres. The positions of HA1 residue 17 and HA2 residues 109 and 112 are also identified.

Cell surface expression by ELISA

To analyze the effects of fusion peptide deletions on the structure and function of mutant HAs, recombinant vaccinia viruses were generated for their expression (Blasco and Moss, 1995). To assess HA folding and cell surface transport, ELISA assays were employed to determine antibody reactivity to recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HA-expressing HeLa cell monolayers. The panel of antibodies utilized included a rabbit polyclonal serum (α -X31) raised against purified trimeric HA ectodomains (BHA), and several monoclonal antibodies known to bind in conformation-specific fashion to the distinct antigenic sites A, B, or E of the HA membrane distal head domains ([Daniels et al., 1983] and [Wiley and Skehel, 1987]). The antibodies HC100 (site E), and HC159 (site A) bind to locations within the HA that remain structurally intact after the low pH conformational change occurs (Fig. 2). By contrast, the antibodies HC31 and HC68 bind to regions within site B at the membrane distal trimer interface, which are altered by de-trimerization of monomer head domains following acidification. The antibody reactivity to the mutant HA proteins is summarized in Table 1 and is represented as the percent binding compared to the WT HA as determined by OD₄₅₀ ELISA readings. All of the mutants displayed significant reactivity with the rabbit polyclonal serum, indicating that they are capable of being transported to the cell surface. The results with the HC100 and HC159 monoclonal antibodies were consistent with this, as antibody reactivities for all mutant HAs were comparable to WT HA. However, the results with the neutral pH-specific antibodies HC31 and

	α-X31	HC100	HC159	HC31	HC68
WT	100	100	100	100	100
$\Delta L2$	94	95	99	99	104
$\Delta G4$	108	105	114	97	78
ΔI6	100	94	103	94	104
$\Delta F9$	101	104	103	86	91
ΔN12	102	104	122	96	105
ΔE15	108	110	120	109	102
ΔD19	96	103	112	100	100
$\Delta F24$	86	85	108	40	43

Table 1				
Antibody reactivity o	f cell-surface	HAs by	ELISA	(% of WT).

Values represent averages derived from at least three separate experiments.

Analysis of HA0 cleavage of cell-surface HAs

The HA0 precursor protein must be cleaved into the HA1 and HA2 subunits to activate membrane fusion potential. Using the recombinant vaccinia virus system, the WT Aichi HA that we utilized in this study is expressed on the surfaces of infected cells in its uncleaved HA0 precursor form. Therefore, the capacity for cleavage activation of HA0 following exposure of HA-expressing cell monolayers to exogenous trypsin serves as an alternative assay for transport of mutant HAs to the plasma membrane. Furthermore, western blot analysis of the

migration patterns of cleavage products can be used to verify that mutant proteins are processed into HA1 and HA2 subunits of characteristic size, which is a requirement for fusion function. Fig. 3 shows a western blot analysis of trypsin cleavage of WT and mutant HAs expressed on the surface of recombinant vaccinia virus-infected cells. The results demonstrate that, with the exception of the Δ F24 HA, all mutant proteins were transported to the surface of infected cells and display HA1 and HA2 cleavage products that resemble WT HA. These results, in conjunction with the ELISA data described above, suggest that the Δ F24 HA is misfolded on the cell surface relative to WT HA and the other mutants. We have observed similar results with several mutant HAs in previous studies ([Li et al., 2008] and [Thoennes et al., 2008]), and our interpretation is that such mutants are expressed on the cell surface in a conformation that is distinct from that of WT HA, and that some features of this conformation are similar to those of the low pH HA structure. HA2 residue 24 is located in the membrane distal portion of an antiparallel β -sheet structure. In a previous study designed to examine the length of peptide segment linked to the fusion peptide, many of the pairwise deletions N-terminal to HA2 residue 24 and located in the antiparallel β -sheet structure of HAO and neutral pH cleaved HA displayed folding and expression properties similar to Δ F24 HA (Li et al., 2008).



Fig. 3. Cell surface expression of HAs as assayed by trypsin cleavage of HA0 into HA1 and HA2. Recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HA-expressing cell monolayers were incubated with or without trypsin and cell lysates were analyzed by western blot following SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions.

Analysis of the pH of conformational change

Having verified that all mutant proteins except the Δ F24 HA express in native form on the cell surface and are capable of cleavage activation, we next examined the ability of the expressed HAs to undergo the acid-induced conformational changes required for fusion activity. First, we used an ELISAbased assay to assess the relative reactivities of the mutant HAs with two conformation-specific antibodies: HC3, which recognizes site A of both the neutral and low-pH HA conformations, and HC68, which preferentially binds to the neutral pH HA at site B (Fig. 2). Recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HeLa cells that were expressing HA0 on the cell surface were treated with trypsin to cleave HA0 into HA1 and HA2, washed with PBS, and incubated with PBS/citrate buffers in increments ranging in pH from 5.6 down to 4.5. Monolayers were then

neutralized, fixed, and assessed for reactivity to HC68 and HC3 by ELISA. The relative ratios of HC68 to HC3 reactivity as determined by ELISA OD₄₅₀ were plotted as a function of pH and are shown in Fig. 4. A reduction in these ratios is indicative that the HA can undergo the acid-induced conformational changes required for membrane fusion. The results demonstrate that the $\Delta 24F$ HA binds poorly to HC68 at all pH values examined, confirming that this mutant is expressed in an altered conformation on the cell surface. Most other mutants exhibited a decrease in HC68:HC3 reactivity over the range of pH reductions that were tested, indicating that they are capable of undergoing the characteristic conformational changes associated with membrane fusion. The reactivity profile for the $\Delta E15$ and $\Delta D19$ HA mutants are not significantly different from that of WT HA, indicating that they undergo conformational changes at a similar pH. The Δ L2 HA clearly displayed an elevated pH of conformational change relative to WT HA, confirming results that were obtained in a previous study (Steinhauer et al., 1995). Similarly, the $\Delta G4$ and $\Delta I6$ also appear to undergo structural rearrangements at elevated pH compared to WT. This suggests that these mutations might alter interactions that occur in native WT HA between fusion peptide residues and those located in the trimer interior, resulting in a less stable neutral pH structure. Previous reports demonstrate that a majority of fusion peptide substitution mutants with changes within the first 10 N-terminal residues of HA2 display an elevated pH of conformational change ([Cross et al., 2001], [Daniels et al., 1985], [Gething et al., 1986], [Lin et al., 1997], [Qiao et al., 1999] and [Steinhauer et al., 1995]). This is likely due to the fact that fusion peptide

residues in this region make extensive contact with ionizable residues such as HA1 H17, HA2 D109, and HA2 D112 in this region of neutral pH HA following HA0 cleavage. The aspartic acid side chains of HA2 residues 109 and 112 form multiple hydrogen bonds with residues 1 through 5 of HA2, and HA1 H17 forms hydrogen bonds via a water molecule with HA2 residues 6 and 10. Therefore, the deletion of residues L2, G4, I6, or F9 could result in the disruption of one or more of the interactions between fusion peptide residues and ionizable residues in the neutral pH structure, thus destabilizing the neutral pH structure.

The pH profile observed for the Δ F9 HA was somewhat aberrant compared to the others, and was not consistent with a loss of HC68 reactivity at reduced pH, even though this mutant appeared to be expressed in the correct conformation on the surfaces of infected cells and was efficiently cleaved into HA1 and HA2. In addition, the $\Delta I6$ and $\Delta N12$ mutant HAs displayed a gradual loss of HC68 reactivity over a broader range of pH than we generally observe for WT and most other mutant HAs. The disruption of interactions with HA1 H17 could offer a possible explanation for this, as HA1 H17 has been implicated previously for its potential role in the initial triggering of the acid-induced conformational changes (Thoennes et al., 2008). A further examination of the capacity for these mutants to undergo structural rearrangements was carried out using an alternative conformation-specific monoclonal antibody, IIF4. This anti-peptide antibody was generated against residues 125-175 of the HA2 subunit and binds preferentially to the low-pH form of the protein at the end of the helical rod structure opposite to the fusion peptide ([Vareckova et al., 2002] and [Wharton et al., 1995]). As shown in Fig. 5, an increase in IIF4 reactivity upon reduction in pH can be observed for Δ I6, Δ F9, and Δ N12, as well as other HAs, indicating that structural rearrangements have occurred.

To confirm the antibody reactivity data regarding the capacity of mutant HAs to undergo acid-induced conformational changes, we carried out trypsin digestion experiments on cleaved HAs at neutral pH, or following incubation at pH 5.0. Once the HA0 precursor has been cleaved into HA1 and HA2, the WT protein is resistant to further protease digestion at neutral pH. However, upon acidification, the structural changes render the molecule susceptible to digestion by a variety of proteases, including trypsin (Skehel et al., 1982). For this experiment, HAexpressing cell monolayers were initially treated with trypsin to cleave HA0 into HA1 and HA2, as described for Fig. 3. The monolayers were then washed, and either subjected to an additional round of trypsin digestion at pH 7.2, or incubated at pH 4.6 prior to further trypsin treatment. Cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions. Fig. 6 shows that the HA1 subunit of all mutants was digested by trypsin if the cleaved HA had been exposed to acidic pH, demonstrating that the mutants had gone through the characteristic conformational changes required for fusion activity. For the neutral pH samples, the results of HA1 digestion for Δ F24 HA confirm our interpretation that this HA is expressed in an altered conformation. However, the results with the Δ F9 HA indicate that neutral pH HA1 was partially degraded by the second trypsin digestion, as an additional band above HA2 was observed, which is not present in the other samples. This product is not observed during initial trypsin

cleavage of HA0 into HA1 and HA2 at neutral pH (Fig. 3). This suggests that the Δ F9 HA may be unstable relative to WT and most other mutant HAs, and this could explain the aberrant results for HC68:HC3 antibody reactivities observed for the experiments shown in Fig. 4. The conformational changes required for fusion occur within seconds for WT Aichi HA, and the digestion of Δ F9 HA1 was still incomplete after two rounds of trypsin treatment over several minutes. Therefore, it is quite possible that cell surface expressed Δ F9 HA, or at least a significant percentage of it, would be capable of going through the structural rearrangements required for fusion despite inherent instability. Cumulatively, the data suggest that all deletion mutants other than Δ F24, and possibly Δ F9 HA, are expressed and folded properly, and are capable of undergoing the acid-induced structural rearrangements requisite for membrane fusion.



Fig. 4. Graphs of ELISA experiments to demonstrate HA conformational changes resulting from incubation at reduced pH. Graphs plot the ratios of HC68/HC3 reactivity as a function of pH. HC68 binds well with neutral pH HA, but poorly to the low pH structure. HC3 binds equally well with both HA conformations.


Fig. 5. Graphs of ELISA experiments showing reactivity with the low pH-specific monoclonal antibody IIF4 as a function of pH.



Fig. 6. Western blot analysis for the determination of the pH of conformational change by trypsin susceptibility. HA expressing cells were treated with trypsin to cleave HA0, washed, pH was adjusted to pH 4.6, and monolayers were again treated with trypsin. Lysates were then analyzed by western blot following SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions. The disappearance of HA1 bands indicates that the HA conformational changes have been triggered.

Analysis of membrane fusion by polykaryon formation and dye transfer assays

The ability of the mutant proteins to mediate fusion was assessed using an assay for polykaryon formation by recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HA-expressing BHK21 cell monolayers. HA-expressing cells were treated with trypsin to cleave HA0, the pH was adjusted by incubation in PBS/citrate buffer, monolayers were then incubated in complete medium at neutral pH, and monolayers were monitored for polykaryon formation by light microscopy. Over multiple independent experiments, no significant polykaryon formation was detected for any of the mutant HAs, even when tested in pH increments down to 4.2. Fig. 7 shows representative fields of cells for one such assay carried out at pH 4.8, which provides evidence that all mutants were inhibited for membrane fusion activity.

To confirm these results, a dye transfer assay was also performed using the fusion peptide deletion mutants. For this assay, human erythrocytes were labeled with two dyes, the lipophilic probe R18 and the soluble dye calcein ([Ellens et al., 1990] and [Morris et al., 1989]). These loaded erythrocytes were allowed to adhere to HA-expressing cell monolayers, washed, and the pH of the monolayers were adjusted. The dyes are transferred from the smaller erythrocytes to the larger HA-expressing HeLa cells if the HA is capable of mediating fusion. The transfer of R18 is indicative of lipid mixing, and the transfer of calcein demonstrates content mixing and therefore, biologically relevant fusion activity. The transfer of R18, but not calcein is indicative of a "hemifusion" phenotype, in which the lipid mixing stage of membrane fusion does not proceed to full fusion with content mixing (Kemble et al., 1994). The dye transfer assays were carried out multiple times with the deletion mutants, and results for one such experiment are shown in Fig. 8. None of the mutants were found capable of mediating WT levels of membrane fusion using this assay. No evidence for calcein transfer and content mixing was observed for any mutant at all pH examined. However, for the $\Delta 15$ and $\Delta 19$ mutants, R18 transfer was detectable at levels above background in some examples, suggesting that these mutants might be capable of hemifusion activity, as has been observed for particular HA mutants in previous studies ([Cross et al., 2001], [Kemble et al., 1994] and [Qiao et al., 1999]). Dye transfer experiments were repeated in the presence of chlorpromazine (CPZ) in attempts to induce the transition from a hemifusion to full fusion state (Melikyan et al., 1997); however, these did not allow us to further define the mutant phenotypes. Concentrations of CPZ ranging from 0.1 mM to 0.5 mM were tested, and at the lower concentrations no changes in fusion properties were detected, whereas at higher concentrations the compound appeared to cause cytopathology of the HA-expressing cells (data not shown).

One of the most well characterized of the "hemifusion" HA mutants is the fusion peptide substitution mutant G1S at the HA2 N-terminus. This serine mutant was found to display hemifusion activity by White and colleagues (Qiao et al., 1999) and in our laboratory (Cross et al., 2001), and the biophysical and structural properties have also been analyzed for G1S fusion peptide analogs ([Li et al., 2003] and [Li et al., 2005]). Despite the well-documented hemifusion phenotype, we were able to rescue the HA2 G1S mutant as an infectious virus (Cross et al., 2001). However, this mutant was severely attenuated for replication, and it rapidly reverted to WT despite the requirement for two nucleotide substitutions to do so. This suggests that, while such mutants provide useful tools for dissecting the mechanistic stages of fusion at the biophysical level, they are likely to be irrelevant in any natural environment.



Fig. 7. Polykaryon formation by HA-expressing BHK cells following incubation at pH 4.8.



Fig. 8. Dye transfer assay for hemifusion and full fusion activity of HA mutants. Human erythrocytes loaded with R18 and calcein were adsorbed to HAexpressing cells and exposed to acidic pH to monitor HA mediated transfer of the lipid-soluble red dye R18 (lipid mixing) or the water-soluble green dye calcein (content mixing).

Deletion mutants and models for fusion peptide structure

Overall, our studies suggest that the length of the fusion peptide domain of influenza HA can influence the functional properties of the molecule at different levels, but appears to be most critical for the latter stages of fusion when this domain interacts with target membranes. All mutants except the Δ F24 HA were expressed in native conformation on the cell surface, can be cleaved into HA1 and HA2, and could be triggered by acidification to undergo the structural changes required for membrane fusion. Therefore, the most profound effects of the deletions are likely to involve the structure that these domains adopt in associated with membranes in the context of full length HA is unknown. The structure of the HA transmembrane anchor domain near the C-terminus of the molecule is also unknown, and there is evidence that this domain may also have a role in fusion ([Armstrong et al., 2000], [Chang et al., 2008] and [Melikyan et al., 2000]).

Hydrophobic photolabeling analyses have indicated that the 22 N-terminal residues of HA2 interact with target membranes during fusion, and the periodicity of labeling suggests that this segment adopts an amphipathic α -helical structure ([Durrer et al., 1996] and [Harter et al., 1989]). Circular dichroism and FTIR spectroscopy studies with membrane-bound fusion peptide analogs indicated that they may contain from 40% to 60% α -helical structure, with some studies also suggesting the presence of β -structure ([Gray et al., 1996], [Han et al.,

1999], [Lear and DeGrado, 1987], [Murata et al., 1987], [Rafalski et al., 1991] and [Wharton et al., 1988]). In some of these studies, a loose correlation between helical content and fusogenicity was observed ([Burger et al., 1991], [Lear and DeGrado, 1987] and [Wharton et al., 1988]).

The oligometric state adopted by fusion peptide domains in association with target membranes remains to be determined, and models involving monomeric peptides, trimeric peptides, and fusion peptides complexed with HA transmembrane domains have been proposed. Experiments using spin-labeling electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) techniques with cysteine mutants of the fusion peptide region suggest that they associate with membranes in monomeric form (Macosko et al., 1997). Monomeric fusion peptide structures have also been proposed by Tamm and colleagues based on work with synthetic fusion peptide analogs containing a seven residue solubilization domain (GCGKKKK) attached to the C-terminal end of the first 20 residues of HA2 ([Han et al., 2001], [Han and Tamm, 2000], [Lai et al., 2006], [Lai and Tamm, 2007] and [Li et al., 2005]). These synthetic peptides have been shown to possess pH-dependent membrane fusion activity, and their NMR structures in DPC micelles showed that the WT peptide adopted an inverted V-shaped structure at both neutral pH and pH 5.0, with the apex of the V located at the aqueous interface (Han et al., 2001). In the neutral pH structure, an N-terminal helix comprised of residues L2 to F9 is followed by a turn, which is stabilized by hydrogen bonds formed by residues G8 and F9 with residues E11 and N12. In the C-terminal portion of the peptide, residues W14-G20 form an extended structure with a bend between residues

G16 and M17. By comparison, in the pH 5 structure, residue I10 extends the Nterminal helix and the turn region C-terminal to this helix contains a slightly more acute bend. This kink region may be stabilized by hydrophobic interactions between F9 and W14. Additionally, the C-terminal half of the fusion segment folds into a short 3₁₀ helix, and residues E15 and D19 are reoriented such that apolar residues become aligned at the bottom face of the kinked peptide. This generates a hydrophobic pocket, and allows the peptide to assume a more closed and deeply inserted structure within the membrane at acidic pH. NMR structural studies on mutant fusion peptide analogues that are inhibited for fusion activity suggested a structural significance for the hinge region that lies in the middle of the fusion peptide sequence ([Hsu et al., 2002], [Lai et al., 2006], [Lai and Tamm, 2007] and [Li et al., 2005]). In the context of these structures, the deletion mutants analyzed in our current study would clearly disrupt structural features that may be critical for function, including the N-terminal alpha-helical domain, the bend region, or the orientation or presence of acidic residues at positions 15 and 19.

Other studies and models suggest that fusion peptides associate with membranes in oligomeric form. Experiments with HA fusion peptide analogs linked to coiled coil domains designed to promote their trimerization, indicate that the trimeric peptides promote a greater degree of liposomal content leakage and membrane mixing than the monomeric form (Lau et al., 2004). A series of studies by Chang and colleagues indicated that influenza HA fusion peptides can loosely assemble in lipid bilayers ([Chang et al., 2000], [Chang et al., 2008] and [Cheng

et al., 2003]), but further suggested that they form oligomeric complexes with the HA transmembrane domains when both species are present. These results are consistent with a role for the HA transmembrane anchor domain in the fusion process, as suggested by mutagenesis studies ([Armstrong et al., 2000], [Chang et al., 2008] and [Melikyan et al., 2000]).

Our results with recombinant influenza virus mutants within the first 10 residues of the fusion peptide (Cross et al., 2001) are compatible with a model in which helical fusion peptides orient such that the relatively polar glycine residues form a trimeric interface, and the large hydrophobic side chains of residues 2, 6, and 10 reside on the surface to interact with membrane lipids (Skehel et al., 2001). In fact, many of the studies and models cited above suggest that the N-terminal region of the fusion peptide domain is predominantly α -helical. However, in the absence of structural information on fusion peptide and transmembrane domains associated with membranes in the context of full-length HA molecules, these models will continue to be speculative. Regardless, our results with the deletion mutants reported here suggest that structural elements along the length of the fusion peptide, or the spacing or orientation of such elements relative to one another, are critical for a functional association of fusion peptide sequences with target membranes during the fusion process.

Materials and methods

Mutagenesis and expression of HAs

The HA cDNA from the H3N2 subtype virus A/Aichi/2/68 was mutated by site-directed mutagenesis using a QuikChange mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). The presence of the desired mutations and the absence of extraneous mutations were confirmed by nucleotide sequencing of entire HA coding regions. The mutant cDNAs were expressed as recombinant vaccinia viruses using the plaque-selection system (Blasco and Moss, 1995). The generated viruses were propagated on CV1 cells in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS).

Cell surface expression trypsin cleavability and ELISA

HA cell surface expression was analyzed using a trypsin cleavage assay with recombinant vaccinia-infected CV1 cells as described previously (Steinhauer et al., 1995), except that blots were developed using chemiluminescence rather than radiolabeled secondary antibody. Following electrophoresis, blots were incubated with anti-HA rabbit polyclonal rabbit serum, washed, and incubated with a Protein A-HRP conjugate (Sigma cat# P8651). Blots were developed with the Enhanced Chemiluminescence Reagent (Amersham Pharmacia) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quantitative cell surface expression by ELISA was carried out on recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HA-expressing HeLa cells

using a panel of monoclonal antibodies that recognize distinct antigenic regions of wild-type HA as described (Steinhauer et al., 1991).

Conformational change analysis by ELISA and trypsin digestion

Analysis of conformation changes was performed on recombinant vacciniainfected HeLa cell monolayers by ELISA using monoclonal antibodies HC3 and HC68 as described previously (Steinhauer et al., 1991). HC3 recognizes both native and low pH HA, while HC68 recognizes only the native conformation. Trypsin susceptibility of low-pH HAs were determined as described previously (Thoennes et al., 2008).

Polykaryon formation and dye transfer assays for membrane fusion activity

The pH of membrane fusion was assayed by polykaryon formation as described previously (Steinhauer et al., 1991, cited by in Scopus (39)). For dye transfer assays, fresh heparinized human erythrocytes (HRBCs) were co-labeled with the membrane probe octadecyl rhodamine B chloride (R18) and the aqueous dye calcein-AM (Sigma) as described previously (Ujike et al., 2005). Ten milliliters of freshly prepared HRBCs (1% in Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline [DPBS]) was mixed with 10 μ l of R18 (2 mM in ethanol) with vigorous shaking. The mixture was incubated in the dark for 30 min at room temperature, followed by the addition of 30 ml of 7.5% FBS- DMEM for 20 min at room temperature to

remove unbound R18. The R18-labeled HRBCs were washed three times and resuspended in DPBS (4% R18-labeled HRBCs). A 10-µl aliquot of 4 mM calcein-AM in dimethyl sulfoxide was added to 1 ml of 4% R18-labeled HRBCs in the dark and incubated at 37°C for 1 h, followed by the addition of 30 ml of 7.5% FBS-DMEM for 20 min at room temperature, three washes with DPBS to remove unbound calcein, and resuspension in DMEM (0.02% HRBCs). To analyze hemifusion and fusion pore formation by wildtype HA and HA mutants, an R18 and calcein transfer assay was performed. Recombinant vaccinia virus-infected HeLa cells expressing HA were pretreated with neuraminidase (NA) (30 mU/ml; Sigma) at 37 °C for 60 min, washed once with DPBS, and treated with TPCKtrypsin (5 µg/ml) at 37 °C for 5 min. Cells were washed with soybean trypsin inhibitor (5 µg/ml), washed, and incubated with R18- and calcein-labeled HRBCs at room temperature for 30 min for hemadsorption. After unbound HRBCs were removed by three washes, the cells were washed and incubated for 1 min at 37 °C in low-pH buffer (10 mM HEPES, 20 mM sodium citrate [pH 5.0], 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM CaCl₂, and 20 mM raffinose to prevent colloidal-osmotic swelling of the erythrocytes that could be induced by HA-mediated leakage) (Melikyan et al., 1999). The medium was replaced with DMEM supplemented with 7.5% FBS. After incubation for 15 min at 37 °C, hemadsorption and the transfer of fluorescence were observed with a phase-contrast microscope and a fluorescence microscope, respectively.

Acknowledgments

Support for our work has been provided by NIH Public Service Grant Al66870 (D.A.S.), NIH/NIAID contract HHSN266200700006C, and the Scottish Funding Council (R.J.R.).

References

- Appleyard and Maber, 1974 G. Appleyard and H.B. Maber, Plaque formation by influenza viruses in the presence of trypsin, *J. Gen. Virol.* 25 (3) (1974), pp. 351–357.
- Armstrong et al., 2000 R.T. Armstrong, A.S. Kushnir and J.M. White, The transmembrane domain of influenza hemagglutinin exhibits a stringent length requirement to support the hemifusion to fusion transition, *J. Cell Biol.* 151 (2) (2000), pp. 425–437.
- Bizebard et al., 1995 T. Bizebard, B. Gigant, P. Rigolet, B. Rasmussen,
 O. Diat, P. Bosecke, S.A. Wharton, J.J. Skehel and M. Knossow, Structure of influenza virus haemagglutinin complexed with a neutralizing antibody, *Nature* 376 (6535) (1995), pp. 92–94.
- Blasco and Moss, 1995 R. Blasco and B. Moss, Selection of recombinant vaccinia viruses on the basis of plaque formation, *Gene* 158 (2) (1995), pp. 157–162.

- Bullough et al., 1994 P.A. Bullough, F.M. Hughson, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Structure of influenza haemagglutinin at the pH of membrane fusion, *Nature* 371 (6492) (1994), pp. 37–43.
- Burger et al., 1991 K.N. Burger, S.A. Wharton, R.A. Demel and A.J. Verkleij, The interaction of synthetic analogs of the N-terminal fusion sequence of influenza virus with a lipid monolayer. Comparison of fusion-active and fusion-defective analogs, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1065 (2) (1991), pp. 121–129.
- Chang et al., 2000 D.K. Chang, S.F. Cheng, V. Deo Trivedi and S.H. Yang, The amino-terminal region of the fusion peptide of influenza virus hemagglutinin HA2 inserts into sodium dodecyl sulfate micelle with residues 16-18 at the aqueous boundary at acidic pH. Oligomerization and the conformational flexibility, *J. Biol. Chem.* 275 (25) (2000), pp. 19150– 19158.
- Chang et al., 2008 D.K. Chang, S.F. Cheng, E.A. Kantchev, C.H. Lin and Y.T. Liu, Membrane interaction and structure of the transmembrane domain of influenza hemagglutinin and its fusion peptide complex, *BMC Biol.* 6 (2008), p. 2.
- Chen et al., 1998 J. Chen, K.H. Lee, D.A. Steinhauer, D.J. Stevens, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Structure of the hemagglutinin precursor cleavage site, a determinant of influenza pathogenicity and the origin of the labile conformation, *Cell* 95 (3) (1998), pp. 409–417.

- 10. Chen et al., 1999 J. Chen, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, N- and C-terminal residues combine in the fusion-pH influenza hemagglutinin HA(2) subunit to form an N cap that terminates the triple-stranded coiled coil, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96 (16) (1999), pp. 8967–8972.
- 11. Cheng et al., 2003 S.F. Cheng, A.B. Kantchev and D.K. Chang, Fluorescence evidence for a loose self-assembly of the fusion peptide of influenza virus HA2 in the lipid bilayer, *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 20 (4) (2003), pp. 345–351.
- 12. Cross et al., 2001 K.J. Cross, S.A. Wharton, J.J. Skehel, D.C. Wiley and D.A. Steinhauer, Studies on influenza haemagglutinin fusion peptide mutants generated by reverse genetics, *Embo J.* 20 (16) (2001), pp. 4432–4442.
- 13. Daniels et al., 1983 R.S. Daniels, A.R. Douglas, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Analyses of the antigenicity of influenza haemagglutinin at the pH optimum for virus-mediated membrane fusion, *J. Gen. Virol.* 64 (Pt 8) (1983), pp. 1657–1662.
- Daniels et al., 1985 R.S. Daniels, J.C. Downie, A.J. Hay, M. Knossow,
 J.J. Skehel, M.L. Wang and D.C. Wiley, Fusion mutants of the influenza virus hemagglutinin glycoprotein, *Cell* 40 (2) (1985), pp. 431–439.
- 15. Durrer et al., 1996 P. Durrer, C. Galli, S. Hoenke, C. Corti, R. Gluck, T. Vorherr and J. Brunner, H+-induced membrane insertion of influenza virus hemagglutinin involves the HA2 amino-terminal fusion peptide but not the coiled coil region, *J. Biol. Chem.* **271** (23) (1996), pp. 13417–13421.

- 16. Ellens et al., 1990 H. Ellens, J. Bentz, D. Mason, F. Zhang and J.M. White, Fusion of influenza hemagglutinin-expressing fibroblasts with glycophorin-bearing liposomes: role of hemagglutinin surface density, *Biochemistry* 29 (41) (1990), pp. 9697–9707.
- 17. Gething et al., 1986 M.J. Gething, R.W. Doms, D. York and J. White, Studies on the mechanism of membrane fusion: site-specific mutagenesis of the hemagglutinin of influenza virus, *J. Cell Biol.* **102** (1) (1986), pp. 11– 23.
- 18. Gray et al., 1996 C. Gray, S.A. Tatulian, S.A. Wharton and L.K. Tamm, Effect of the N-terminal glycine on the secondary structure, orientation, and interaction of the influenza hemagglutinin fusion peptide with lipid bilayers, *Biophys. J.* 70 (5) (1996), pp. 2275–2286.
- Han and Tamm, 2000 X. Han and L.K. Tamm, A host-guest system to study structure-function relationships of membrane fusion peptides, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97 (24) (2000), pp. 13097–13102.
- 20. Han et al., 1999 X. Han, D.A. Steinhauer, S.A. Wharton and L.K. Tamm, Interaction of mutant influenza virus hemagglutinin fusion peptides with lipid bilayers: probing the role of hydrophobic residue size in the central region of the fusion peptide, *Biochemistry* **38** (45) (1999), pp. 15052– 15059.
- 21. Han et al., 2001 X. Han, J.H. Bushweller, D.S. Cafiso and L.K. Tamm, Membrane structure and fusion-triggering conformational change of the

fusion domain from influenza hemagglutinin, *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **8** (8) (2001), pp. 715–720.

- 22. Harrison, 2008 S.C. Harrison, Viral membrane fusion, *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **15** (7) (2008), pp. 690–698.
- 23. Harter et al., 1989 C. Harter, P. James, T. Bachi, G. Semenza and J. Brunner, Hydrophobic binding of the ectodomain of influenza hemagglutinin to membranes occurs through the "fusion peptide", *J. Biol. Chem.* 264 (11) (1989), pp. 6459–6464.
- 24. **Hsu et al.,** 2002 C.H. Hsu, S.H. Wu, D.K. Chang and C. Chen, Structural characterizations of fusion peptide analogs of influenza virus hemagglutinin. Implication of the necessity of a helix-hinge-helix motif in fusion activity, *J. Biol. Chem.* **277** (25) (2002), pp. 22725–22733.
- 25. Kemble et al., 1994 G.W. Kemble, T. Danieli and J.M. White, Lipidanchored influenza hemagglutinin promotes hemifusion, not complete fusion, *Cell* **76** (2) (1994), pp. 383–391.
- 26. Kielian and Rey, 2006 M. Kielian and F.A. Rey, Virus membrane-fusion proteins: more than one way to make a hairpin, *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4 (1) (2006), pp. 67–76.
- 27. Klenk et al., 1975 H.D. Klenk, R. Rott, M. Orlich and J. Blodorn, Activation of influenza A viruses by trypsin treatment, *Virology* 68 (2) (1975), pp. 426–439.
- 28. Korte et al., 2001 T. Korte, R.F. Epand, R.M. Epand and R. Blumenthal, Role of the Glu residues of the influenza hemagglutinin fusion peptide in

the pH dependence of fusion activity, *Virology* **289** (2) (2001), pp. 353–361.

- 29. Lai and Tamm, 2007 A.L. Lai and L.K. Tamm, Locking the kink in the influenza hemagglutinin fusion domain structure, *J. Biol. Chem.* **282** (33) (2007), pp. 23946–23956.
- 30. Lai et al., 2006 A.L. Lai, H. Park, J.M. White and L.K. Tamm, Fusion peptide of influenza hemagglutinin requires a fixed angle boomerang structure for activity, *J. Biol. Chem.* **281** (9) (2006), pp. 5760–5770.
- 31. Lamb and Jardetzky, 2007 R.A. Lamb and T.S. Jardetzky, Structural basis of viral invasion: lessons from paramyxovirus F, *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 17 (4) (2007), pp. 427–436.
- 32. Lau et al., 2004 W.L. Lau, D.S. Ege, J.D. Lear, D.A. Hammer and W.F. DeGrado, Oligomerization of fusogenic peptides promotes membrane fusion by enhancing membrane destabilization, *Biophys. J.* 86 (1 Pt. 1) (2004), pp. 272–284.
- 33. Lazarowitz and Choppin, 1975 S.G. Lazarowitz and P.W. Choppin, Enhancement of the infectivity of influenza A and B viruses by proteolytic cleavage of the hemagglutinin polypeptide, *Virology* 68 (2) (1975), pp. 440–454.
- 34. Lear and DeGrado, 1987 J.D. Lear and W.F. DeGrado, Membrane binding and conformational properties of peptides representing the NH2 terminus of influenza HA-2, *J. Biol. Chem.* 262 (14) (1987), pp. 6500– 6505.

- 35. Li et al., 2003 Y. Li, X. Han and L.K. Tamm, Thermodynamics of fusion peptide-membrane interactions, *Biochemistry* 42 (23) (2003), pp. 7245– 7251.
- 36. Li et al., 2005 Y. Li, X. Han, A.L. Lai, J.H. Bushweller, D.S. Cafiso and L.K. Tamm, Membrane structures of the hemifusion-inducing fusion peptide mutant G1S and the fusion-blocking mutant G1V of influenza virus hemagglutinin suggest a mechanism for pore opening in membrane fusion, *J. Virol.* **79** (18) (2005), pp. 12065–12076.
- 37. Li et al., 2008 Z.N. Li, B.J. Lee, W.A. Langley, K.C. Bradley, R.J. Russell and D.A. Steinhauer, Length requirements for membrane fusion of influenza virus hemagglutinin peptide linkers to transmembrane or fusion peptide domains, *J. Virol.* 82 (13) (2008), pp. 6337–6348.
- 38. Lin et al., 1997 Y.P. Lin, S.A. Wharton, J. Martin, J.J. Skehel, D.C. Wiley and D.A. Steinhauer, Adaptation of egg-grown and transfectant influenza viruses for growth in mammalian cells: selection of hemagglutinin mutants with elevated pH of membrane fusion, *Virology* 233 (2) (1997), pp. 402– 410.
- 39. Macosko et al., 1997 J.C. Macosko, C.H. Kim and Y.K. Shin, The membrane topology of the fusion peptide region of influenza hemagglutinin determined by spin-labeling EPR, *J. Mol. Biol.* 267 (5) (1997), pp. 1139–1148.
- 40. Melikyan et al., 1997 G.B. Melikyan, S.A. Brener, D.C. Ok and F.S. Cohen, Inner but not outer membrane leaflets control the transition from

glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored influenza hemagglutinin-induced hemifusion to full fusion, *J. Cell Biol.* **136** (5) (1997), pp. 995–1005.

- 41. Melikyan et al., 1999 G.B. Melikyan, S. Lin, M.G. Roth and F.S. Cohen, Amino acid sequence requirements of the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains of influenza virus hemagglutinin for viable membrane fusion, *Mol. Biol. Cell* **10** (6) (1999), pp. 1821–1836.
- 42. **Melikyan et al.,** 2000 G.B. Melikyan, R.M. Markosyan, M.G. Roth and F.S. Cohen, A point mutation in the transmembrane domain of the hemagglutinin of influenza virus stabilizes a hemifusion intermediate that can transit to fusion, *Mol. Biol. Cell* **11** (11) (2000), pp. 3765–3775.
- 43. Morris et al., 1989 S.J. Morris, D.P. Sarkar, J.M. White and R. Blumenthal, Kinetics of pH-dependent fusion between 3T3 fibroblasts expressing influenza hemagglutinin and red blood cells. Measurement by dequenching of fluorescence, *J. Biol. Chem.* 264 (7) (1989), pp. 3972–3978.
- 44. Murata et al., 1987 M. Murata, Y. Sugahara, S. Takahashi and S. Ohnishi, pH-dependent membrane fusion activity of a synthetic twenty amino acid peptide with the same sequence as that of the hydrophobic segment of influenza virus hemagglutinin, *J. Biochem.* **102** (4) (1987), pp. 957–962.
- 45. Nobusawa et al., 1995 E. Nobusawa, R. Hishida, M. Murata, K. Kawasaki, S. Ohnishi and K. Nakajima, The role of acidic residues in the

"fusion segment" of influenza A virus hemagglutinin in low-pH-dependent membrane fusion, *Arch. Virol.* **140** (5) (1995), pp. 865–875.

- 46. Orlich and Rott, 1994 M. Orlich and R. Rott, Thermolysin activation mutants with changes in the fusogenic region of an influenza virus hemagglutinin, *J. Virol.* 68 (11) (1994), pp. 7537–7539.
- 47. Qiao et al., 1999 H. Qiao, R.T. Armstrong, G.B. Melikyan, F.S. Cohen and J.M. White, A specific point mutant at position 1 of the influenza hemagglutinin fusion peptide displays a hemifusion phenotype, *Mol. Biol. Cell* **10** (8) (1999), pp. 2759–2769.
- 48. **Rafalski et al.,** 1991 M. Rafalski, A. Ortiz, A. Rockwell, L.C. van Ginkel, J.D. Lear, W.F. DeGrado and J. Wilschut, Membrane fusion activity of the influenza virus hemagglutinin: interaction of HA2 N-terminal peptides with phospholipid vesicles, *Biochemistry* **30** (42) (1991), pp. 10211–10220.
- 49. Skehel et al., 1982 J.J. Skehel, P.M. Bayley, E.B. Brown, S.R. Martin, M.D. Waterfield, J.M. White, I.A. Wilson and D.C. Wiley, Changes in the conformation of influenza virus hemagglutinin at the pH optimum of virusmediated membrane fusion, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **79** (4) (1982), pp. 968–972.
- 50. Skehel et al., 2001 J.J. Skehel, K. Cross, D. Steinhauer and D.C. Wiley, Influenza fusion peptides, *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 29 (Pt. 4) (2001), pp. 623–626.
- 51. **Steinhauer et al.,** 1991 D.A. Steinhauer, S.A. Wharton, D.C. Wiley and J.J. Skehel, Deacylation of the hemagglutinin of influenza A/Aichi/2/68 has

no effect on membrane fusion properties, *Virology* **184** (1) (1991), pp. 445–448.

- 52. Steinhauer et al., 1995 D.A. Steinhauer, S.A. Wharton, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Studies of the membrane fusion activities of fusion peptide mutants of influenza virus hemagglutinin, *J. Virol.* **69** (11) (1995), pp. 6643–6651.
- 53. **Thoennes et al**., 2008 S. Thoennes, Z.N. Li, B.J. Lee, W.A. Langley, J.J. Skehel, R.J. Russell and D.A. Steinhauer, Analysis of residues near the fusion peptide in the influenza hemagglutinin structure for roles in triggering membrane fusion, *Virology* **370** (2) (2008), pp. 403–414.
- 54. **Ujike et al.,** 2005 M. Ujike, K. Nakajima and E. Nobusawa, Influence of additional acylation site(s) of influenza B virus hemagglutinin on syncytium formation, *Microbiol. Immunol.* **49** (4) (2005), pp. 355–359.
- 55. Vareckova et al., 2002 E. Vareckova, N. Cox and A. Klimov, Evaluation of the subtype specificity of monoclonal antibodies raised against H1 and H3 subtypes of human influenza A virus hemagglutinins, *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 40 (6) (2002), pp. 2220–2223.
- 56. Weissenhorn et al., 2007 W. Weissenhorn, A. Hinz and Y. Gaudin, Virus membrane fusion, *FEBS Lett.* **581** (11) (2007), pp. 2150–2155.
- 57. Wharton et al., 1988 S.A. Wharton, S.R. Martin, R.W. Ruigrok, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Membrane fusion by peptide analogues of influenza virus haemagglutinin, *J. Gen. Virol.* 69 (Pt. 8) (1988), pp. 1847–1857.

- 58. Wharton et al., 1995 S.A. Wharton, L.J. Calder, R.W. Ruigrok, J.J. Skehel, D.A. Steinhauer and D.C. Wiley, Electron microscopy of antibody complexes of influenza virus haemagglutinin in the fusion pH conformation, *Embo J.* **14** (2) (1995), pp. 240–246.
- 59. White et al., 2008 J.M. White, S.E. Delos, M. Brecher and K. Schornberg, Structures and mechanisms of viral membrane fusion proteins: multiple variations on a common theme, *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **43** (3) (2008), pp. 189–219.
- 60. Wiley and Skehel, 1987 D.C. Wiley and J.J. Skehel, The structure and function of the hemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus, *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **56** (1987), pp. 365–394.
- 61. Wilson et al., 1981 I.A. Wilson, J.J. Skehel and D.C. Wiley, Structure of the haemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus at 3 A resolution, *Nature* **289** (5796) (1981), pp. 366–373.
- 62. Yewdell et al., 1993 J.W. Yewdell, A. Taylor, A. Yellen, A. Caton, W. Gerhard and T. Bachi, Mutations in or near the fusion peptide of the influenza virus hemagglutinin affect an antigenic site in the globular region, *J. Virol.* 67 (2) (1993), pp. 933–942.

Chapter 3

Immunization with Live Attenuated Influenza Viruses That Express Altered NS1 Proteins Results in Potent and Protective Memory CD8⁺ T-Cell Responses

The work in this chapter was published in the Journal of Virology.

Immunization with Live Attenuated Influenza Viruses That Express Altered NS1 Proteins Results in Potent and Protective Memory CD8⁺ T-Cell Responses

Scott N. Mueller,^{1,†,‡} William A. Langley,^{1,†} Elena Carnero,^{2,§} Adolfo García-Sastre,^{2,3,4} and Rafi Ahmed^{1*}

[†]S.N.M. and W.A.L. contributed equally to this study.

Emory Vaccine Center and Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30322,¹ Department of Microbiology,² Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases,³ Global Health and Emerging Pathogens Institute, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York 10029⁴

Received 26 June 2009/ Accepted 17 November 2009

ABSTRACT

The generation of vaccines that induce long-lived protective immunity against influenza virus infections remains a challenging goal. Ideally, vaccines should elicit effective humoral and cellular immunity to protect an individual from infection or disease. Cross-reactive T- and B-cell responses that are elicited by live virus infections may provide such broad protection. Optimal induction of Tcell responses involves the action of type I interferons (IFN-I). Influenza virus expressed nonstructural protein 1 (NS1) functions as an inhibitor of IFN-I and promotes viral growth. We wanted to examine the priming of CD8⁺ T-cell responses to influenza virus in the absence of this inhibition of IFN-I production. We generated recombinant mouse-adapted influenza A/PR/8/34 viruses with NS1 truncations and/or deletions that also express the gp33-41 epitope from lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. Intranasal infection of mice with the attenuated viruses primed long-lived T- and B-cell responses despite significantly reduced viral replication in the lungs compared to wild-type virus. Antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells expanded upon rechallenge and generated increased protective memory T-cell populations after boosting. These results show that live attenuated influenza viruses expressing truncated NS1 proteins can prime protective immunity and may have implications for the design of novel modified live influenza virus vaccines.

INTRODUCTION

Influenza virus infections remain an important global health issue, particularly among the young and elderly. The natural host of influenza viruses is water birds, however, influenza viruses can also infect a wide variety of other hosts, including other birds, humans and pigs (36). The ability of influenza viruses to survive and adapt in different hosts has precipitated three human pandemics in the last century alone (in 1918 [H1N1], 1957 [H2N2], and 1968 [H3N2]), as well as numerous epidemics, including the recent H1N1 swine influenza outbreak (12). Despite our increasing understanding of influenza viruses, their life cycle, pathogenicity, and immunogenicity, the production of vaccines that generate long-lived cross-protective immunity against seasonal strains or pandemic strains of the virus remains a challenging goal (5).

An effective vaccine against influenza should ideally elicit both humoral and cellular immunity. Current inactivated influenza virus vaccines induce largely antibody-mediated responses that are effective in providing protection against homologous influenza virus infections and yet are inadequate against heterologous infections, where many of the viral proteins are distinct (3, 31). Influenza virus causes repeated infections by undergoing antigenic drift and occasionally antigenic shift to evade the host immune response. Neutralizing antibodies against the viral glycoproteins hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) are required for resistance against respiratory infection, potentially by slowing the rate of viral replication and spread to allow time for the cellular

immune response to mediate viral clearance (7). Indeed, protective cell-mediated immunity to virulent influenza virus infection requires CD8⁺ T cells (4), and these may need to reside in the respiratory tract to control initial viral replication until secondary effectors arrive (38).

Interestingly, influenza viruses can still cause disease in immune individuals despite the high conservation of T-cell epitopes, suggesting that the virus may also use mechanisms to subvert the immune system. The nonstructural (NS1) protein of influenza virus is a virulence factor with multiple functions in infected cells. In addition to potentially controlling viral RNA replication (9) and viral protein synthesis (18), one of the major functions of the NS1 protein is the inhibition of host interferon (IFN) responses (14). This can occur via inhibition of the IRF-3, NF-^{*}B, and c-Jun/ATF-2 transcription factors (16, 32), possibly by preventing intracellular sensing of viral single-stranded RNA by preventing RIG-I activation (13, 27). The NS1 protein can also block the function of 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and serine/threonine protein kinase R (25, 26), as well as inhibit host mRNA processing and activate the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway (15), thus potentially influencing multiple aspects of innate immune activation and apoptosis in infected host cells.

Type I IFNs (IFN-I) are produced by infected or activated cells during viral infection. Some specialized cell types, such as plasmacytoid DC, are capable of producing very large amounts of IFN-I. The optimal priming of both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T-cell responses involves direct signaling through the IFN-I receptor (IFN-

IR) (8, 19, 24). T cells lacking the IFN-IR show reduced expansion and memory formation after infection. It has been demonstrated that expression of the NS1 protein by influenza viruses can significantly reduce the production of inflammatory cytokines after infection (21), as well as increase pathogenicity in a manner independent of its IFN-I blocking action (22). Viruses lacking NS1 function are highly attenuated and may be useful for the design of new generation influenza virus vaccines (32). In the absence of NS1, or in virus mutants with truncated NS1 proteins, influenza viruses can induce adaptive immune responses in different animal models, such as mice, pigs, and macaques (2, 10, 29, 33) and stimulate more effective dendritic cell maturation and migration (11).

To better understand the capacity of mutant influenza viruses with compromised NS1 function to elicit protective cell-mediated immune responses, in particular CD8⁺ T-cell responses, we inserted the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) gp33-41 epitope into the influenza virus A/PR/8/34 NA stalk. Using reverse genetics, this segment was incorporated into recombinant influenza viruses that expressed truncated NS1 proteins or lacked expression of NS1 via a complete deletion. These mutant viruses displayed reduced viral growth and pathology in mice after intranasal infection and yet generated long-lived antigenspecific T- and B-cell responses. Responses were readily detectable both systemically and in the lungs after infection. Mice containing effector or memory CD8⁺ T cells primed by the live attenuated viruses cleared virus more rapidly after rechallenge, whereas prime-boost vaccination could further expand the size

of the memory pool generated. Together, our data suggest that NS1 mutant viruses might provide a safe and effective means of generating potent cellular and humoral immune responses against influenza viruses.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Generation of recombinant influenza viruses. Recombinant influenza viruses were produced by using an established eight-plasmid influenza virus reverse genetics system (20, 28). The plasmids used in the construction of the recombinant influenza viruses have been previously described (35). The LCMV qp33-41 epitope (KAVYNFATM) was inserted into the NA of A/PR/8/34 (H1N1) at residue 42 by PCR mutagenesis using the primers 5'-CAAACTGGA-AGTAAAGCCGTTTATAATTTTGCCACCATGAACATCATTACC-3' and 5'-GGT-AATGATGTTCATGGTGGCAAAATTATAAACGGCTTTACTTCCAGTTTG-3' (italiccs represent the inserted KAVYNFATM epitope). A corresponding number of amino acids (nine, QNHTGICNQ) were deleted from the recombinant viruses to maintain the protein length equal to the wild-type NA protein. In order to generate NS1 truncations, we pursued a previous strategy described by Solorzano et al. (30). We generated every NS1 truncation by amplification of two PCR fragments and subsequent ligation in the pDZ vector (28): the 5'-end portion of the segment, common for all truncations, was obtained with primers, 5'two GCGCTTAATTAAGAGGGAGCAATTGTTGGCG-3' (NS1-153) and 5'-CATCGC-

TCTTCTATTAGTAGAAACAAGGGTGTTTTTTATTATTATTAAATAAG-3'. The 3'-end portion containing either the first 73, 113, or 126 amino acids of NS1 was obtained by using the primers 5'-GCGCTTAATTAATCAAGATCTAGGATTCTTC-TTTCAGAATCC-3' (NS1-73), 5'-GCGCTTAATTAATCAAGATCTAGCCTGCCA-CTTTCTGCTTGGG-3' (NS1-113), and 5'-GCGCTTAATTAATCAAGATCTAC-TTATCCATGATCGCCTGG-3' (NS1-126), respectively, together with 5'-GAT-CGCTCTTCTGGGAGCAAAAGCAGGGTGACAAAGAC-3'. NS1 truncations did not affect the sequence of NEP. To generate the NS segment containing a complete deletion of NS1, we amplified NEP by two PCRs using two pairs of primers: (i) NS1-BspMI,3 (GCGCACCTGCTTTTTCAGGACATACTGCTGAGG-ATG and 5'-GATCGCTCTTCTGGGA-GCAAAAGCAGGGTGACAAAGAC-3') and (ii) NS1-BspMI,5 (GCGCACCTG-CTTTTCTGAAAGCTTGACACAGTG and 5'-CATCGCTCTTCTATTAGTAGAAA-CAAGGGTGTTTTTTATTATTAATAAG-3').

Mice, virus, and infections. Thy1.1⁺ (B6.PL-Thy1^a/CyJ) mice were bred to P14 transgenic mice and maintained in our colony. Splenocytes from naive Thy1.1⁺ P14 transgenic mice containing 10^5 antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells were transferred into 6-week-old female C57BL/6J (B6) mice (the Jackson Laboratory). Given a "take" of ca. 10%, this transfer reflected ~10⁴ P14 CD8⁺ T cells per recipient mouse. The following day, the mice were infected with 200 PFU of recombinant influenza virus PR8-33 (referred to as PR8 or wild-type [WT] virus) or either of the NS1 mutant viruses (NS1-73, NS1-113, NS1-126, or Δ NS1) intranasally. For challenge experiments, mice were infected with 5 x 10⁶ PFU of a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing gp33-41 (VVgp33) (17) intranasally. Titers

of VVgp33 in lung homogenates were determined by plaque assay on Vero cells as previously described (17). Influenza virus titers were determined by using monolayers of Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. MDCK cells were infected with dilutions of lung tissue homogenates in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (DMEM) for 1 h at 37°C before they were overlaid with 1% agarose in DMEM supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum and 1 µg of TPCK (tolylsulfonyl phenylalanyl chloromethyl ketone)-trypsin/ml. Cells were incubated for 3 days and stained with crystal violet (0.1% [wt/vol] in 20% methanol) to count plaques.

Hemagglutinin inhibition assay. One part serum was added to three parts receptor destroying enzyme (RDE; Accurate Chemical & Scientific) and incubated at 37°C overnight. The RDE was inactivated the following morning by incubating the samples at 56°C for 1 h. Samples were then serially diluted with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) in 96-well V-bottom plates, and eight hemagglutination units (as determined by incubation with 0.5% turkey red blood cells [RBCs] in the absence of serum) of influenza virus was added to each well. After 30 min at room temperature, 50 µl of 0.5% turkey RBCs (Lampire Biological Laboratories) suspended in PBS-0.5% bovine serum albumin was added to each well, and the plates were shaken manually. After an additional 30 min at room temperature, the serum titers were read as the reciprocal of the final dilution for which no hemagglutination was observed.

Lymphocyte isolation. Lymphocytes were isolated from lungs by treatment with 1.3 mM EDTA in Hanks balanced salt solution for 30 min at 37°C with shaking at

200 rpm, followed by incubation with 100 U of collagenase (Invitrogen Life Technologies)/ml in 5% RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2 mM CaCl₂ and 2 mM MgCl₂ (60 min at 37°C, shaking at 200 rpm). Single-cell suspensions were obtained by pushing spleens, lymph nodes, or digested lungs through 70-µm-pore-size nylon mesh filters (Becton Dickinson). Lymphocytes from lungs were purified by centrifugation on a 44/67% Percoll gradient (800 x *g* for 20 min at 20°C).

Antibodies and flow cytometry. Single-cell suspensions were stained with anti-CD8 $_{\alpha}$ -APC (53-6.7), Thy1.1-PerCP (OX-7), CD62L-FITC (MEL-14), CD43-FITC (1B11), gamma interferon (IFN- τ)-FITC (XMG1.2), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α)-APC (MP6-XT22), and interleukin-2 (IL-2)-APC (JES6-5H4) (BD Pharmingen); CD127-PE (A7R34) (eBioscience); or anti-human granzyme B-PE (Caltag Laboratories). Intracellular staining for granzyme B directly ex vivo or for IFN- τ , TNF- α , or IL-2 after 5 h *in vitro* stimulation with 0.1 µg of LCMV gp33-41 peptide or influenza np366-374 peptide/ml was performed by using a Cytofix/Cytoperm kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Pharmingen). Samples were analyzed by using a Becton Dickinson FACSCalibur apparatus.

Memory cell transfers. Thy 1.1^+ P14 transgenic CD8⁺ T cells were isolated from the spleens or lungs of mice infected with the indicated viruses. Naive B6 recipient mice (Thy 1.2^+) received 1 x 10^4 Thy 1.1^+ CD8⁺ memory cells to track

expansion in the blood or 5 x 10^4 cells to measure protection upon recall with VVgp33.

Statistical analysis. Data are expressed as the means \pm the standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed by two-tailed Student *t* test with 95% confidence intervals, using Prism software (GraphPad).

RESULTS

Generation of recombinant influenza viruses expressing mutant NS1 proteins. The influenza A virus NS1 protein can be divided into three domains: the N-terminal RNA-binding domain (amino acids [aa] 1 to 73), the effector domain (aa 74 to 207), and a short C-terminal region (~20 aa). Numerous functions have been attributed to the NS1 protein, including binding to doublestranded RNA via the N-terminal region. In addition, the C-terminal effector domain may stabilize and support the function of the NS1 RNA-binding domain (34). We previously demonstrated that progressive truncation of the carboxyterminal region of the NS1 protein results in recombinant influenza viruses with different degrees of inhibition of IFN-I induction that correlate with their attenuation *in vivo* (28, 30, 32). Infection with NS1 mutant viruses primed immune responses and protection against lethal infection by heterologous influenza virus (Fig. 1A). We wanted to more carefully examine CD8⁺ T-cell responses primed by influenza viruses with truncated or deleted NS1 proteins. To do this, we generated a recombinant influenza A/PR/8/34 virus (H1N1) with a CD8⁺ T-cell epitope from the LCMV glycoprotein (gp33-41) inserted into the NA stalk (Fig. 1B). Using reverse genetics, PR8-33 viruses (referred to as wild-type PR8 from hereon) were then produced that lacked expression of the NS1 protein (Δ NS1) or expressed truncations of the NS1 protein representing the first 73, 113, or 126 aa of the protein from the N-terminal end (Fig. 1B) instead of the 230-aa wild-type NS1 protein.

We first examined the ability of the mutant NS1 viruses to infect mice after intranasal administration. Administration of a low titer of recombinant wild-type PR8 virus (10² PFU) resulted in rapid viral growth in the lungs within 2 days, peaking at around 4 days after infection (Fig. 1C). Since NS1-deficient viruses are highly attenuated in IFN-competent systems, we infected mice with a higher dose of the mutant viruses (10⁵ PFU). In mice infected with the NS1 mutant viruses, no significant changes in body weight or signs of morbidity were observed after infection. Infection of mice with the mutant viruses expressing truncated NS1 proteins demonstrated different degrees of viral growth in the lungs. Virus titers were highest in mice infected with the PR8/NS1-73 (73) virus, followed by the 113 and 126 viruses, respectively (Fig. 1C). Similar to that observed with truncated NS1 proteins from swine or equine influenza viruses, the length of the protein correlated inversely with viral growth and IFN inhibition (28, 30). This likely reflects differential stability of the truncated NS1 proteins in infected cells (30). All viruses with truncated NS1 proteins stimulated long-lived humoral immunity in the mice, albeit at lower titers than that after infection with wild-type
virus (Fig. 1D). No virus was detected in the lungs of mice after infection with the **A**NS1 virus (Fig. 1C). However, low yet detectable hemagglutination inhibition (HI) titers were observed in these mice for at least 90 days (Fig. 1D). Thus, the NS1 mutant viruses were capable of infecting mice via the lungs and stimulating long-lived host immunity.



FIG. 1. (A) Mice were infected intranasally with 10^5 PFU of a recombinant influenza A/PR/8 virus (H1N1) containing the first 126 aa at the N-terminal end of NS1. Control mice were given PBS. Three weeks later the mice were challenged with 10^6 PFU of WT influenza A/HK-x31 virus (H3N2) and survival monitored over 14 days. (B) Mouse-adapted influenza virus A/PR/8/34 was modified to express the LCMV gp33-41 peptide (KAVYNFATM) in the NA stalk (PR8-33). This recombinant virus was rescued with plasmids encoding truncations of the influenza virus PR/8 NS1 containing just the first 73, 113, or 126 aa at the N-terminal end or complete deletion of the NS1 protein (Δ NS1). Viruses were designated PR8 (WT), Δ NS1, 73, 113, or 126. Virus titers were measured in the lungs (C) and hemagglutination inhibition (HI) titers were measured in the blood (D) of C57BL/6 mice at various times after intranasal infection with 10^2 PFU of WT PR8 or 10^5 PFU of the NS1 mutant viruses. Virus was undetectable in mice infected with the Δ NS1 virus (n = 3 mice per group).

Priming of effector CD8⁺ T-cell responses by NS1 mutant influenza viruses. To determine CD8⁺ T-cell responses after infection with the attenuated influenza viruses, mice were given TCR transgenic P14 T cells specific for the LCMV gp33-41 epitope prior to infection. These transferred T cells were undetectable in the spleens of uninfected mice. Eight days after infection, responding Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells were examined in the spleen and lungs of the mice. Substantial responses were detected in the tissues of mice infected with each of the NS1 mutant viruses (Fig. 2A). Quantitation of the responding effector T-cell responses in the spleen and lungs (Fig. 2B) reflected the degree of viral infection in the lungs (see Fig. 1C). Although an order of magnitude less than that after infection with wild-type PR8 virus, infection of mice with the ANS1 virus primed considerable T-cell responses in the spleen and lungs, despite a lack of any detectable virus in the lungs after infection. Furthermore, P14 CD8⁺ T cells primed by the NS1 mutant viruses upregulated CD44 after infection, demonstrating effective activation of the cells (data not shown).

Effector CD8⁺ T cells primed after NS1 mutant influenza virus infection were functional and produced the cytokines IFN- τ and TNF- α after restimulation with peptide (Fig. 2C). Interestingly, a higher proportion of cells produced IL-2 8 days after infection with the 126 or Δ NS1 viruses. Downregulation of CD62L and upregulation of the activated isoform of CD43 recognized by the antibody 1B11 also correlated with the size of the expanded CTL populations and viral growth in the lungs (Fig. 2D). Moreover, expression of the effector molecule granzyme B was lowest after Δ NS1 virus infection, whereas higher expression was detected in effector CD8⁺ T cells primed by the 73 and 113 viruses (Fig. 2E). Together, this suggested that the CD8⁺ T cells primed by the NS1 mutant viruses were less highly activated 8 days after infection, possibly reflecting incomplete activation of the antigen-specific CD8⁺ T-cell population or a more rapid transition to memory.



FIG. 2. T-cell responses in the spleen and lungs of mice 8 days after infection with the NS1 mutant viruses. (A) Mice were given LCMV gp33-41-specific P14 Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells prior to infection, and responding P14 cells were examined in the indicated tissues. The numbers in the upper right corners of each subpanel indicate the proportions of Thy1.1⁺ of CD8⁺ T cells. (B) Responding antigen-specific P14 T cells were quantitated in the spleen and lungs. (C) Functional expression of cytokines after *in vitro* peptide stimulation of P14 cells taken from the indicated tissues 8 days after infection. The numbers in the upper right corners of each subpanel indicate the proportions of CD8⁺ T-cells expressing both indicated cytokines. The expression of CD62L and CD43 (1B11) (D) and granzyme B (E) on effector P14 CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen and lungs after infection were evaluated. MFI, mean fluorescence intensity (n = three to four mice per group). The results of one representative experiment of three are shown.

Long-lived memory CD8⁺ T-cell responses after NS1 mutant influenza virus infection. Memory CD8⁺ T-cell populations were analyzed in mice 3 months after infection with the different NS1 mutant influenza viruses (Fig. 3). All recombinant viruses primed populations of memory cells that were readily detectable in the spleen and lungs (Fig. 3A). The size of the memory populations detected in the tissues largely reflected the size of the effector pools observed 8 days after infection (Fig. 3B). However, contraction of the CD8⁺ T-cell pool in the spleen after Δ NS1 infection was reduced, such that the size of the memory population remained similar to that detected at day 8. This may have reflected early or reduced contraction of the response after infection with the highly attenuated virus.

Memory cells primed by the mutant NS1 viruses were highly functional and produced IFN-γ and TNF-α after restimulation (Fig. 3C). A considerable proportion of the memory cells produced IL-2 in both the spleen and the lungs, a finding indicative of long-lived resting memory T cells. The majority of the memory cells had also regained expression of CD62L and expressed low levels of 1B11 (Fig. 3D). Similarly, endogenous influenza virus np366-specific CD8⁺ T cells were primed after infection with the mutant NS1 viruses, and significant numbers of cells remained detectable in these mice for at least 3 months (Fig. 3E). Together, this demonstrates that infection of mice with the mutant NS1 viruses primed CD8⁺ T cells with the phenotypic and functional properties of long-lived memory cells.



FIG. 3. Long-lived memory CD8 T-cell populations are primed by infection with the NS1-mutant viruses. (A) Memory Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells were examined in the indicated tissues 3 months after infection with the indicated viruses. The numbers in upper right corners of each subpanel indicate the proportions of Thy1.1⁺ of CD8⁺ T cells. (B) Responding antigen-specific P14 T cells were quantitated in the spleen and lungs. (C) Functional expression of cytokines after *in vitro* peptide stimulation of P14 cells taken from the indicate the proportions of CD8⁺ T cells expressing both indicated cytokines. (D) Expression of CD62L and CD43 (1B11) on memory P14 CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen and lungs after infection. (E) Endogenous np366-specific CD8⁺ T cells from mice infected 3 months earlier were detected by intracellular cytokine staining after *in vitro* peptide stimulation (*n* = three to four mice per group). The results of one representative experiment of three are shown.

Recall responses by memory cells after NS1 mutant influenza virus infection. We next wanted to evaluate the recall capacity of memory CD8⁺ T cells generated after infection of mice with the NS1 mutant influenza viruses. Normalized numbers of P14 Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ memory T cells (5 x 10⁴), isolated from the spleens of immune mice, were transferred into naive mice prior to intranasal challenge with a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing the gp33 epitope (VVgp33) (Fig. 4A). Expansion of the memory CD8⁺ T cells was followed in the blood of mice that had received cells from PR8-, 73-, 113-, 126-, or Δ NS1-immune mice (Fig. 4B). Expansion peaked around day 16 postinfection. Interestingly, memory cells from mice infected with the NS1 mutant viruses expanded slightly better than those primed by wild-type PR8 infection. Together, this demonstrated that the attenuated influenza viruses containing truncated or deleted NS1 proteins primed functional memory CD8⁺ T cells capable of responding and expanding upon rechallenge.



FIG. 4. Recall of memory P14 cells primed by NS1 mutant viruses. (A) Mice were given 5×10^4 memory P14 cells from mice initially primed with the NS1 viruses 3 months earlier and challenged with VVgp33 intranasally. (B) Expansion of the CD8⁺Thy1.1⁺ memory cells was monitored in the blood over time.

Rapid prime-boost responses after immunization with NS1 mutant influenza viruses. Although the mutant NS1 influenza viruses primed highly functional memory T-cell populations, the size of the memory pool was smaller than that induced after wild-type PR8 infection (see Fig. 3). However, infection of mice with the Δ NS1 virus induced long-lived memory T cells, despite a lack of detectable virus in the lungs and no significant malaise or weight loss in the mice (Fig. 1 and data not shown). Interestingly, effector CD8⁺ T cells primed after Δ NS1 infection were less activated, and a greater proportion of the cells produced IL-2 as early as 8 days after infection (Fig. 2). The transition from an effector to central memory phenotype involves re-expression of CD62L and the capacity to produce IL-2 over time (23, 37). Our data indicated that stimulation of the P14 CD8⁺ T cells after Δ NS1 infection may have resulted in a brief effector period, followed by more rapid transition to memory.

We sought to determine whether it was possible to increase the size of the memory T-cell pool generated by boosting the CD8⁺ T cells only a short period after infection. To ascertain the capacity of the activated T cells to respond to an antigen boost soon after infection, P14 Thy1.1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells were isolated from mice infected with Δ NS1 9 days earlier, and transferred into naive mice (Fig. 5A and B). The mice were then infected with VVgp33 intranasally, and the expansion and protective capacity of the CD8⁺ T cells was determined 5 days later. Expansion of the Δ NS1-primed CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen and lungs after VVgp33 boost was significantly greater than that of cells primed by PR8 infection (Fig. 5C). The Δ NS1-primed and VVgp33-boosted effector cells mediated rapid

clearance of vaccinia virus from the lungs, although only slightly faster than that in mice containing WT PR8-primed CD8⁺ T cells (Fig. 5D). This demonstrated that the cells remained responsive to antigen signals after primary immunization and were susceptible to boost vaccination to increase the size of the antigenspecific T-cell populations in the tissues.

We next wanted to more directly test the capacity of effector CD8⁺ T cells primed with the mutant NS1 viruses to be boosted by a second, rapid immunization. Mice containing naive P14 CD8⁺ T cells were infected with wild-type PR8 or Δ NS1 viruses and boosted with VVgp33 8 days later. The resulting populations of memory cells in the spleen and lungs of mice after boosting was significantly greater than that in mice immunized with just the primary dose of $\Delta NS1$ (Fig. 5E). Similar results were also obtained in mice immunized with the NS1 truncated influenza viruses (NS1-73, NS1-113, and NS1-126) after boosting with VVgp33 (data not shown), suggesting that boosting was capable of improving the immune response to all mutant strains. This was in contrast to mice immunized with PR8, which did not demonstrate an increase in numbers of memory T cells in the spleen or lungs after VVqp33 boosting. Homologous boosting of the immune response with a second dose of the $\Delta NS1$ virus also induced increased memory CD8⁺ T responses in mice, which were significantly larger after two immunizations (Fig. 5F). Similarly, increased populations of endogenous LCMV gp33- and influenza virus np366-specific CD8⁺ T-cell populations were also observed after ANS1 influenza virus prime-boosting in B6 mice that did not receive P14 cell transfers (data not shown).

To determine the protective capacity of these increased populations of antigenspecific memory CD8⁺ T cells after prime-boost vaccination, mice were given two doses of Δ NS1 influenza virus 10 days apart and then rested for 8 weeks. The mice were then challenged by respiratory infection with the recombinant VVgp33 virus. Clearance of virus from the lungs was more rapid in mice containing Δ NS1primed memory CD8⁺ T cells (Fig. 5G). Similar results were observed in mice immunized with NS1-73, NS1-113 or NS1-126 viruses (data not shown). Thus, vaccination with attenuated influenza viruses expressing truncated or deleted NS1 proteins induced long-lived memory CD8⁺ T-cell populations with the capacity to mediate rapid clearance of virus from the tissues.



FIG. 5. Accelerated prime-boost responses soon after infection with NS1 mutant virus. (A) Example of effector P14 CD8⁺ T-cell responses in the spleen and lungs 8 days after WT PR8 or Δ NS1 infection. (B) Day 9 P14 cells were isolated from mice infected with PR8 or ANS1 viruses and transferred into uninfected mice before intranasal boosting with VVgp33. (C) Expansion of the transferred CD8 T cells in the spleen and lungs. (D) Clearance of VVgp33 from the lungs, 5 days after infection. (E) Mice primed with PR8 or ANS1 were boosted 8 days later with VVgp33 as indicated, and the responses in the spleen and lungs were analyzed 6 weeks later. (F) Mice primed with $\Delta NS1$ were boosted with $\Delta NS1$ on day 8, and the memory responses were analyzed in the spleen and lungs. (G) Enhanced viral clearance from the lungs of mice immunized with $\Delta NS1$ virus. Mice were immunized with Δ NS1 virus and boosted with Δ NS1 virus 10 days later, or control mice were given PBS. After 53 days, the mice were challenged with VVqp33 intranasally, and virus titers were measured in the lungs after 5 days (n= three to five mice per group). The results of one representative experiment of two to three are shown.

DISCUSSION

Influenza viruses can cause severe respiratory infection marked by high virus titers, fever, malaise, and weight loss. Recovery from infection is mediated by adaptive immune responses, which are generally very robust and long-lived. In contrast, immunization with vaccines composed of inactivated viral components, typically via the intramuscular route, may induce less effective cell-mediated immunity and require yearly administration to counter seasonal strains. The search for a universal influenza virus vaccine, which could generate long-lived immunity against heterologous virus strains, has recently focused on live attenuated viruses with the propensity to stimulate effective respiratory immunity without significant symptoms of disease. We generated live attenuated influenza A/PR/8/34 viruses expressing truncations or a deletion of the NS1 protein. The viruses were differentially attenuated in their growth both in vitro and in vivo in mice and yet all stimulated strong and specific CD8⁺ T-cell immunity that was both long-lasting and capable of mediating faster clearance of virus from infected mice. Memory CD8⁺ T-cell responses were primed in mice after infection with a ANS1 virus, which lacked expression of the NS1 protein and was undetectable in the lungs of mice after infection. Moreover, the attenuated influenza viruses induced T-cell responses that were amenable to very rapid boosting with heterologous or homologous viruses, thereby enabling the generation of enhanced, protective, memory populations.

Rapid prime-boost regimes may be beneficial for the administration of effective vaccines in humans since immunity could be generated fairly rapidly, with minimal time between doses. Boosting to increase immunity can require long intervals between immunizations to ensure effectiveness. If the T cells are not adequately rested, boosting during this period may have little effect (23). However, it has been shown that immunization with peptide-coated dendritic cells generated effector cells, or early memory cells, which were highly amenable to rapid boosting within 1 week (1). We demonstrate that immunization of mice with live attenuated influenza viruses with altered NS1 protein function was also able to induce T cells that were amenable to rapid boosting. This was particularly true of recombinant viruses with the least NS1 function (Δ NS1 and NS1-126). It also suggests that priming with more highly attenuated viruses, followed by a less attenuated strain, may be useful to induce strong immune memory, as well as minimizing detrimental symptoms from the vaccinating virus.

The search for new vaccine vectors for immunization against influenza viruses, particularly potential pandemic strains, is a topic of considerable research and debate. Recently, the use of live attenuated strains has been the focus of attention, particularly in relation to the current swine influenza outbreak (6). The NS1 mutant viruses utilized in the present study, in addition to having a reduced ability to replicate *in vitro* and *in vivo*, most likely also show reduced immunomodulatory effects due to their lack of NS1 function. NS1 functions, in part, as a negative regulator of host interferon responses, facilitating replication of the virus in IFN-I-producing cells. Lack of NS1 function in a viral vaccine vector

may have a number of benefits. Among these would be improved T-cell responses due to release of IFN-I (24). In addition, viruses with reduced NS1 function grow and spread considerably less aggressively, making them a safer option. However, if viral growth is too attenuated, antigen may be limiting. Nevertheless, despite showing a reduced ability to grow to high titers after infection in mice, the NS1 mutant viruses primed functional CD8⁺ T-cell effector and memory responses. These responses provided protection against heterologous infections and were amenable to rapid prime-boosting to increase virus-specific memory T-cell populations. Together, these findings demonstrate the potential effectiveness of such attenuated viruses as influenza virus vaccine vehicles for generating cell-mediated immunity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by grant U01 AI70469 from NIAID (to A.G.-S. and R.A.) and by CRIP (Center for Research on Influenza Pathogenesis; NIAID contract HHSN266200700010C to A.G.-S.). E.C. was the recipient of a postdoctoral fellowship from the Fundacion Ramon Areces.

We thank Richard Cadagan for excellent technical assistance.

* Corresponding author. Mailing address: Emory Vaccine Center and Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322. Phone: (404) 727-3571. Fax: (404) 727-3722. E-mail: rahmed@emory.edu

 $^{
abla}$ Published ahead of print on 25 November 2009.

[†]S.N.M. and W.A.L. contributed equally to this study.

[‡]Present address: Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville 3010, Australia.

[®]Present address: Department of Gene Therapy and Hepatology, CIMA, University of Navarra, Pio XII, 55 Pamplona 31008, Spain.

REFERENCES

- Badovinac, V. P., K. A. Messingham, A. Jabbari, J. S. Haring, and J.
 T. Harty. 2005. Accelerated CD8⁺ T-cell memory and prime-boost response after dendritic-cell vaccination. Nat. Med. **11**:748-756.
- Baskin, C. R., H. Bielefeldt-Ohmann, T. M. Tumpey, P. J. Sabourin, J.
 P. Long, A. Garcia-Sastre, A. E. Tolnay, R. Albrecht, J. A. Pyles, P. H.
 Olson, L. D. Aicher, E. R. Rosenzweig, K. Murali-Krishna, E. A. Clark,

M. S. Kotur, J. L. Fornek, S. Proll, R. E. Palermo, C. L. Sabourin, and M. G. Katze. 2009. Early and sustained innate immune response defines pathology and death in nonhuman primates infected by highly pathogenic influenza virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **106**:3455-3460.

- Belshe, R. B., and P. M. Mendelman. 2003. Safety and efficacy of live attenuated, cold-adapted, influenza vaccine-trivalent. Immunol. Allergy Clin. N. Am. 23:745-767.
- Bender, B. S., T. Croghan, L. Zhang, and P. A. Small, Jr. 1992. Transgenic mice lacking class I major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cells have delayed viral clearance and increased mortality after influenza virus challenge. J. Exp. Med. 175:1143-1145.
- Brown, L. E., and A. Kelso. 2009. Prospects for an influenza vaccine that induces cross-protective cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunol. Cell Biol. 87:300-308.
- Butler, D. 2009. Vaccine decisions loom for new flu strain. Nature 459:144-145.
- Cox, R. J., K. A. Brokstad, and P. Ogra. 2004. Influenza virus: immunity and vaccination strategies: comparison of the immune response to inactivated and live, attenuated influenza vaccines. Scand. J. Immunol. 59:1-15.
- 8. Curtsinger, J. M., J. O. Valenzuela, P. Agarwal, D. Lins, and M. F. Mescher. 2005. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to

stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. J. Immunol. **174:**4465-4469.

- Falcon, A. M., R. M. Marion, T. Zurcher, P. Gomez, A. Portela, A. Nieto, and J. Ortin. 2004. Defective RNA replication and late gene expression in temperature-sensitive influenza viruses expressing deleted forms of the NS1 protein. J. Virol. 78:3880-3888.
- Ferko, B., J. Stasakova, J. Romanova, C. Kittel, S. Sereinig, H. Katinger, and A. Egorov. 2004. Immunogenicity and protection efficacy of replication-deficient influenza A viruses with altered NS1 genes. J. Virol. 78:13037-13045.
- 11. Fernandez-Sesma, A., S. Marukian, B. J. Ebersole, D. Kaminski, M. S.
 Park, T. Yuen, S. C. Sealfon, A. Garcia-Sastre, and T. M. Moran. 2006.
 Influenza virus evades innate and adaptive immunity via the NS1 protein.
 J. Virol. 80:6295-6304.
- 12. Fraser, C., C. A. Donnelly, S. Cauchemez, W. P. Hanage, M. D. Van Kerkhove, T. D. Hollingsworth, J. Griffin, R. F. Baggaley, H. E. Jenkins, E. J. Lyons, T. Jombart, W. R. Hinsley, N. C. Grassly, F. Balloux, A. C. Ghani, N. M. Ferguson, A. Rambaut, O. G. Pybus, H. Lopez-Gatell, C. M. Apluche-Aranda, I. B. Chapela, E. P. Zavala, D. M. Guevara, F. Checchi, E. Garcia, S. Hugonnet, and C. Roth. 2009. Pandemic potential of a strain of influenza A (H1N1): early findings. Science 324:1557-1561.

- 13. Gack, M. U., R. A. Albrecht, T. Urano, K. S. Inn, I. C. Huang, E. Carnero, M. Farzan, S. Inoue, J. U. Jung, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2009. Influenza A virus NS1 targets the ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 to evade recognition by the host viral RNA sensor RIG-I. Cell Host Microbe 5:439-449.
- 14. Garcia-Sastre, A., A. Egorov, D. Matassov, S. Brandt, D. E. Levy, J. E. Durbin, P. Palese, and T. Muster. 1998. Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferon-deficient systems. Virology 252:324-330.
- 15. Hale, B. G., D. Jackson, Y. H. Chen, R. A. Lamb, and R. E. Randall. 2006. Influenza A virus NS1 protein binds p85beta and activates phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103:14194-14199.
- Hale, B. G., R. E. Randall, J. Ortin, and D. Jackson. 2008. The multifunctional NS1 protein of influenza A viruses. J. Gen. Virol. 89:2359-2376.
- 17. Harrington, L. E., R. Most Rv, J. L. Whitton, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Recombinant vaccinia virus-induced T-cell immunity: quantitation of the response to the virus vector and the foreign epitope. J. Virol. 76:3329-3337.
- Hatada, E., M. Hasegawa, K. Shimizu, M. Hatanaka, and R. Fukuda.
 1990. Analysis of influenza A virus temperature-sensitive mutants with mutations in RNA segment 8. J. Gen. Virol. 71(Pt. 6):1283-1292.

- 19. Havenar-Daughton, C., G. A. Kolumam, and K. Murali-Krishna. 2006. Cutting edge: the direct action of type I IFN on CD4 T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection. J. Immunol. **176:**3315-3319.
- 20. Hoffmann, E., G. Neumann, Y. Kawaoka, G. Hobom, and R. G. Webster. 2000. A DNA transfection system for generation of influenza A virus from eight plasmids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97:6108-6113.
- 21. Hyland, L., R. Webby, M. R. Sandbulte, B. Clarke, and S. Hou. 2006. Influenza virus NS1 protein protects against lymphohematopoietic pathogenesis in an in vivo mouse model. Virology **349**:156-163.
- 22. Jackson, D., M. J. Hossain, D. Hickman, D. R. Perez, and R. A. Lamb. 2008. A new influenza virus virulence determinant: the NS1 protein four Cterminal residues modulate pathogenicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105:4381-4386.
- 23. Kaech, S. M., S. Hemby, E. Kersh, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Molecular and functional profiling of memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. Cell **111**:837-851.
- 24. Kolumam, G. A., S. Thomas, L. J. Thompson, J. Sprent, and K. Murali-Krishna. 2005. Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. J. Exp. Med. **202**:637-650.
- 25. Min, J. Y., and R. M. Krug. 2006. The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: inhibiting the 2'-5'

oligo(A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **103:**7100-7105.

- 26. Min, J. Y., S. Li, G. C. Sen, and R. M. Krug. 2007. A site on the influenza A virus NS1 protein mediates both inhibition of PKR activation and temporal regulation of viral RNA synthesis. Virology 363:236-243.
- 27. Pichlmair, A., O. Schulz, C. P. Tan, T. I. Naslund, P. Liljestrom, F. Weber, and E. S. C. Reis. 2006. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5' phosphates. Science 314:997-1001.
- 28. Quinlivan, M., D. Zamarin, A. Garcia-Sastre, A. Cullinane, T. Chambers, and P. Palese. 2005. Attenuation of equine influenza viruses through truncations of the NS1 protein. J. Virol. **79**:8431-8439.
- 29. Romanova, J., B. M. Krenn, M. Wolschek, B. Ferko, E. Romanovskaja-Romanko, A. Morokutti, A. P. Shurygina, S. Nakowitsch, T. Ruthsatz,
 B. Kiefmann, U. Konig, M. Bergmann, M. Sachet, S. Balasingam, A.
 Mann, J. Oxford, M. Slais, O. Kiselev, T. Muster, and A. Egorov. 2009.
 Preclinical evaluation of a replication-deficient intranasal ANS1 H5N1
 influenza vaccine. PLoS One 4:e5984.
- 30. Solorzano, A., R. J. Webby, K. M. Lager, B. H. Janke, A. Garcia-Sastre, and J. A. Richt. 2005. Mutations in the NS1 protein of swine influenza virus impair anti-interferon activity and confer attenuation in pigs. J. Virol. **79:**7535-7543.
- 31. Subbarao, K., B. R. Murphy, and A. S. Fauci. 2006. Development of effective vaccines against pandemic influenza. Immunity **24:**5-9.

- 32. Talon, J., M. Salvatore, R. E. O'Neill, Y. Nakaya, H. Zheng, T. Muster, A. Garcia-Sastre, and P. Palese. 2000. Influenza A and B viruses expressing altered NS1 proteins: a vaccine approach. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97:4309-4314.
- 33. Vincent, A. L., W. Ma, K. M. Lager, B. H. Janke, R. J. Webby, A. Garcia-Sastre, and J. A. Richt. 2007. Efficacy of intranasal administration of a truncated NS1 modified live influenza virus vaccine in swine. Vaccine 25:7999-8009.
- 34. Wang, X., C. F. Basler, B. R. Williams, R. H. Silverman, P. Palese, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2002. Functional replacement of the carboxy-terminal two-thirds of the influenza A virus NS1 protein with short heterologous dimerization domains. J. Virol. 76:12951-12962.
- 35. Webby, R. J., S. Andreansky, J. Stambas, J. E. Rehg, R. G. Webster,
 P. C. Doherty, and S. J. Turner. 2003. Protection and compensation in the influenza virus-specific CD8⁺ T-cell response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.
 S. A. 100:7235-7240.
- 36. Webster, R. G., W. J. Bean, O. T. Gorman, T. M. Chambers, and Y. Kawaoka. 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiol. Rev. 56:152-179.
- 37. Wherry, E. J., V. Teichgraber, T. C. Becker, D. Masopust, S. M. Kaech, R. Antia, U. H. von Andrian, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T-cell subsets. Nat. Immunol. 4:225-234.

 Woodland, D. L. 2003. Cell-mediated immunity to respiratory virus infections. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 15:430-435.

Chapter 4

Induction of neutralizing antibody responses to anthrax PA using broadlyapplicable influenza vectors: Implications for disparate immune system priming

pathways

The work presented in this chapter has been submitted for publication in the *Journal of Virology*.

Induction of neutralizing antibody responses to anthrax PA using broadlyapplicable influenza vectors: Implications for disparate immune system priming pathways

William A. Langley¹, Konrad C. Bradley¹, Mary Ellen Smith^{2,3}, Matthias J. Schnell^{2,3*}, and David A. Steinhauer^{1*}

¹Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University Medical School, 1510 Clifton Road, Atlanta, GA 30322; Departments of Microbiology and Immunology², Medicine³, Jefferson Medical College, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA.

*Correspondence: D.A. Steinhauer

tel: 404-712-8542

email: dsteinh@emory.edu

M.J. Schnell

tel: 1-215-503-4634

email: Matthias.Schnell@jefferson.edu

running title: influenza vectors for priming immunity

ABSTRACT

Viral vectors based on influenza virus, rabies virus (RV), and vaccinia virus (vv) were used to express large polypeptide segments derived from the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen (PA). For the infectious influenza vector and recombinant vv constructs, the receptor binding domain (RBD or Domain 4) or the lethal and edema factor binding domain (LEF or Domain 1') were engineered into functional chimeric hemagglutinin (HA) glycoproteins. In the case of the RV vector, the viral glycoprotein (G) was used as a carrier for RBD in an inactivated form of the vector. These constructs were examined using multiple homologous and heterologous prime/boost immunization regimens in order to optimize the induction of α -PA antibody responses. Several immunization combinations were shown to induce high titers of antibody recognizing the anthrax RBD and LEF domains as well as the full-length PA protein in mice. The heterologous prime/boost immunization regimens that involved an initial intranasal administration of a live influenza vector, followed by an intramuscular boost with either the killed RV vector or the vv vector, were particularly effective, inducing antigen-specific antibodies at levels several-fold higher than homologous or alternative heterologous protocols. Furthermore, sera from several groups of the immunized mice demonstrated neutralization activity in an *in vitro* anthrax toxin neutralization assay. In some cases such toxin-neutralizing activity was notably high, indicating that the mechanisms by which immunity is primed by live influenza vectors may have beneficial properties.

INTRODUCTION

Bacillus anthracis (BA) is the causative agent of anthrax, a disease that can be fatal in humans, and a continuing concern regarding potential acts of bioterrorism (22). Presently, there is only one FDA approved vaccine against anthrax available in the United States, the anthrax vaccine absorbed (AVA). AVA is composed of culture filtrate of an avirulent non-capsulated form of BA, and it requires five or six immunizations over an 18 month period, as well as yearly boosts, to retain its effectiveness (39). One limitation of the AVA vaccine is that the intramuscular (IM) injection method of inoculation does not induce strong mucosal antibody responses and mucosal surfaces would likely be the sites where initial contact with BA would occur in the event of a deliberate release of the organism (5, 21). In addition, lot-to-lot variability in composition and adverse reactions to the vaccine have also been observed (26). For these reasons, the present vaccine is less than ideal, and would be impractical should anthrax reemerge in future acts of bioterrorism.

Protection against anthrax is thought to be mediated primarily by antibodies to the bacterial toxin, which is composed of three polypeptide subunits, the protective antigen (PA), the lethal factor (LF), and the edema factor (EF) (40). Most neutralizing antibodies target the PA subunit, which is responsible for binding to host cell receptors as well as the LF and EF toxin subunits. The PA protein is composed of 735 amino acids that fold into four structurally distinct domains (Figure 1A) (31). Two of these, domain 1 and domain 4, have been shown to be specifically targeted by neutralizing antibodies (13, 40). Domain 1 consists of amino acid residues 1-258, the first 167 of which are cleaved by the protease furin after the binding of PA to the host cell receptor, leaving domain 1' (31). Domain 1' is responsible for binding the LF and EF subunits, and is therefore referred to as the lethal factor and edema factor binding domain, or LEF (43). Domain 4 is 140 amino acids in length and is designated as the receptor binding domain (RBD), as it contains the determinants for binding to the host cell receptors, tumor endothelial marker 8 (TEM8) and capillary morphogenesis protein 2 (CMG2) (6, 27, 31, 33). Over the past several years, a number of strategies have been explored to express or deliver PA, or components of it, in efforts to improve the costs, logistics, and efficacy of anthrax vaccines (for a review see (15)). However, to date, none of these strategies have demonstrated sufficient efficacy to replace the AVA.

In contrast to the AVA, influenza vaccines elicit strong mucosal and systemic responses as early as 2-6 days post-vaccination, and are produced annually on a large scale in both live and inactivated forms (8, 42). Both formulations have been used extensively in humans with minimal adverse events being reported (12). Additionally, responses to these vaccines have been shown to encompass both the humoral and cellular branches of the immune system (4, 7). The majority of neutralizing antibodies generated by influenza vaccines recognize the hemagglutinin glycoprotein (HA) on the viral surface and this protein has also been reported to have adjuvant-like effects when co-administered with virus-like particles (7, 24).

Similar to influenza vaccines, the RV vaccine also elicits strong humoral and cellular responses in vaccinated hosts (10-11, 28-29), and has a safe history of use in humans as an inactivated vaccine (9, 18, 37). The rabies virus encodes a single envelope glycoprotein (G) which has functions analogous to the influenza HA protein, and antibodies raised against the glycoprotein have been shown to be neutralizing and long-lasting (38).

With the goal of developing improved strategies for immunization against anthrax, studies were initiated to assess the antigenic properties of influenza and RV vectors expressing chimeric glycoproteins containing functional domains of the *Bacillus anthracis* PA. Initial studies demonstrated that chimeric HA proteins were able to express on cell surfaces in native oligomeric form and maintain HA functions required for host cell entry. Infectious influenza viruses containing these chimeric HA/PA proteins were also able to replicate to titers similar to WT viruses and the inserts were found to remain genetically stable over multiple rounds of replication. In addition, mice immunized with a single intranasal (IN) inoculum of these chimeric viruses generated high antibody titers specific for the inserted PA fragments. Furthermore, immunization with chimeric plasmids containing the recombinant HAs elicited stronger antibody responses against these domains than plasmids containing the anthrax domains alone suggesting that the HA does have an adjuvant effect (25).

Similarly, initial studies using chimeric RV G proteins containing the RBD domain from *Bacillus anthracis* PA showed that these chimeric proteins were able to incorporate into virus particles and that mice immunized with live or

inactivated forms of the vector mounted antibody responses against the inserted RBD domain. The humoral responses measured in mice after a single inoculation with this vector were similar to those seen in mice that were immunized with 150 times that amount of recombinant PA alone. This vector was also shown to stimulate a Th2 type response when given at doses of 50 ng or more (36). However, despite the induction of high levels of antibodies specific for PA by both the influenza and RV vectors, we were unable to detect anthrax toxin neutralization activity in the sera of immunized mice using *in vitro* assays when antigens were administered in homologous fashion.

Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to examine quantitatively and qualitatively, the antibody responses induced by these viral vectors using alternative prime/boost strategies. In addition to the influenza and RV vectors described above, recombinant vv was engineered to express the chimeric HA/PA proteins and used to optimize the immunization protocols and aid in defining our interpretations. We confirmed that each vector was capable of inducing specific antibody responses and that a second inoculation with the homologous constructs yielded moderate antibody boosting effects. However, we observed a striking increase in PA-specific antibody titers following heterologous prime/boost approaches when using the influenza vector as the primary immunogen. Furthermore, using an *in vitro* toxin neutralization assay, we found that the immunization protocols involving influenza priming and heterologous vector boosting induced particularly high neutralizing antibody titers against the inserted domains. These results suggest that immunization regimens involving a primary immunization with live influenza vectors may induce initial immune response pathways that are advantageous for the production of antibodies directed against certain pathogens. Such broadly applicable approaches, and the mechanisms by which they operate, may warrant consideration for the design of novel vaccination strategies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Construction of plasmids and viral vectors. The plasmids used for constructing the viral vectors utilized in this study, as well as the generation and growth of these viral vectors, has been described previously (25, 36). Briefly, for the chimeric LEF/HA and RBD/HA constructs, the HA gene from the H3 subtype influenza A strain A/Aichi/2/68 was used as the backbone, and the *B. anthracis* domain 1' (LEF) and domain 4 (RBD) regions of the PA gene were constructed by single-chain oligonucleotide extension with codons optimized for mammalian usage (16). The chimeric genes were initially cloned into pRB21 to generate recombinant vaccinia viruses for protein expression and functional studies (3), and these vv vectors were subsequently used for immunization studies as well. Recombinant infectious influenza viruses were generated using the 17 plasmid system initially described by (30). For the rabies construct, anthrax PA D4 was amplified from pGEM PA63 and cloned into pBS-STS to yield pD4- Δ ED (34). The RV ectodomain fragment was ligated into pD4- Δ ED resulting in pD4-E51. The

recombinant RV expressing pD4-E51 was digested with *BsI*WI and *Nhe*I and the D4-51 fragment was ligated to pSPBN, resulting in pSPBN-D4-E51. Recombinant rabies viruses were recovered using standard methods (14).

Immunizations. Female Balb/C mice (6 to 8 weeks old) were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. The mice were infected with 1×10^5 pfu of the recombinant influenza viruses I.N., 3×10^6 pfu of the recombinant vaccinia viruses I.P., or 10 µg of inactivated RV virus SPBN-D4-E51 i.m. (5 µg in each hind leg). For the mixed infections, the total pfu and routes of infection were the same. Influenza viruses for the IM immunizations were inactivated by treatment with β-propiolactone (23). The mice were bled via cheek bleed at the times indicated and the sera were collected after spinning at 13,000 RPM for ten minutes in a tabletop centrifuge. The sera were stored at -80° C until use.

ELISA. ELISA assays were performed as described previously (25). Briefly, NUNC MaxiSorp plates (cat # 442404) were coated with 2.5 μg per well of recombinant PA, RBD, or LEF (obtained from BEI Resources) or standard amounts of mouse IgG diluted in BSS buffer and kept at 4° C overnight. The following day, serum was added at different concentrations and the plates were washed three times with PBS 0.2% Tween 20 before HRP conjugated goat mouse IgG was added (Sigma cat # A4416). SigmaFast OPD tablets (cat # P9187) were used to develop the plates. The reactions were stopped with 0.1 N H_2SO_4 and the plates were read at 490 nm. Standard curves were constructed from the IgG standards and antibody concentrations were calculated from these.

Toxin Neutralization Assay. Toxin neutralization assays were performed as previously described (20). Sera from the different groups of mice were pooled, serially diluted and pre-incubated with 250 ng/ml rPA and 50 ng/ml lethal factor (final concentrations). After 30 minutes, these were added to 96-well plates containing J774A.1 macrophage cells for three hours. 25 μ l of 5 mg/ml MTT dissolved in PBS was then added to the wells for two hours at 37 C at which time DMF/SDS was added to each well to lyse the cells. The plates were incubated overnight and then read at 570 nm the next day. The concentration of serum that protected 50% of the cells was determined by comparing to wells that did not receive toxin.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Design of chimeric proteins and generation of viral vectors. The constructs involved in the generation and expression of the chimeric PA proteins analyzed in this study are outlined in Figure 1. Figure 1a shows the structure of the PA protein and highlights the individual domains. Based on structural considerations, coding regions for 90 residues corresponding to the LEF domain, and 140 residues corresponding to the RBD domain were cloned for insertion

into chimeric proteins. These were inserted near the N-terminus of the HA protein (Figure 1b), as it has been shown that this region of the protein is able to accommodate large polypeptide insertions in both H3 and H7 subtype HAs (17, 25). The constructs were designed to express the inserted domains at the N-terminus of the HA ectodomain following cleavage of the signal peptide (Figure 1c). This site was selected because it is believed to best support the folding of the inserted polypeptide domains, as well as the HA backbone, into native structures based on structural observations.

Initially, the HA/RBD and HA/LEF proteins were expressed using recombinant vaccinia viruses to verify cell surface expression, folding, and functional properties of the chimeric proteins. These vv recombinants were also used for some of the immunization regimens described below. The same chimeric HA/RBD and HA/LEF proteins were also used to generate infectious recombinant influenza viruses, which were shown to remain genetically stable and replicate to high titers in cell culture or embryonated eggs (25). For the rabies virus vector used in this study, the RBD domain was inserted into the rabies virus glycoprotein as an N-terminal replacement for most of the ectodomain (Figure 1d). As mentioned previously, these chimeric proteins have been shown to incorporate efficiently into infectious virus (36).



Figure 1. Bacillus anthracis protective antigen and vector constructs. a) PA structure showing the location and size of the LEF and RBD domains (31). b) Structural depiction of the influenza HA indicating the insertion site of the PA domains. c) Schematic diagram depicting the wildtype HA from A/Aichi/2/68 as well as the organization of the constructs with respect to location of the PA domains in the primary amino acid sequence. d) Schematic diagram depicting the wildtype rabies glycoprotein and the organization of the RBD domain in the truncated rabies G protein. For a more detailed description refer to (36). Inf = influenza, SP = signal peptide, TM = transmembrane domain, CD = cytoplasmic domain, rab = rabies
Immune responses using homologous or heterologous prime/boost regimens. For the experiments involving influenza viral vectors, mice were inoculated intranasally (i.n.), and for the experiments involving inactivated RV mice were inoculated intramuscularly (i.m.). Groups of six mice were pre-bled, then inoculated with the influenza vector containing the chimeric HA/RBD protein (inf-RBD), the influenza vector with the chimeric HA/LEF protein (inf-LEF), a mixture of the two recombinant influenza viral vectors (inf-MIX), the rabies virus containing the RBD domain (rab-RBD), or vaccinia viruses expressing either HA/LEF (vv-LEF) or a mixture of HA/LEF and HA/RBD (vv-MIX). Mice were bled at day 28, and bled, then boosted on day 42 with either the homologous vector or a heterologous vector. Following the boost on day 42, blood was taken weekly up to day 77 (35 days post-boost).

Sera from immunized mice were analyzed by ELISA to evaluate IgG reactivity to purified His-tagged LEF domain recombinant protein, His-tagged RBD domain recombinant protein, or complete recombinant PA protein. The data for these are shown in Figures 2 and 3. Specifically, Figure 2 shows the data for the influenza and RV prime/boost experiments. The data for reactivity to each antigen are displayed on separate graphs for homologous (Fig. 2a-c) or heterologous (Fig. 2 d-f) boost experiments to allow data points to be more easily distinguished. The data in Figure 2a show that the antibody titers against the RBD domain following the homologous prime/boost regimens were specific, as there is no titer observed for the mice inoculated with the LEF constructs. The immunizations with inf-RBD alone or a mixture of inf-RBD and inf-LEF gave

similar results, and provided for the higher initial antibody responses than the rab-RBD vector, as measured on days 28 and 42 following inoculation. However, the boost effect was greatest for mice primed with inf-RBD or inf-MIX and boosted by intramuscular inoculation with the RV vectors, which resulted in titers of about 10⁴ ng/ml of IgG in sera following the boost. The reason for the rather moderate boost effect observed with the homologous influenza vector regimen is not known, but may result from immunity to the influenza virus generated during the priming phase leading to the inhibition of replication with this live virus vector during the boosting phase.

As shown in Figure 2b, all vectors were capable of inducing antibodies against purified recombinant PA protein. The results following homologous prime/boost regimens again show that the influenza vectors provided for higher initial responses, but the homologous RV protocol imparted a larger boosting effect. The α -PA data also highlight that the inf-LEF, as well as the inf-RBD, can induce significant antibody responses to intact PA. The ELISA data showing the reactivity of sera to purified His-tagged LEF protein (Figure 2c) indicate that the antibody response induced specifically to this domain are quite robust, even following a single inoculation. All influenza constructs also induced sizable antibody responses to the HA component of the chimeric protein (25) (data not shown).

The IgG antibody responses induced following heterologous prime/boost regimens are shown in Figures 2d, 2e, and 2f. The striking feature of these results involves the magnitude of the antibody responses induced by priming with

the influenza vectors followed by boosting with the RV vectors, which reached titers on the order of 10^5 ng/ml. This was approximately one log higher than those observed for the reciprocal RV/influenza regimen, and about four-fold higher than determined for homologous prime/boost experiments with the rabies constructs alone. This suggests that the influenza vectors are advantageous over the other vectors tested with respect to the mechanism of immune system priming. This could be due to several things, such as its properties as a live replicating vector, the route of inoculation in the respiratory tract, or the types of antigen presenting cells in these tissues. Single inoculations with the influenza-LEF viruses once again generated strong α -LEF responses, but, as expected, were not boosted by the rabies virus containing the RBD domain.

Although boosting with homologous viruses resulted in modest increases in antibody titers, the more striking results observed in influenza primed-rabies boosted mice may suggest that a heterologous boost is needed in order to avoid preexisting immunity to the original vector. This hypothesis is further supported by the ELISA data shown in Figure 3 that was obtained after boosting with the recombinant vaccinia viruses described above, which express chimeric HA/RBD or HA/LEF proteins equivalent to those in the influenza vectors. These data indicate that the vv vectors were able to boost the α -PA and α -RBD antibody titers to levels similar to those seen with the influenza primed-rabies boosted groups. The enhanced boost effect was also observed with the mice that were primed with inf-LEF and then boosted with vv-LEF, for which the serum titers were almost a log higher than those primed and boosted with inf-LEF alone (Fig. 3b). These results suggest that a heterologous boost is necessary in order to achieve these high antibody levels.



Figure 2. Antibody responses following immunization with viral vectors. ELISA titers determined using purified recombinant PA, or His-tagged RBD or LEF proteins as antigen. a) α -RBD, b) α -PA, or c) α -LEF antibody titers in mice before and following boosting on day 42 with homologous vectors. d) α -RBD, e) α -PA, or f) α -LEF antibody titers in mice before and following boosting on day 42 with homologous vectors. d) α -RBD, e) α -PA, or f) α -LEF antibody titers in mice before and following boosting on day 42 with homologous vectors.



Figure 3. Antibody responses following heterologous boosting. a) α -RBD, b) α -PA, or c) α -LEF antibody titers in mice before and following priming and boosting with the indicated vectors.

Boost effects using alternative routes of inoculation. To examine whether the route of inoculation is responsible for the boost effects observed in Figure 2d-f and Figure 3, groups of mice were primed with inf-RBD IN or rab-RBD IM and then boosted IM with one of these two vectors on day 51. The results from these regimens are shown in Figure 4. Naïve mice immunized with either rab-RBD IM or β -propiolactone inactivated inf-RBD IM showed similar antibody titers against RBD, demonstrating that the influenza vectors are immunogenic when given by this route. However, antibody levels were only slightly increased in mice that were primed with rab-RBD IM or inf-RBD IN and then boosted with inf-RBD IM. In this experiment, high levels of α -RBD antibodies were again observed with the influenza IN/rabies IM regime, confirming the data from the experiments detailed in Figure 2. These data suggest that it is unlikely that the route of inoculation alone is responsible for the increased titers observed in the inf-RBD primed/rab-RBD boosted mice. Perhaps in inactivated form, the rabies vector displays the antigen more effectively, or persists for a longer period of time.



Figure 4. Antibody responses following intramuscular boosting. α-RBD antibody titers in mice before and following intramuscular boosts with the indicated vector on day 42.

In vitro toxin neutralization. The ability of serum obtained in the experiments detailed in Figures 2 and 3 to neutralize anthrax toxin in vitro was assessed using an MTT cell viability assay with J774 macrophage cells (32). In this assay, a neutralization titer greater than 100 is considered positive and anything less than that is reported as <100. The results of this assay using pooled sera from different groups of mice taken at day 28 post-prime and days 56 or 77 (days 14 and 35 post-boost) were analyzed and are shown in Table 1. No neutralization was observed for mice that were primed with rab-RBD regardless of the time-point or immunization protocol. Similarly, no neutralization was seen in mice that were primed with the inf-LEF vector, even though the mice that were boosted with vv-LEF displayed very high α -LEF titers (Figure 3). This suggests that α -LEF antibodies alone may not be neutralizing in a BALB/c mouse background. In contrast, neutralizing activity was detectable with mice that were primed with a mix of inf-LEF and inf-RBD (inf-MIX) and boosted with either rab-RBD or a mix of vv-LEF and vv-RBD (vv-Mix). The only group that demonstrated any neutralization activity prior to being boosted was the inf-RBD primed group. This is not surprising as it correlates with the slightly higher antibody titers observed in these mice by ELISA at this time point (Figures 2, 3, and 4). Neutralizing activity remained detectable at day 14 following a homologous boost with inf-RBD, but had waned by day 35. The most striking results can be seen in the mice that were primed with inf-RBD and then boosted with rab-RBD. These mice had a neutralizing titer of 1038 on day 14 post-boost, and this increased to 7039 by day 35. The observation that the neutralization titers increased for this

group, while the total specific antibody detectable by ELISA decreased (Figure 2) is noteworthy. Potential explanations for this may involve B cell affinity maturation or somatic hypermutation in germinal centers during this time. As noted above, it is also possible that persistence of antigen with the RV vector could play a role as well.

Although the α -LEF antibodies were not shown to be neutralizing in these experiments, the correlates of toxin neutralization from challenge by live BA appear to vary with the animal model and genetic background. Indeed, α -LEF antibodies have been shown to be protective in C57BL/6 mice immunized with a purified form of this domain, and two mAbs with toxin-neutralizing activity were shown to recognize distinct epitopes within this domain (2). The lack of neutralizing ability with α -LEF sera observed here could be attributed to the use of BALB/c mice, as the responses to all domains have been demonstrated to be variable depending on the genetic background of immunized mice (1). Using a killed, but metabolically active (KBMA) form of BA, Skoble et al. demonstrated protection of mice against live spore challenges even though the -PA antibodies in the sera were measured at levels of approximately 1x10³ ng/ml (35). This concentration is considerably lower than the antibody titers generated in our study, although other factors were also likely to be involved in the protective effects of the KBMA vaccine. Other studies suggest that the mouse model utilized here is not ideal for animal protection studies, particularly with regard to the role of α -PA responses (19, 41). Further examination of our constructs and immunization protocols in alternative animal models, for both the induction of toxin neutralization activity as well as protection from a BA spore challenge, are being planned.

Importantly, this study demonstrates that simultaneous immunization with two homologous vectors, one containing the LEF domain and the other the RBD domain, results in antibodies against both domains and that both responses can be boosted by heterologous vectors (Figure 3). This could prove beneficial when immunizing more heterogeneous populations, including humans who have multiple MHC alleles. As with any vector-based immunization approach, preexisting immunity to the vector must be considered. Rabies has low seroprevalence in humans, and the expanding structural knowledge of the 16 HA subtypes should make it possible to construct influenza vectors with subtypes to which humans have no preexisting immunity. Indeed, pre-existing immunity to influenza vectors may not pose the problems that are envisaged, as drift strains appear capable of re-infecting individuals despite minimal changes to antigenic sites of HA. Nonetheless, the efficacy of alternative constructs in mice that have been previously infected with different influenza subtypes is ongoing.

It is interesting to note that none of the sera from mice primed with rab-RBD demonstrated neutralization capacity, regardless of the immunization protocol. This suggests that the mechanism by which intranasal infection by live influenza viruses prime the immune system in this mouse model provides a desirable effect. Several factors could be responsible for this, including the properties of a live vector versus an inactivated vector, or possibly the species or environment of antigen presenting cells encountered in the respiratory tract. These issues merit further examination, as they may be relevant for the design of immunogens unrelated to those examined in this study. Furthermore, the utility of employing chimeric influenza and rabies virus vectors such as those described here, is not limited to a single pathogen, but can be broadly applicable.

Priming virus (day 0)	day 28 titer	Boost virus (day 42)	day 56 titer	day 77 titer
rabies-RBD	<100	rabies-RBD	<100	<100
		inf-RBD	<100	<100
		inf-LEF	<100	<100
		inf-mix	<100	<100
inf-RBD	166	rabies-RBD	1038	7039
		inf-RBD	163	<100
inf-LEF	<100	rabies-RBD	<100	<100
		inf-LEF	<100	<100
		vv-LEF	<100	<100
inf-mix	<100	rabies-RBD	165	241
		inf-mix	<100	<100
		vv-mix	165	<100
WT H3N1	<100			
Naïve	<100			

Anthrax toxin neutralizing titers

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Johnny Peterson and Laurie Sower for generous assistance in carrying out these studies, and Summer Galloway, Ganesh Talekar, and Tim Barnett for critical comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by NIH Public Health Service grant AI/EB53359 to D.A.S. and contract HHSN266200700006C from NIH/NIAID.

REFERENCES

- Abboud, N., and A. Casadevall. 2008. Immunogenicity of Bacillus anthracis protective antigen domains and efficacy of elicited antibody responses depend on host genetic background. Clin Vaccine Immunol 15:1115-23.
- Abboud, N., M. De Jesus, A. Nakouzi, R. J. Cordero, M. Pujato, A. Fiser, J. Rivera, and A. Casadevall. 2009. Identification of Linear Epitopes in Bacillus anthracis Protective Antigen Bound by Neutralizing Antibodies. J Biol Chem 284:25077-86.
- Blasco, R., and B. Moss. 1995. Selection of recombinant vaccinia viruses on the basis of plaque formation. Gene 158:157-62.

- Blazevic, V., C. M. Trubey, and G. M. Shearer. 2000. Comparison of in vitro immunostimulatory potential of live and inactivated influenza viruses. Hum Immunol 61:845-9.
- Boyaka, P. N., A. Tafaro, R. Fischer, S. H. Leppla, K. Fujihashi, and J. R. McGhee. 2003. Effective mucosal immunity to anthrax: neutralizing antibodies and Th cell responses following nasal immunization with protective antigen. J Immunol 170:5636-43.
- Bradley, K. A., J. Mogridge, M. Mourez, R. J. Collier, and J. A. Young.
 2001. Identification of the cellular receptor for anthrax toxin. Nature
 414:225-9.
- Cox, R. J., K. A. Brokstad, and P. Ogra. 2004. Influenza virus: immunity and vaccination strategies. Comparison of the immune response to inactivated and live, attenuated influenza vaccines. Scand J Immunol 59:1-15.
- Cox, R. J., K. A. Brokstad, M. A. Zuckerman, J. M. Wood, L. R. Haaheim, and J. S. Oxford. 1994. An early humoral immune response in peripheral blood following parenteral inactivated influenza vaccination. Vaccine 12:993-9.
- Dietzschold, B., M. Faber, and M. J. Schnell. 2003. New approaches to the prevention and eradication of rabies. Expert Rev Vaccines 2:399-406.
- Faul, E. J., P. P. Aye, A. B. Papaneri, B. Pahar, J. P. McGettigan, F. Schiro, I. Chervoneva, D. C. Montefiori, A. A. Lackner, and M. J. Schnell. 2009. Rabies virus-based vaccines elicit neutralizing antibodies,

poly-functional CD8+ T cell, and protect rhesus macaques from AIDS-like disease after SIV(mac251) challenge. Vaccine **28:**299-308.

- Faul, E. J., C. N. Wanjalla, J. P. McGettigan, and M. J. Schnell. 2008. Interferon-beta expressed by a rabies virus-based HIV-1 vaccine vector serves as a molecular adjuvant and decreases pathogenicity. Virology 382:226-38.
- 12. Fleming, D. M., P. Crovari, U. Wahn, T. Klemola, Y. Schlesinger, A. Langussis, K. Oymar, M. L. Garcia, A. Krygier, H. Costa, U. Heininger, J. L. Pregaldien, S. M. Cheng, J. Skinner, A. Razmpour, M. Saville, W. C. Gruber, and B. Forrest. 2006. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of live attenuated cold-adapted influenza vaccine, trivalent, with trivalent inactivated influenza virus vaccine in children and adolescents with asthma. Pediatr Infect Dis J 25:860-9.
- Flick-Smith, H. C., N. J. Walker, P. Gibson, H. Bullifent, S. Hayward, J. Miller, R. W. Titball, and E. D. Williamson. 2002. A recombinant carboxy-terminal domain of the protective antigen of Bacillus anthracis protects mice against anthrax infection. Infect Immun 70:1653-6.
- Foley, H. D., J. P. McGettigan, C. A. Siler, B. Dietzschold, and M. J. Schnell. 2000. A recombinant rabies virus expressing vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein fails to protect against rabies virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:14680-5.
- 15. Friedlander, A. M., and S. F. Little. 2009. Advances in the development of next-generation anthrax vaccines. Vaccine **27 Suppl 4:**D28-32.

- 16. Haas, J., E. C. Park, and B. Seed. 1996. Codon usage limitation in the expression of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein. Curr Biol 6:315-24.
- Hatziioannou, T., E. Delahaye, F. Martin, S. J. Russell, and F. L.
 Cosset. 1999. Retroviral display of functional binding domains fused to the amino terminus of influenza hemagglutinin. Hum Gene Ther 10:1533-44.
- Haupt, W. 1999. Rabies--risk of exposure and current trends in prevention of human cases. Vaccine 17:1742-9.
- Heninger, S., M. Drysdale, J. Lovchik, J. Hutt, M. F. Lipscomb, T. M. Koehler, and C. R. Lyons. 2006. Toxin-deficient mutants of Bacillus anthracis are lethal in a murine model for pulmonary anthrax. Infect Immun 74:6067-74.
- Hering, D., W. Thompson, J. Hewetson, S. Little, S. Norris, and J. Pace-Templeton. 2004. Validation of the anthrax lethal toxin neutralization assay. Biologicals 32:17-27.
- Ivins, B. E., M. L. Pitt, P. F. Fellows, J. W. Farchaus, G. E. Benner, D. M. Waag, S. F. Little, G. W. Anderson, Jr., P. H. Gibbs, and A. M. Friedlander. 1998. Comparative efficacy of experimental anthrax vaccine candidates against inhalation anthrax in rhesus macaques. Vaccine 16:1141-8.
- 22. Jernigan, D. B., P. L. Raghunathan, B. P. Bell, R. Brechner, E. A. Bresnitz, J. C. Butler, M. Cetron, M. Cohen, T. Doyle, M. Fischer, C. Greene, K. S. Griffith, J. Guarner, J. L. Hadler, J. A. Hayslett, R.

Meyer, L. R. Petersen, M. Phillips, R. Pinner, T. Popovic, C. P. Quinn,
J. Reefhuis, D. Reissman, N. Rosenstein, A. Schuchat, W. J. Shieh, L.
Siegal, D. L. Swerdlow, F. C. Tenover, M. Traeger, J. W. Ward, I.
Weisfuse, S. Wiersma, K. Yeskey, S. Zaki, D. A. Ashford, B. A.
Perkins, S. Ostroff, J. Hughes, D. Fleming, J. P. Koplan, and J. L.
Gerberding. 2002. Investigation of bioterrorism-related anthrax, United
States, 2001: epidemiologic findings. Emerg Infect Dis 8:1019-28.

- Jiang, S. D., D. Pye, and J. C. Cox. 1986. Inactivation of poliovirus with beta-propiolactone. J Biol Stand 14:103-9.
- 24. Kang, S. M., L. Guo, Q. Yao, I. Skountzou, and R. W. Compans. 2004. Intranasal immunization with inactivated influenza virus enhances immune responses to coadministered simian-human immunodeficiency virus-like particle antigens. J Virol 78:9624-32.
- 25. Li, Z. N., S. N. Mueller, L. Ye, Z. Bu, C. Yang, R. Ahmed, and D. A. Steinhauer. 2005. Chimeric influenza virus hemagglutinin proteins containing large domains of the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen: protein characterization, incorporation into infectious influenza viruses, and antigenicity. J Virol **79:**10003-12.
- Little, S. F. 2005. Anthrax vaccines: a development update. BioDrugs 19:233-45.
- Liu, S., and S. H. Leppla. 2003. Cell surface tumor endothelium marker 8 cytoplasmic tail-independent anthrax toxin binding, proteolytic processing, oligomer formation, and internalization. J Biol Chem 278:5227-34.

- McGettigan, J. P., M. L. Koser, P. M. McKenna, M. E. Smith, J. M. Marvin, L. C. Eisenlohr, B. Dietzschold, and M. J. Schnell. 2006. Enhanced humoral HIV-1-specific immune responses generated from recombinant rhabdoviral-based vaccine vectors co-expressing HIV-1 proteins and IL-2. Virology 344:363-77.
- McKenna, P. M., M. L. Koser, K. R. Carlson, D. C. Montefiori, N. L. Letvin, A. B. Papaneri, R. J. Pomerantz, B. Dietzschold, P. Silvera, J. P. McGettigan, and M. J. Schnell. 2007. Highly attenuated rabies virus-based vaccine vectors expressing simian-human immunodeficiency virus89.6P Env and simian immunodeficiency virusmac239 Gag are safe in rhesus macaques and protect from an AIDS-like disease. J Infect Dis 195:980-8.
- Neumann, G., T. Watanabe, H. Ito, S. Watanabe, H. Goto, P. Gao, M. Hughes, D. R. Perez, R. Donis, E. Hoffmann, G. Hobom, and Y. Kawaoka. 1999. Generation of influenza A viruses entirely from cloned cDNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:9345-50.
- 31. Petosa, C., R. J. Collier, K. R. Klimpel, S. H. Leppla, and R. C. Liddington. 1997. Crystal structure of the anthrax toxin protective antigen. Nature **385**:833-8.
- 32. Pitt, M. L., S. F. Little, B. E. Ivins, P. Fellows, J. Barth, J. Hewetson, P. Gibbs, M. Dertzbaugh, and A. M. Friedlander. 2001. In vitro correlate of immunity in a rabbit model of inhalational anthrax. Vaccine 19:4768-73.

- 33. Scobie, H. M., G. J. Rainey, K. A. Bradley, and J. A. Young. 2003. Human capillary morphogenesis protein 2 functions as an anthrax toxin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:5170-4.
- Sellman, B. R., M. Mourez, and R. J. Collier. 2001. Dominant-negative mutants of a toxin subunit: an approach to therapy of anthrax. Science 292:695-7.
- 35. Skoble, J., J. W. Beaber, Y. Gao, J. A. Lovchik, L. E. Sower, W. Liu, W. Luckett, J. W. Peterson, R. Calendar, D. A. Portnoy, C. R. Lyons, and T. W. Dubensky, Jr. 2009. Killed but metabolically active Bacillus anthracis vaccines induce broad and protective immunity against anthrax. Infect Immun 77:1649-63.
- Smith, M. E., M. Koser, S. Xiao, C. Siler, J. P. McGettigan, C. Calkins,
 R. J. Pomerantz, B. Dietzschold, and M. J. Schnell. 2006. Rabies virus glycoprotein as a carrier for anthrax protective antigen. Virology 353:344-56.
- 37. Strady, A., J. Lang, M. Lienard, C. Blondeau, R. Jaussaud, and S. A. Plotkin. 1998. Antibody persistence following preexposure regimens of cell-culture rabies vaccines: 10-year follow-up and proposal for a new booster policy. J Infect Dis 177:1290-5.
- 38. Thraenhart, O., E. Kreuzfelder, M. Hillebrandt, I. Marcus, K. Ramakrishnan, Z. F. Fu, and B. Dietzschold. 1994. Long-term humoral and cellular immunity after vaccination with cell culture rabies vaccines in man. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 71:287-92.

- Turnbull, P. C. 1991. Anthrax vaccines: past, present and future. Vaccine 9:533-9.
- Welkos, S., S. Little, A. Friedlander, D. Fritz, and P. Fellows. 2001. The role of antibodies to Bacillus anthracis and anthrax toxin components in inhibiting the early stages of infection by anthrax spores. Microbiology 147:1677-85.
- 41. Welkos, S. L., and A. M. Friedlander. 1988. Pathogenesis and genetic control of resistance to the Sterne strain of Bacillus anthracis. Microb Pathog **4**:53-69.
- Yarchoan, R., B. R. Murphy, W. Strober, H. S. Schneider, and D. L.
 Nelson. 1981. Specific anti-influenza virus antibody production in vitro by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Immunol 127:2588-94.
- Zhao, J., J. C. Milne, and R. J. Collier. 1995. Effect of anthrax toxin's lethal factor on ion channels formed by the protective antigen. J Biol Chem 270:18626-30.

Chapter 5

The effects of preexisting immunity to influenza on responses to influenza

vectors in mice

The work presented in this chapter has been submitted for publication in *Vaccine*.

The effects of preexisting immunity to influenza on responses to influenza vectors in mice

William A. Langley ^a, Zhu-Nan Li ^{a,b}, Konrad C. Bradley ^a, Ganesh R. Talekar ^a, Summer E. Galloway ^a, David A. Steinhauer ^{a*}

^aDepartment of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University Medical School, 1510 Clifton Road, Atlanta, GA 30322

^bCurrent address: Influenza Division, National Center for Immunization and RespiratoryDiseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA 30333

^{*}Correspondence:

D.A. Steinhauer

tel: 404-712-8542

email: dsteinh@emory.edu

Abstract

The use of viral vectors as vaccine candidates has shown promise against a number of pathogens. However, preexisting immunity to these vectors is a concern that must be addressed when deciding which viruses are suitable for use. A number of properties, including the existence of antigenically distinct subtypes, make influenza viruses attractive candidates for use as viral vectors. Here, we evaluate the ability of influenza viral vectors containing inserts of foreign pathogens to elicit antibody and CD8⁺ T cell responses against these foreign antigens in the presence of preexisting immunity to influenza virus in mice. Specifically, responses to an H3N1-based vector expressing a 90 amino acid polypeptide derived from the protective antigen (PA) of Bacillus anthracis or an H1N1-based vector containing a CD8⁺ T cell epitope from the glycoprotein (GP) of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus were evaluated following infections with either homosubtypic or heterosubtypic influenza viruses. We found that mice previously infected with influenza viruses, even those expressing HA and NA proteins of completely different subtypes, were severely compromised in their ability to mount an immune response against the inserted epitopes. This inhibition was demonstrated to be mediated by CD8⁺ T cells, which recognize multiple strains of influenza viruses. These CD8⁺ T cells were further shown to protect mice from a lethal challenge by a heterologous influenza subtype. The implication of these data for the use of influenza virus vectors and influenza vaccination in general are discussed.

1. Introduction

Vaccination strategies involving viral vectors have continued to expand and evolve over recent years to target many pathogens, including some for which vaccine development has otherwise proven to be problematic. Replicating vectors elicit immune responses, both humoral and cellular, that are greater in magnitude and longer lasting when compared to many non-replicating vaccines [1-4]. This enhanced immunity is likely due to several factors, including the ability of viral vectors to display the antigens in their native state on viral surfaces, desirable for B cell responses, and the ability of host antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to display viral epitopes derived from proteins synthesized in their cytoplasm in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, a requisite for effective CD8⁺ T cell responses [5].

A wide variety of viruses are currently being developed for use as vaccine vectors, including adenovirus, canarypox virus, rhabdoviruses, measles virus, and modified vaccinia virus Ankara, to name just a few [6-10]. A number of factors must be taken into account when choosing which viruses may be optimal to develop as vectors. Viral vectors must be safe, genetically stable, immunogenic, and efficiently targeted to the appropriate tissue, whether directed by vector tropism or the route of inoculation by which it is administered. Another fundamental consideration for vaccine vector suitability is preexisting immunity to the vector itself. Populations are likely to have immunity to viral vectors that they have been exposed to by natural infection or by vaccination, and this preexisting

immunity is likely render these vectors ineffective or at least less effective than those to which no prior immunity exists.

Influenza virus has many properties that make it a viable candidate for use as a viral vector. Infection with influenza virus elicits robust humoral and cellular immune responses in hosts [2, 11-13]. Influenza vaccines have an extensive record of effectiveness and safety in the human population and are manufactured in both live and inactivated forms annually [14-16]. A reverse genetics system has been developed for influenza which facilitates the manipulation of individual viral segments and allows for the generation of recombinant influenza strains [17]. In addition, extensive knowledge of both the structure and function of the hemagglutinin (HA) glycoprotein exists [18-21] and we have previously shown that it is able to accommodate large insertions of foreign proteins while maintaining its normal functions. When expressed in recombinant influenza viruses, these chimeric proteins are able to elicit antibodies against the inserted fragments [22]. Furthermore, the HA protein has been reported to have an adjuvant effect when administered as a component of virus-like particles containing epitopes derived from simian immunodeficiency viruses [23].

Although influenza infections are common in humans, infecting 5-20% of Americans each year [24], immunity to influenza viruses is largely mediated by antibodies against the HA and neuraminidase (NA) glycoproteins, both of which continually undergo genotypic and phenotypic changes in response to host selective pressures. This progressive modification of the antigenic properties of viral surface proteins often necessitates reformulation of influenza vaccines in order to maximize immune protection.

Based on non-overlapping reactivity with polyclonal antisera, sixteen different HA subtypes and nine distinct NA subtypes have now been identified to circulate in waterfowl, the natural host of the virus. Importantly, immunity against one subtype does not confer immunity to the others [25]. Of the existing HA and NA subtypes, only three HA (H1, H2, and H3) and two NA (N1 and N2) subtypes have become established in humans during the past century, suggesting that it might be possible to develop influenza vectors for use in humans that express HA and NA subtypes to which preexisting immunity would not be present [25-26].

Although a comprehensive analysis of data from the recent pandemic of H1N1 viruses may provide new insights when fully developed, the extent to which subtype cross reactivity can protect or ameliorate disease symptoms in humans is not well understood. It is known that individuals are susceptible to repeated infection, not only with novel subtypes, but with viruses of the same subtype that have undergone antigenic drift. In efforts to understand this, and to evaluate vaccine candidates in general, a number of animal models have been utilized for studies on influenza virus replication and immune responses. Among these, ferrets have long been considered the best models, and Guinea pigs and hamsters have been proposed as preferable alternatives for some purposes [27-28]. However, due to their size, expense considerations, and the detailed knowledge of the genetics of immune responses, the mouse model has been utilized extensively [29]. A more detailed understanding of the effects of

preexisting immunity to influenza viruses on subsequent infections with the virus, and on the capacity of influenza vectors to present antigen in the face of it, will be useful for animal models as well as humans.

Previous work from our group showed that recombinant influenza viruses expressing chimeric HA proteins containing the lethal and edema factor binding domain (LEF) from the protective antigen (PA) of *Bacillus anthracis* toxin induced robust antibody responses in mice that were specific for the inserted domain [22]. A more recent study demonstrated that the responses generated by these vectors were not significantly enhanced following a second inoculation with the homologous vectors, but could be markedly boosted by heterologous rabies or vaccinia vectors (Langley et al., submitted). In addition to our studies, there have been numerous other reports highlighting the effectiveness of influenza virus vectors as vaccine candidates for other pathogens [22, 30-33]. None of these, however, to our knowledge, have examined the effect of preexisting immunity to heterosubtypic influenza viruses on their ability to elicit immune responses. In the present study, we examine the effect of preexisting homosubtypic or heterosubtypic immunity to influenza virus on the ability to mount an immune response to an influenza vector with a chimeric HA protein containing the 90 amino acid LEF domain from the protective antigen of *Bacillus anthracis*. Our results show that infection of mice with influenza viruses, regardless of the subtype, severely inhibits their ability to generate an immune response against the inserted LEF domain. In addition, the data demonstrate that CD8⁺ T cells recognizing conserved epitopes within the influenza virus mediate this inhibition,

and that these cross-reactive CD8⁺ T cells are able to protect mice from a lethal challenge with a heterosubtypic influenza virus.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Viruses, influenza vectors, mice, and infections

The influenza viruses utilized in this study were H1N1 (mouse adapted A/PR/8/34), H3N2 (mouse adapted A/Aichi/2/68), H3N1 (A/WSN/33 NA and internal genes and A/Aichi/2/68 HA), and H1N2 (A/WSN/33 HA and internal genes and A/Aichi/2/68 NA). The inf-LEF and the PR8-33 vectors utilized in this study, as well as the generation and growth of these vectors, have been described previously [22, 34]. Briefly, inf-LEF consists of A/WSN/33 NA and internal segments and a chimeric A/Aichi/2/68 HA protein into which the lethal and edema factor binding domain (LEF) from the *Bacillus anthracis* protective antigen has been inserted. The PR8-33 vector is a wild type A/PR/8/34 virus into which the LCMV GP₃₃₋₄₁ epitope (KAVYNFATM) has been inserted into the NA stalk at residue 42. Influenza was inactivated by treatment with β -propiolactone as previously described [35].

Female C57BL/6J mice (6 to 8 weeks old) were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. All mice were inoculated IN with the following amounts of virus or viral vectors, which were determined experimentally in previous studies with these viruses: H3N1, H1N2 and inf-LEF = 1×10^5 pfu; H1N1 = 100 pfu; H3N2 = 50 pfu; PR8-33 = 1000 pfu. Mice were infected with 2×10^5 pfu IP for the LCMV-Armstrong infections. Serum was collected by cheek bleeds at the indicated times.

2.2. Lymphocyte isolation

Lymphocytes were isolated from lungs by treatment with 1.3 mM EDTA in HBSS (30 min at 37°C, shaking at 200 rpm), followed by incubation with 100 U/ml collagenase (Invitrogen Life Technologies) in 5% RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2 mM CaCl₂ and 2 mM MgCl₂ (60 min at 37°C, shaking at 200 rpm). Single cell suspensions were obtained by pushing spleens, lymph nodes or digested lungs through 70 μ M nylon mesh filters (Becton Dickinson). Lymphocytes from lungs were purified by centrifuging on a 44/67% Percoll gradient (800 × g for 20 min at 20°C).

2.3. ELISA and flow cytometry

ELISA assays were performed as described previously [22]. Briefly, NUNC MaxiSorp plates (cat # 442404) were coated with 2.5 ug per well of recombinant LEF (obtained from BEI Resources) or standard amounts of mouse IgG diluted in BSS buffer and kept at 4 C overnight. The following day, serum was added at different concentrations and the plates were washed three times with PBS/0.2% tween before HRP conjugated goat α -mouse IgG was added (Sigma cat # A4416). SigmaFast OPD tablets (cat # P9187) were used to develop the plates. The reactions were stopped with 0.1 N H₂SO₄ and the plates were read at 490 nm. Standard curves were constructed from the IgG standards and antibody concentrations were calculated from these curves.

For flow cytometry analysis, single cell suspensions of lymphocytes were stained with anti-CD8a-PE, IFN- γ -FITC, or TNF- α -APC (BD Pharmingen). Intracellular staining for IFN- γ and TNF- α after 5 h *in vitro* stimulation with 0.1 μ g/ml NP₃₆₆₋₇₄ peptide (ASNENMDAM) was performed using the Cytofix/Cytoperm kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Pharmingen). Samples were analyzed using a Becton Dickinson FACScaliber®. GP33 tetramers were made and used as previously described [36].

2.4. Hemagglutination inhibition assay

One part serum was added to three parts receptor destroying enzyme (RDE) (Accurate Chemical & Scientific) and incubated at 37°C overnight. The RDE was inactivated the following morning by incubating the samples at 56°C for one hour. Samples were then serially diluted with PBS in 96 well v-bottom plates and eight hemagglutination units (as determined by incubation with 0.5% turkey RBCs in the absence of serum) of influenza virus was added to each well. After 30 minutes at room temperature, 50 ul of 0.5% turkey RBCs (Lampire Biological Laboratories) suspended in PBS/0.5% BSA was added to each well and the

plates were shaken manually. After an additional 30 minutes at room temperature, the serum titers were read as the reciprocal of the final dilution for which no hemagglutination was observed.

3. Results

3.1. The effect of preexisting immunity to influenza on antibody responses to influenza vectors

To examine whether preexisting influenza immunity affects the antibody response to an influenza virus vector, we utilized the previously characterized influenza vector, inf-LEF [22]. This vector is a recombinant influenza virus containing the HA protein from A/Aichi/2/68 (H3N2) that has been engineered to express the 90 residue LEF domain from the protective antigen of *Bacillus anthracis* at the amino terminus of the HA ectodomain. The remaining seven gene segments all come from the A/WSN/33 (H1N1) influenza strain, making the vector an H3N1 subtype virus. Figure 1A depicts the protocol for the first series of experiments. In these, mice were initially infected with influenza viruses having homologous HA and NA (H3N1), heterologous HA (H1N1), or heterologous HA and NA (H1N2), with respect to the inf-LEF vector (H3N1). Forty-two days after the initial infection, the mice were infected with inf-LEF and the antibody responses to the different viral components were followed in the serum (Fig. 1A).

As expected, only the mice that had been immunized with H1N1 or H1N2 had antibody responses against the H1 HA, as measured by hemagglutinin inhibition (HAI), and HAI titers specific for H1 were not boosted following infection with inf-LEF (Fig. 1C). Likewise, only the mice that were immunized with H3N1 showed HAI specific for the H3 HA prior to infection with inf-LEF (Figure 1B). Upon infection with the inf-LEF vector, none of the previously infected mice, including the H1N2 group, had a significant increase in anti-H3 responses, while age-matched naïve mice receiving the inf-LEF vector generated robust anti-H3 responses (Fig. 1B). Although the inf-LEF vector was able to elicit low levels of anti-H3 antibody production in the H1N1 immunized mice, these levels were below the 1:40 titer that is considered to be protective [37].

Antibody responses against the LEF domain of inf-LEF are shown in Figure 1D. Confirming previous studies [22], the vector elicited robust anti-LEF antibody responses when given to naïve mice. In contrast to this, the anti-LEF titers were significantly lower in mice previously infected with any of the influenza viruses, even those that had received the completely heterologous H1N2 virus. Mice that had been previously infected with H1N1 virus, which differs from the inf-LEF vector only by the HA protein, had an undetectable anti-LEF antibody response. Surprisingly, mice that had preexisting immunity to the homologous H3N1 virus generated greater anti-LEF titers than the H1N1 immunized mice, although these antibody levels were just above the limit of detection. The H1N2 infected mice generated the highest anti-LEF titers of the immunized mice, but the antibody levels were still more than a log below those seen in mice with no

prior exposure to influenza virus (Fig. 1D). These results indicate that previous influenza virus infection in mice, even by a different virus subtype, significantly decreases the quantity of antibodies generated by influenza vectors.



Fig. 1. The effect of previous exposure to influenza on antibody responses to influenza vectors. Groups of mice were first infected with different influenza subtypes and then administered the inf-LEF vector on day 42 (A). The antibody titers against H3 (B) or H1 (C) subtype virus were measured by HAI and the anti-LEF titers (D) were measured by ELISA. Red lettering indicates HA or NA proteins that are heterologous compared to the vector.

3.2. The effect of preexisting immunity to influenza virus on CD8⁺ T cell responses to epitopes expressed by influenza vectors

Although influenza vectors are able to induce antibody responses, influenza viruses are also known to elicit strong cellular responses, and several vectors have been designed and tested to exploit this property [30-32]. Therefore, we wanted to determine whether the lack of response that we described in Figure 1 was specific for B cell responses, or if the same results would also be seen with a CD8⁺ T cell epitope. We initially screened a library of peptides covering the entire LEF domain from the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen, but found no CD8⁺ T cell epitope that was robust enough to be detected reliably (data not shown). Therefore, we utilized a previously described influenza vector, PR8-33, that was known to elicit CD8⁺T cell responses in mice. The PR8-33 vector is a wild-type A/PR/8/34 influenza virus into which the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) H2Db-restricted GP₃₃₋₄₁ CD8⁺ T cell epitope (KAVYNFATM) has been inserted in the NA stalk [38]. As in the previous experiment, mice were infected with influenza viruses having homologous HA and NA (H1N1), heterologous HA (H3N1), or heterologous HA and NA (H3N2), relative to the PR8-33 vector (H1N1). After 42 days, the mice were re-infected with the PR8-33 vector and GP33-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the blood were followed by tetramer staining (Fig. 2A). As seen in previous studies, the PR8-33 vector elicited the production of GP33 specific cells in naïve mice [38]. However, CD8⁺ T cell responses were absent in mice that had been immunized with

influenza virus, even those that had received the heterologous HA/NA combination (H3N2) (Fig. 2B, C, D, and E). Similar to the antibody responses described in Figure 1, these results show that prior infection with influenza virus, regardless of the subtype, substantially diminishes the CD8⁺ T cell response against an influenza virus vector in mice.



Fig. 2. The effect of previous exposure to influenza on CD8⁺ T cell responses to influenza vectors. Groups of mice were initially infected with different influenza subtypes and then given the H1N1 PR8-33 vector on day 42 (A). The GP₃₃₋₄₁-specific CD8⁺ T cell response was measured by tetramer staining and flow cytometry in the peripheral blood of the naive group (B), the H1N1 immunized group (C), the H3N1 immunized group (D), and the H3N2 immunized group (E). Red lettering indicates HA or NA proteins that are heterologous compared to the vector.
3.3. CD8⁺ T cell responses to influenza viruses in lungs and spleen

The observation that immune responses elicited against influenza virus vectors with chimeric surface glycoproteins that express antigenic epitopes are diminished, even in mice that have been exposed to completely heterotypic surface antigens, led us to hypothesize that conserved T cell responses to internal influenza proteins were responsible for this phenomenon. To test this, mice were first infected with H3N1 or H1N1 followed by infection with the H3N1 inf-LEF vector 42 days later. Mice were then sacrificed on days eight, 41, and 50, and the influenza-specific CD8⁺ T cells in both the lungs and spleens were quantified.

Influenza-specific CD8⁺ T cells recognizing the H2Db-restricted epitope NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ were chosen for analysis in these experiments because this is the dominant CD8⁺ T cell epitope generated during repeated influenza virus infections in C57BL/6 mice [39]. Furthermore, CD8⁺ T cells recognizing this epitope express both interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) upon stimulation with purified NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ peptide *in vitro*, making the cells quantifiable by flow cytometry. Using this peptide stimulation assay, NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ specific CD8⁺ T cells were detected in both the lungs and spleens of infected mice eight days after infection with the H3N1 or H1N1 influenza viruses and they were still detectable on day 41, one day before the mice received the inf-LEF vector, although at a lower frequency (Fig. 3A). In fact, NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific cells

could be detected in the lungs of mice for at least 400 days post-infection (data not shown).

Eight days after mice were infected with the inf-LEF vector (day 50), the percentage of NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific cells in both the lungs and spleens had increased, indicating that the vector was able to stimulate the memory T cells (Fig 3A). These data also provide further evidence that cross-reactive antibodies did not neutralize the inf-LEF vector and prevent it from initiating an infection in the mice. In addition, the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells recognizing the NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ epitope was higher in the lungs of the previously infected mice than in age-matched naïve mice, further suggesting that these were memory cells that expanded rapidly during the secondary infection (Fig. 3B). The percentage of NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific cells in the spleens, however, was comparable between the groups (Fig. 1D). This can be explained by the fact that influenza virus infections are localized to the lungs and do not typically spread systemically.



Fig. 3. $NP_{366-374} CD8^+ T$ cell responses in previously infected mice prior to and following administration of the inf-LEF vector. The percentage of $NP_{366-374}$ -specific $CD8^+ T$ cells of total $CD8^+ T$ cells was measured by peptide stimulation and flow cytometry in the lungs (A and B) and the spleens (C and D) of H1N1 or H3N1 immunized mice on days eight and 41 post-infection and on day eight after receiving the inf-LEF vector. The responses in naive mice are also shown for day eight post-vaccination. Representative flow plots are shown for the lungs (A) and spleen (C) as well as the means on day 50 (B) and (D).

3.4. Antibody responses to influenza virus vectors in the absence of CD8⁺ memory cells

The finding that all of the influenza viruses tested elicited the same CD8⁺ T cell response led us to hypothesize that these cross-reactive cells were responsible for the lack of immune response seen to influenza vectors in the previously infected mice. In order to test this, the vector was given to mice that did not have preexisting CD8⁺ T cells. Inoculation of mice with inactivated influenza virus or with live virus by the IM route has been demonstrated to lead to poor CD8⁺ T cell responses [11]. This is likely due to reduced presentation of viral epitopes on the MHC I complex by APCs, as little or no virus replication would take place under these conditions. Mice were infected with live or inactivated H1N1 influenza virus IN or IM, or with LCMV as a control. All groups that received influenza virus demonstrated protective HAI titers 50 days post-infection, indicating that protective antibody responses had been generated (Fig 4A).

On day 51, all mice were administered the inf-LEF vector (live, IN) and the serum antibody levels specific for LEF were measured fourteen and thirty days later (days 65 and 81). As expected, the control mice that had been immunized with LCMV generated robust anti-LEF responses, indicating that the lack of response to the inf-LEF and PR8-33 influenza vectors seen in the above experiments was influenza-specific (Figure 4B). The mice that had been immunized immunized with live influenza virus IN had anti-LEF responses more than a log

lower than the LCMV control mice on day 65 (354 vs. 4169), confirming the results shown in Figure 1. While slightly lower anti-LEF responses were seen in mice that had been immunized with inactivated virus or live virus IM, the levels obtained were at least five times higher than those seen in the mice that had received live virus IN (Fig 4B). These results implicate preexisting CD8⁺ T cells as being responsible for the lack of response to inserted epitopes when mice have been previously infected with an influenza virus.



Fig. 4. The effect of the absence of preexisting influenza-specific CD8⁺ T cells on the antibody response to the inf-LEF vector. Mice were vaccinated with live or B-propiolactone inactivated influenza viruses IN or IM, or infected with LCMV IP, and the antibody responses were measured by HAI on day 50 (A). The LEF specific antibodies were measured prior to and following administration of the inf-LEF vector (B).

Having demonstrated that CD8⁺ T cells recognizing conserved epitopes within the influenza viruses were responsible for the lack of immune responses to viral vectors, we next wanted to assess the ability of these cross-reactive cells to protect mice from a lethal challenge by a heterosubtypic influenza virus. To address this, mice were first infected with sub-lethal doses of H1N1, H3N1, or H3N2 influenza viruses and then challenged with 5 LD50 of H1N1 on day 50. All of the naïve mice had steady weight loss and succumbed to the virus within seven days. The mice that had been immunized with the homologous virus showed no weight loss and survived the challenge infection. Despite being previously infected with different subtypes from the challenge virus, the H3N1 and H3N2 groups both had minimal weight loss and only one mouse from the H3N1 group died (Fig 5A and B).

A subset of the previously infected mice were sacrificed three days after being challenged and the numbers of NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific CD8⁺ T cells in their lungs were quantified by peptide stimulation. The naïve mice had very low levels of NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific CD8⁺ T cells in their lungs at this time. In contrast, the mice previously infected with H1N1, H3N1, or H3N2 subtype viruses all had measurable NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ responses, even at this early time point, indicating that they were memory cells that had been formed during the previous infection (Fig 5C). These cells were present despite the fact that the H3N1 and H3N2 mice had previously been infected with heterosubtypic influenza viruses.

The viral titers in the lungs of infected mice were calculated on days three and six post-challenge to determine if the memory T cells were contributing to viral clearance at these early time points. As expected, high viral titers were observed in the naïve mice at both time points (Fig 5D). In contrast, virus was undetectable at both time points in the lungs of the mice receiving homologous challenge (Figure 5D). This is likely due to neutralization of the virus by preexisting antibody before it was able to infect host cells or spread. The H3N1 and H3N2 immunized groups both had virus detectable in their lungs at day three, but titers were reduced by approximately three logs relative to naïve mice, and no virus could be detected in their lungs on day six, indicating that it had been cleared (Figure 5D). The lower viral titers observed in the previously infected mice compared to the naïve mice indicates that the NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄-specific T cells may have ameliorated the infection, even as early as day three, which also correlates with the weight loss and survival data (Figures 5A and B). These results show that a cross-reactive CD8⁺ T cell response, in the absence of a cross-reactive antibody, is able to protect mice from lethal challenge by heterologous influenza subtypes.



Fig. 5. The effect of previous infection with homologous or heterologous influenza subtypes on mice receiving a lethal challenge of H1N1. Mice were immunized with H1N1, H3N1, or H3N2 and then challenged with a 5LD50 dose of H1N1 on day 50. Weight loss (A) and survival (B) were monitored. The percentage of NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ CD8⁺ T cells of total CD8⁺ T cells in the lungs on day three post-challenge was measured by peptide stimulation (C) and the influenza viral titers in the lungs were measured on days three and six post-challenge (D). ND = none detected

4. Discussion

A fundamental issue regarding viral vectors centers on potential limitations due to preexisting immunity to the vector. In some cases it might be possible to circumvent such concerns by using alternative routes of administration, or related vectors with different antigenic properties. The fact that 16 subtypes of HA and 9 subtypes of NA exist for influenza A viruses makes it reasonable to conceive that vectors with antigenically distinct surface proteins might be of practical use, particularly as these are the principle target for neutralizing antibody responses. By contrast, the internal proteins of influenza A virus are much less divergent, and these contain a number of well documented, highly conserved epitopes recognized by CD8⁺ T cells. The data shown here indicate that previous influenza infections in mice, regardless of the subtype, severely inhibit the responses elicited upon infection with an influenza viral vector expressing antigenic epitopes in mice. Our data show that this inhibition is at least partially mediated by cross-reactive CD8⁺ T cells, which can also mediate protection of mice from a lethal influenza virus challenge.

There are several ways to potentially overcome the effect of the preexisting CD8⁺ T cells. Administration of the vectors via different routes could prove effective in this regard by limiting replication, and thus availability of the conserved T cell epitopes to memory cells. It has been shown that H1N1 influenza vectors containing anti-tumor epitopes were still able to elicit protective responses against tumors in mice that had been previously infected with an

H3N2 influenza virus [40]. However, administration of influenza vectors by routes other than IN may be less effective at inducing mucosal responses, eliminating one of the major advantages of this vector. Clearly, the effects of preexisting immunity will differ depending on the antigen and system utilized.

A study examining the sequences of influenza viruses covering several different subtypes found that the NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ CD8⁺ T cell epitope followed in this study was very highly conserved (78-100%) in all of the viruses sequenced [41]. Engineering an influenza viral vector lacking this epitope could prove useful in making these vectors more effective, but it is likely that many of the conserved subdominant epitopes would exert an effect and yield similar results [39]. For example, the second most prominent CD8⁺ T cell epitope recognized by C57BL/6J mice is PA₂₂₄₋₂₃₃, which is present in 80-100% of the viruses sequenced [41]. The conservation of CD8⁺ T cell epitopes is not just a C57BL/6J mouse-specific phenomenon, as the same study found that NP₁₄₇₋₁₅₅, the dominant CD8⁺ T cell influenza epitope in Balb/C mice is 100% conserved throughout all of the influenza viruses sequenced. Another study found that while some human influenza CD8⁺ T cell epitopes are able to mutate and escape cellular responses, others, including M1₅₈₋₆₆ are conserved, despite their immunodominance, due to functional constraints, and others required comutations in order for the viruses to remain viable [42-43].

Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza virus in mice has been reported before. In one study, mice previously infected with an H3N2 subtype showed enhanced recovery when challenged with H1N1 compared to naïve mice [44].

179

Another study found that when mice were infected with a sub-lethal dose of H3N2 and subsequently challenged with a lethal dose of H1N1, the H3N2 immunized mice cleared the challenge virus faster, displayed fewer clinical signs of morbidity, had fewer lesions in their lungs, and survived at higher rates than naïve mice. This outcome was also correlated with the shared NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ CD8⁺ T cell response [45]. Finally, T cells have also been shown to increase resistance to influenza virus in B cell knockout mice [46].

Heterologous immunity in humans has been more controversial as humans are known to be re-infected by different influenza subtypes and even by the same subtype once it has undergone genetic drift. However, many conserved epitopes have also been found in influenza viruses that are recognized by human HLA alleles [41]. In one study, polyclonal T cells from healthy individuals with a history of having been previously exposed to H3N2 influenza viruses were shown to react with H5N1 infected cells. It was concluded that, apart from some individual epitopes that displayed amino acid variation between H3N2 and H5N1 viruses, considerable cross-reactivity exists between them [47]. Other findings indicate that the human memory CTL response to influenza A virus is broadly directed to epitopes on a wide variety of highly conserved internal proteins [48]. It was also reported that during the 1957 H2N2 pandemic, only 5.6% of adults that had previously been infected with influenza developed influenza during the pandemic while 55.2% of children that had previously been infected contracted it again. These observations were suggested to be the result of accumulated heterosubtypic immunity in the adults over their lifetime [49]. However, this could

also be explained by a similar virus having circulated at some point in the past before the children were born. One possible reason for the disparity between mice and humans is the high level of polymorphism among human HLA alleles, epitopes recognized by some people are not universally recognized by others.

The results here may illustrate the fact that mice and humans can have very different responses to the same viruses and that any results reported in mice, particularly with regard to influenza, will not necessarily reflect the situation in humans or other animals. While these results should not be taken as a direct indictment of influenza viruses as a vector, they do illustrate that a simple exchange of surface antigens may not suffice to overcome pre-existing immunity. While the issues might be different for humans, and vectors that replicate poorly in the face of pre-existing immunity might even be advantageous, the CD8⁺ T cell responses will need to be taken into account.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Ioanna Skountzou and Richard Compans for the mouse adapted H3N2 virus, Adolfo Garcia-Sastre's laboratory at Mount Sinai School of Medicine for the PR8-33 vector, and Tim Barnett for critical comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by NIH Public Health Service grant NIH/NIAID AI/EB53359 and contract HHSN266200700006C.

References

[1] Amanna IJ, Carlson NE, Slifka MK. Duration of humoral immunity to common viral and vaccine antigens. N Engl J Med 2007 Nov 8;357(19):1903-15.

[2] Draper SJ, Heeney JL. Viruses as vaccine vectors for infectious diseases and cancer. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010 Jan;8(1):62-73.

[3] Vuola JM, Keating S, Webster DP, Berthoud T, Dunachie S, Gilbert SC, et al. Differential immunogenicity of various heterologous prime-boost vaccine regimens using DNA and viral vectors in healthy volunteers. J Immunol 2005 Jan 1;174(1):449-55.

[4] Webster DP, Dunachie S, Vuola JM, Berthoud T, Keating S, Laidlaw SM, et al. Enhanced T cell-mediated protection against malaria in human challenges by using the recombinant poxviruses FP9 and modified vaccinia virus Ankara. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005 Mar 29;102(13):4836-41.

[5] Germain RN. MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. Cell 1994 Jan 28;76(2):287-99.

[6] Barouch DH, Liu J, Lynch DM, O'Brien KL, La Porte A, Simmons NL, et al. Protective efficacy of a single immunization of a chimeric adenovirus vector-based vaccine against simian immunodeficiency virus challenge in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 2009 Sep;83(18):9584-90.

[7] Guthrie AJ, Quan M, Lourens CW, Audonnet JC, Minke JM, Yao J, et al. Protective immunization of horses with a recombinant canarypox virus vectored vaccine co-expressing genes encoding the outer capsid proteins of African horse sickness virus. Vaccine 2009 Jul 16;27(33):4434-8. [8] Sadagopal S, Amara RR, Kannanganat S, Sharma S, Chennareddi L, Robinson HL. Expansion and exhaustion of T-cell responses during mutational escape from long-term viral control in two DNA/modified vaccinia virus Ankara-vaccinated and simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV-89.6P-challenged macaques. J Virol 2008 Apr;82(8):4149-53.

[9] Smith ME, Koser M, Xiao S, Siler C, McGettigan JP, Calkins C, et al. Rabies virus glycoprotein as a carrier for anthrax protective antigen. Virology 2006 Sep 30;353(2):344-56.

[10] Rouxel RN, Svitek N, von Messling V. A chimeric measles virus with canine distemper envelope protects ferrets from lethal distemper challenge. Vaccine 2009 Aug 6;27(36):4961-6.

[11] Blazevic V, Trubey CM, Shearer GM. Comparison of in vitro immunostimulatory potential of live and inactivated influenza viruses. Hum Immunol 2000 Sep;61(9):845-9.

[12] Cox RJ, Brokstad KA, Ogra P. Influenza virus: immunity and vaccination strategies. Comparison of the immune response to inactivated and live, attenuated influenza vaccines. Scand J Immunol 2004 Jan;59(1):1-15.

[13] Thomas PG, Keating R, Hulse-Post DJ, Doherty PC. Cell-mediated protection in influenza infection. Emerg Infect Dis 2006 Jan;12(1):48-54.

[14] Cox RJ, Brokstad KA, Zuckerman MA, Wood JM, Haaheim LR, Oxford JS. An early humoral immune response in peripheral blood following parenteral inactivated influenza vaccination. Vaccine 1994 Aug;12(11):993-9.

[15] Fleming DM, Crovari P, Wahn U, Klemola T, Schlesinger Y, Langussis A, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of live attenuated cold-adapted influenza vaccine, trivalent, with trivalent inactivated influenza virus vaccine in children and adolescents with asthma. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2006 Oct;25(10):860-9.

[16] Yarchoan R, Murphy BR, Strober W, Schneider HS, Nelson DL. Specific antiinfluenza virus antibody production in vitro by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Immunol 1981 Dec;127(6):2588-94.

[17] Neumann G, Watanabe T, Ito H, Watanabe S, Goto H, Gao P, et al. Generation of influenza A viruses entirely from cloned cDNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999 Aug 3;96(16):9345-50.

[18] Wiley DC, Skehel JJ. The structure and function of the hemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus. Annu Rev Biochem 1987;56:365-94.

[19] Cross KJ, Langley WA, Russell RJ, Skehel JJ, Steinhauer DA. Composition and functions of the influenza fusion peptide. Protein Pept Lett 2009;16(7):766-78.

[20] Steinhauer DA, Skehel JJ. Genetics of influenza viruses. Annu Rev Genet 2002;36:305-32.

[21] Wilson IA, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. Structure of the haemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus at 3 A resolution. Nature 1981 Jan 29;289(5796):366-73.

[22] Li ZN, Mueller SN, Ye L, Bu Z, Yang C, Ahmed R, et al. Chimeric influenza virus hemagglutinin proteins containing large domains of the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen: protein characterization, incorporation into infectious influenza viruses, and antigenicity. J Virol 2005 Aug;79(15):10003-12.

[23] Kang SM, Guo L, Yao Q, Skountzou I, Compans RW. Intranasal immunization with inactivated influenza virus enhances immune responses to coadministered simianhuman immunodeficiency virus-like particle antigens. J Virol 2004 Sep;78(18):9624-32. [24] www.cdc.gov.

[25] Fouchier RA, Munster V, Wallensten A, Bestebroer TM, Herfst S, Smith D, et al. Characterization of a novel influenza A virus hemagglutinin subtype (H16) obtained from black-headed gulls. J Virol 2005 Mar;79(5):2814-22.

[26] Palese P, Tumpey TM, Garcia-Sastre A. What can we learn from reconstructing the extinct 1918 pandemic influenza virus? Immunity 2006 Feb;24(2):121-4.

[27] Mubareka S, Lowen AC, Steel J, Coates AL, Garcia-Sastre A, Palese P. Transmission of influenza virus via aerosols and fomites in the guinea pig model. J Infect Dis 2009 Mar 15;199(6):858-65.

[28] Newby CM, Rowe RK, Pekosz A. Influenza A virus infection of primary differentiated airway epithelial cell cultures derived from Syrian golden hamsters. Virology 2006 Oct 10;354(1):80-90.

[29] Barnard DL. Animal models for the study of influenza pathogenesis and therapy.Antiviral Res 2009 May;82(2):A110-22.

[30] Castrucci MR, Hou S, Doherty PC, Kawaoka Y. Protection against lethal lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection by immunization of mice with an influenza virus containing an LCMV epitope recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol 1994 Jun;68(6):3486-90.

[31] Ferko B, Katinger D, Grassauer A, Egorov A, Romanova J, Niebler B, et al. Chimeric influenza virus replicating predominantly in the murine upper respiratory tract induces local immune responses against human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in the genital tract. J Infect Dis 1998 Nov;178(5):1359-68. [32] Garcia-Sastre A, Palese P. Influenza virus vectors. Biologicals 1995Jun;23(2):171-8.

[33] Staczek J, Gilleland HE, Jr., Gilleland LB, Harty RN, Garcia-Sastre A, Engelhardt OG, et al. A chimeric influenza virus expressing an epitope of outer membrane protein F of Pseudomonas aeruginosa affords protection against challenge with P. aeruginosa in a murine model of chronic pulmonary infection. Infect Immun 1998 Aug;66(8):3990-4.

[34] Mueller SN, Langley WA, Carnero E, Garcia-Sastre A, Ahmed R. Immunization with live-attenuated influenza viruses expressing altered NS1 proteins results in potent and protective memory CD8+ T cells responses. J Virol 2009 Nov 25.

[35] Jiang SD, Pye D, Cox JC. Inactivation of poliovirus with beta-propiolactone. JBiol Stand 1986 Apr;14(2):103-9.

[36] Murali-Krishna K, Altman JD, Suresh M, Sourdive DJ, Zajac AJ, Miller JD, et al. Counting antigen-specific CD8 T cells: a reevaluation of bystander activation during viral infection. Immunity 1998 Feb;8(2):177-87.

[37] Gross PA, Hermogenes AW, Sacks HS, Lau J, Levandowski RA. The efficacy of influenza vaccine in elderly persons. A meta-analysis and review of the literature. Ann Intern Med 1995 Oct 1;123(7):518-27.

[38] Mueller SN, Langley WA, Carnero E, Garcia-Sastre A, Ahmed R. Immunization with live attenuated influenza viruses that express altered NS1 proteins results in potent and protective memory CD8+ T-cell responses. J Virol 2010 Feb;84(4):1847-55.

[39] Belz GT, Xie W, Altman JD, Doherty PC. A previously unrecognized H-2D(b)restricted peptide prominent in the primary influenza A virus-specific CD8(+) T-cell response is much less apparent following secondary challenge. J Virol 2000 Apr;74(8):3486-93.

[40] Restifo NP, Surman DR, Zheng H, Palese P, Rosenberg SA, Garcia-Sastre A. Transfectant influenza A viruses are effective recombinant immunogens in the treatment of experimental cancer. Virology 1998 Sep 15;249(1):89-97.

[41] Bui HH, Peters B, Assarsson E, Mbawuike I, Sette A. Ab and T cell epitopes of influenza A virus, knowledge and opportunities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007 Jan 2;104(1):246-51.

[42] Rimmelzwaan GF, Kreijtz JH, Bodewes R, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD. Influenza virus CTL epitopes, remarkably conserved and remarkably variable. Vaccine 2009 Oct 23;27(45):6363-5.

[43] Berkhoff EG, de Wit E, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Boon AC, Symons J, Fouchier RA, et al. Functional constraints of influenza A virus epitopes limit escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol 2005 Sep;79(17):11239-46.

[44] Yetter RA, Lehrer S, Ramphal R, Small PA, Jr. Outcome of influenza infection: effect of site of initial infection and heterotypic immunity. Infect Immun 1980 Aug;29(2):654-62.

[45] Kreijtz JH, Bodewes R, van Amerongen G, Kuiken T, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD, et al. Primary influenza A virus infection induces cross-protective immunity against a lethal infection with a heterosubtypic virus strain in mice. Vaccine 2007 Jan 8;25(4):612-20.

[46] Graham MB, Braciale TJ. Resistance to and recovery from lethal influenza virus infection in B lymphocyte-deficient mice. J Exp Med 1997 Dec 15;186(12):2063-8.

[47] Kreijtz JH, de Mutsert G, van Baalen CA, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD,
Rimmelzwaan GF. Cross-recognition of avian H5N1 influenza virus by human cytotoxic
T-lymphocyte populations directed to human influenza A virus. J Virol 2008
Jun;82(11):5161-6.

[48] Jameson J, Cruz J, Ennis FA. Human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte repertoire to influenza A viruses. J Virol 1998 Nov;72(11):8682-9.

[49] Epstein SL. Prior H1N1 influenza infection and susceptibility of Cleveland Family Study participants during the H2N2 pandemic of 1957: an experiment of nature. J Infect Dis 2006 Jan 1;193(1):49-53.

Chapter 6

The role of memory B cells in maintaining long-lived humoral immunity

The work presented in this chapter is still in preparation for submission.

William A. Langley¹, Scott N. Mueller^{1,2}, Rustom Antia³, Muhammed A ur Rasheed¹, Mark J. Shlomchik⁴, Rafi Ahmed^{1,*}.

¹Emory Vaccine Center and Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30322.

²Present address: Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville 3010, Australia.

³Department of Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, 30322

⁴Departments of Laboratory Medicine and Immunobiology, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06510

*Corresponding author email: rahmed@emory.edu

ABSTRACT

Humoral immunity is a major component of the protective immune response against many pathogens and has been shown to be long-lived in the absence of re-exposure to the immunizing antigen. However, the mechanisms behind longterm B cell and antibody memory remain unclear. A particular question that remains unanswered is whether plasma cells are able to persist long-term on their own, or if memory B cells are needed in order to maintain them. In these experiments, we measure the longevity of plasma cells specific for influenza, LCMV, or VSV in the absence of memory B cells. We show that memory B cell depletion by rituximab treatment of human CD20⁺ transgenic mice results in a biphasic decline of virus-specific plasma cell numbers. The initial decline is demonstrated to be due to a subset of plasma cells that expresses hCD20 while the second phase of the decline is attributable to plasma cell decay and was used to estimate the half-lives of these cells following viral infections. These data indicate that plasma cells are intrinsically long-lived, but that some re-seeding by memory B cells may be necessary to maintain their numbers over a lifetime. These data offer insights into plasma cell longevity and hold implications for human rituximab treatment.

INTRODUCTION

Humoral immunity has been demonstrated to be the most protective branch of the immune system against many pathogens and antibody titers are the correlate of protection for most currently licensed vaccines. Humoral immunity to most acute infections and vaccinations has been shown to be longlived, even in the absence of re-exposure to the original antigen by natural occurrences or vaccine boosting. In 1846, it was observed that adults who had survived a measles outbreak on the isolated Faroe Islands were protected from the virus when it reemerged 65 years later, despite the fact that no outbreaks had occurred during the intervening years (28). More recently, it was demonstrated that smallpox-specific memory B cells can persist for more than 50 years in immunized individuals (12) and in 2008, memory B cells recognizing the 1918 H1N1 influenza strain were able to be isolated from the blood of people who survived the pandemic 90 years earlier (37). Another study estimated the halflives of the humoral response to some viral antigens in humans to be more than 200 years (3). Following lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection in mice, antibodies secreted by plasma cells, residing mainly in the bone marrow, have been shown to persist at relatively constant levels for the lifetime of the mice (32). However, the half-life of antibodies is known to be less than three weeks, leading to the conclusion that plasma cells must somehow be maintained for long periods of time in hosts in the absence of re-exposure (16, 33, 35).

Currently, the mechanisms behind long-term plasma cell maintenance are unclear. Several models have been suggested by which this persistence may be accomplished. One theory is that plasma cells are long-lived and do not need to undergo continued renewal (1, 14, 24). Another theory is that memory B cells are needed to re-seed the plasma cell population. Evidence supporting this includes the fact that memory B cells have been shown to be long-lived and to undergo homeostatic renewal (4, 30). Memory B cells can also be non-specifically stimulated in vitro and transformed into plasma cells, however, the occurrence of this *in vivo* is more controversial (8, 14). One school of thought is that antigen or antigen-antibody complexes are retained for long periods of time on follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) and memory B cell interactions with these are required in order for the memory B cells to be transformed into plasma cells (6, 27). Other work suggests that non-specific stimuli, including bystander T cell help and tolllike receptor signaling, stimulates memory B cells and can transform them into plasma cells (8).

In an attempt to elucidate the mechanism behind the maintenance of plasma cells, our laboratory demonstrated that sub-lethally irradiating LCMVimmune mice to deplete memory B cells resulted in a gradual decline of LCMVspecific antibodies over time and concluded that although plasma cells are longlived, with an estimated half-life of 138 days, they do require memory B cells in order to be maintained (31). However, questions about this study, specifically regarding the effects of radiation on the plasma cells and the bone marrow stromal cells, have been raised. It is possible that the irradiation process could have damaged these cells leading to their eventual death.

In these studies we attempt to determine the longevity of plasma cells following viral infections in mice depleted of their memory B cells by antibodies. To accomplish this, we utilize transgenic mice expressing the human CD20 (hCD20) molecule. In these mice, hCD20 is expressed exclusively on naïve and memory B cells, allowing for the specific depletion of these cells by treatment with rituximab (anti-CD20), while sparing the plasma cells, which have downregulated the expression of hCD20 on their surfaces (17, 29, 34). We infected these hCD20⁺ mice with influenza virus, LCMV, or vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and then depleted B cells at memory time points. We show that depletion of naïve and memory B cells results in a biphasic decline of virus-specific antibody levels and that this correlates with drops in plasma cell numbers. We also show that the biphasic decline is due to a subset of plasma cells that have not down-regulated hCD20 expression on their surfaces. These data indicate that plasma cells are intrinsically long-lived, but that some re-seeding by memory B cells may be necessary to maintain their numbers over time. In addition to adding insight into the mechanisms behind plasma cell longevity and offering an estimate of the half-life of plasma cells following viral infections, these data also have implications for human rituximab treatment.

RESULTS

1. Rituximab treatment depletes circulating B cells in hCD20⁺ mice

Rituximab treatment of hCD20⁺ mice has been previously characterized and shown to specifically deplete naive and memory B cells, but not plasma cells or non-B cells (2, 17) and we confirmed this finding in naïve mice bred at our facility (data not shown). In the first set of experiments presented here, hCD20⁺ mice were infected with influenza intranasally (IN), LCMV interperitoneally (IP), or VSV intravenously (IV). Prior studies in our laboratory have demonstrated that memory B cell responses to LCMV reach the levels at which they are maintained long-term around day 40 post-infection in mice (31) and we wanted to study the effects of B cell depletion at memory time points, so we waited until after this to begin treating the mice with rituximab. On day 62, one half of the mice from each of the infected groups were treated with the human dose equivalent of rituximab (1 mg/mouse) while the other half received PBS. The mice were subsequently treated weekly for the remainder of the experiment and the B cell levels in their peripheral blood (PB) were monitored by flow cytometry at the indicated time points (Figure 1). The flow data indicate that B220⁺ CD19⁺ CD3⁻ cells were efficiently depleted in the PB of influenza (Figure 1A), LCMV (Figure 1B), and VSV (Figure 1C) infected mice following rituximab treatment. The B cell numbers declined sharply after just one week of treatment, however, maximum depletion was only achieved after about a month of treatment and B cell numbers in these

196

mice remained at these low levels for the duration of the experiments. It should be noted, however, that B cells were not depleted by rituximab treatment in nontransgenic LCMV immune mice (Figure 1C).



Figure 1. B cell depletion in PB of rituximab treated mice. Mice were infected with influenza virus (A), LCMV (B), or VSV (C) and treated with rituximab (red lines) or PBS (black lines) starting on day 62 post-infection. B cells (B220+ CD19+ CD3-) were monitored by flow cytometry at the indicated times. (D) Rituximab treatment of non-transgenic LCMV infected mice.

2. Rituximab treatment depletes memory B cells in immunized hCD20⁺ mice

After determining that B cells in the PB were depleted by rituximab treatment, we wanted to find out if the treatment was also effective at depleting memory B cells in the spleen. The different groups of mice were sacrificed between 247 and 408 days post-infection and memory B cell numbers were quantified. The assay used to detect memory B cells is an *in vitro* assay that relies on the fact that stimulated B cells can be transformed upon non-specific stimulation into plasma cells and detected by ELISPOT assay (Figure 2A). We chose to look for memory B cells in the spleens because this has been shown to be the major reservoir of these cells in mice (31). With each infection virus-specific memory B cells were detected in the untreated mice by this assay (Figure 2B, C, D). In contrast to this, the numbers were below the level considered positive for all three of the groups that had been treated with rituximab. These results indicate that memory B cells are efficiently depleted in mice that have been treated long-term with rituximab.



Figure 2. Memory B cell depletion in rituximab treated mice. Memory B cell numbers were quantified in the spleens of rituximab treated or PBS treated mice. (A) Representative results from rituximab treated (TX) or PBS treated (UN) LCMV immune mice. In influenza (B), LCMV (C), and VSV (D) immune mice memory B cells were detected in the PBS treated, but were below the cutoff point in the rituximab treated groups.

3. Naïve and memory B cell depletion in immunized hCD20⁺ mice leads to a decrease in serum specific antibody levels

After confirming that rituximab treatment results in the depletion of memory B cells, we next wanted to determine the effect this had on virus-specific antibody levels. At the same time that PB was collected to monitor PB B cell levels, serum was also collected and the virus-specific IgG antibody levels were determined by ELISA (Figure 3A, B, C, D). In mice infected with any of the three viruses, there was a sharp drop within the first two weeks after treatment was initiated, followed by a much slower decline over time, resulting in a biphasic pattern (Figure 3 F, G, H). These declines were not seen in PBS treated mice or in WT mice that were treated with rituximab, indicating that the observed decreases were a consequence of hCD20⁺ cell depletion and not a side-effect of the drug (Figure 3E).



Figure 3. Anti-viral IgG titers in rituximab treated mice. Virus-specific IgG was measured by ELISA in the serum of rituximab treated (red lines) and PBS treated (black lines) mice after infections with influenza (A and B), LCMV (C), or VSV (D). (E) The means of LCMV-specific IgG titers in non-transgenic mice following treatment with rituximab (red lines) or PBS (black line). Representative plots showing the biphasic decline of antibody titers are shown for influenza (F), LCMV (G), or VSV (H) immune mice treated with rituximab.

4. The initial drop is due to a subset of plasma cells that express hCD20

Prior data indicates that humoral responses should have been fully developed at the time in which rituximab treatment was initiated, however, it was still possible that the initial decline observed in the treated mice could be attributed to the depletion of early plasma cells from ongoing germinal center reactions that had not yet down-regulated hCD20 levels. To test this, mice that had been immunized for a much longer time were treated to see if the same initial antibody decline would be seen. Mice that had been infected with LCMV 274 days prior were treated for two weeks with rituximab and their antibody titers were measured both before and after the treatment. The mice that were treated all showed sharp antibody declines during this short period, similar to those seen in the day 62 treated mice, while no decline was observed in the untreated mice (Figure 4A). In a separate experiment, a mouse immunized with VSV 425 days prior was treated for two weeks and, once again, a sharp decline in antibody levels was seen over this two week period in this mouse, but not in the untreated counterpart (Figure 4B). These results indicate that residual germinal centers are not the cause for the initial drop in antibody titers.

To determine the cause of this initial decline, bone marrow was taken from immune mice and lymphocytes were analyzed by flow cytometry for hCD20 expression. Staining showed that 12-20 percent of the CD138⁺ cells in LCMV immune mice expressed hCD20 on their surface (Figure 4C, D). These cells were significantly reduced in mice that had been treated for two weeks with rituximab (p=0.044) (Figure 4E, F). A second experiment was performed in which hCD20 positive and negative cells were sorted and it was calculated that 11.6 percent of the virus-specific plasma cells sorted with the hCD20 positive fraction (Data not shown). These results both indicate that a subset of plasma cells expresses hCD20 and that these cells are depleted in rituximab treated mice leading to the initial drop in antibody titers that is observed.



Figure 4. Antibody titers and plasma cell numbers following rituximab treatment in aged immune mice. LCMV (A) or VSV (B) immune mice were treated with rituximab (red lines) or PBS (black lines) 273 or 425 days after the initial infections, respectively, and virus-specific IgG was measured by ELISA. (C and E) Representative plots showing percentage of total lymphocytes expressing CD138 and B220 in the bone marrow of untreated (C) or two week-treated LCMV immune mice. (D and F) Percentage of plasma cells expressing hCD20 in untreated (D) or two week-treated mice.

5. The antibody decreases in naïve and memory B cell depleted mice correlate with functional assays

Following the finding that antibodies were declining in the rituximab treated mice, we wanted to determine if this drop correlated with a loss in functional ability of the serum in the mice. Specifically, were the antibodies that were disappearing affecting the ability of serum to neutralize virus or were the less functional antibodies being lost preferentially over the more effective ones?

In order to test this in influenza virus infected mice, hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) assays were performed (Figure 5A). The results show that the loss of antibodies in the treated mice over time correlates with the HAI titers as well. The same initial drop followed by a much slower decline can be seen. Similarly, VSV neutralization titers also show this same decline (Figure 5B). Titers drop from an average of 640 on the day before treatment to 320 onehundred days post-treatment. These results indicate that the decrease in antibody titers observed in rituximab treated mice is not preferentially directed at the antibodies that are the least effective, but that the drop correlates with loss of function in the treated mice.



Figure 5. HAI and VSV neutralization serum titers. HAI titers of the serum from influenza immune mice (A) and neutralization titers from VSV immune mice (B) were measured in rituximab treated (red lines) or untreated (black lines) groups.
6. Memory and naïve B cell depletion in immunized hCD20⁺ mice leads to decreases in plasma cell numbers

We next wanted to determine if the loss of memory B cells and the decreases in antibody titers correlated with plasma cell numbers in the bone marrow of rituximab treated mice. The numbers of virus-specific plasma cells were quantified at late time points by ELISPOT (Figure 6). For LCMV infections, mice were sacrificed either 185 days or 295 days after treatment with rituximab had been initiated. At the earlier time point, treated mice were found to have roughly 33 percent as many plasma cells compared to the untreated group. By day 295, the numbers had dropped to around 25 percent of those present in untreated mice. Similarly, the plasma cell numbers in influenza immunized mice had dropped to less than 25 percent of the number seen in untreated mice 346 days after treatment was initiated and the numbers in VSV immunized mice had dropped to around 35 percent 253 days after treatment was started. Total IgG plasma cell numbers were also decreased to similar percentages in the treated mice compared to the untreated mice (data not shown). These results indicate that plasma cell numbers significantly decline in mice that are continuously treated with rituximab. The results from the LCMV mice at two different time points clearly indicate that the plasma cells continue declining after the initial hCD20 expressing cells are depleted.



Figure 6. Plasma cell numbers in rituximab treated versus untreated mice. Plasma cell numbers were quantified in the bone marrow of rituximab treated mice and are shown as a percentage of those present in the untreated counterparts.

7. The decrease in plasma cell numbers after the initial decline is due to the lack of memory B cells.

Following the finding that plasma cell numbers continue to decline following the initial treatment, we wanted to determine if this slow decline was due to the continuous treatment with rituximab, or if it was due to the absence of memory B cells. In an attempt to answer this guestion, mice were infected with VSV and then separated into three different groups. The first group received rituximab weekly starting on day 62, the second group received treatment starting on day 62, but treatment was discontinued one month later on day 92, and the third group only received PBS. B cells were depleted to similar levels in the PB of mice from both treatment regimens, however they returned in the one month treated group after treatment was stopped (Figure 7A). As seen in earlier experiments, both the continuously treated and the one month treated groups showed the same initial decline upon initiation of rituximab treatment (Figure 7B). Interestingly, despite the return of B cells in the one month treated group, the antibody levels continued to decline at a rate comparable to the mice that were continuously treated (Figure 7B). In fact, the p value for the difference between these two groups was calculated to be 0.96, indicating that they were virtually identical (Figure 8B). Furthermore, the VSV-specific plasma cell numbers in these two groups of mice were similar at day 250 (Figure 7C) and memory B cells could not be detected in either group (data not shown).

A second experiment was performed with LCMV infected mice, but the mice in the stop treatment group were only treated for three weeks. Similar to the previous experiment, the B cell numbers in this group returned to WT levels upon cessation of treatment (Figure 7D). In these mice, however, the antibody levels initially declined, but began to increase after treatment was discontinued (Figure 7E). This increase correlated with plasma cell numbers (Figure 7F) and memory B cells were detected in the three week treated group, but not in the continuously treated group, at the time of sacrifice (data not shown). These results indicate that the lack of memory B cells leads to the decline in plasma cell numbers during the second phase of decline, not the continuous treatment with rituximab.

Lastly, the antibody data were used to calculate the rate of decay of plasma cells in treated mice and to estimate their half-lives following the three viral infections (Figure 8A). From these data, the half-life of influenza-specific plasma cells was estimated to be about 245 days. The half-life of LCMV- and VSV specific plasma cells was found to be longer than those of the influenza infection at 360 days and 370 day, respectively.



Figure 7. B cell numbers and antibody titers following short treatment regimens. VSV immune mice were treated with rituximab weekly for the duration of the experiment or for only one month and their B cell numbers (A), virusspecific IgG titers (B), and plasma cell numbers (C) were quantified. In a second experiment, LCMV immune mice were treated either continuously or for three weeks with rituximab and their B cell numbers (D), anti-LCMV IgG antibody titers (E), or plasma cell numbers (F) were quantified.



Figure 8. Plasma cell decay rates. (A) Plasma cell decay rates in rituximab treated or untreated mice and half-life estimates are shown for the three different viral infections. (B) The decay rate between untreated, weekly treated, and one month treated VSV immune mice is shown.

DISCUSSION

In these studies, we show that depletion of B cells with rituximab in immunized mice results in a biphasic decline of virus-specific antibody levels. This decline correlates with drops in plasma cell numbers in mice immunized with any of the viruses tested, declines in HAI titers in influenza immune mice, and decreases in viral neutralization titers in VSV immune mice. Plasma cell decay rates were calculated from these data and estimates of their half-lives were made. These data indicate that plasma cells are intrinsically long-lived, but some re-seeding by memory B cells is probably necessary to maintain their numbers over time.

Recently, two studies have been published reporting no decline in plasma cell numbers in mice immunized with the hapten 4-Hydroxy-3-nitrophenyl acetyl (NP) in the absence of memory B cells (1, 14). The disparity in these findings, compared to our own, could be explained by several factors. One difference between these studies is that we utilized viral infections, which may stimulate the immune system differently than immunization with haptens. Another major difference is that we treated mice long-term with anti-CD20 antibodies while the other studies treated for no longer than two weeks. Previously published data reported that although a seven week treatment with anti-hCD20 resulted in significant B cell depletion, treatment for ten weeks resulted in greater depletion of B cell numbers in all tissues as well as a larger decline in serum antibody levels (2). It has also been demonstrated that B cells residing in the peritoneal

cavity are not effectively depleted by anti-CD20 treatment, but that they can be depleted upon migration to other lymphoid organs (18). We reason that the continuous treatment with rituximab in our experiments not only depletes the naïve and memory B cells in lymphoid organs, but also depletes any memory B cells that may be residing in the peritoneal cavity that migrate to other organs at late time points or any newly formed plasma cells that could arise from these cells during the experiments. The experiments presented in Figure 7 provide evidence that although transient depletion may be able to deplete the levels of memory B cells, the residual cells are capable of replenishing the plasma cell population and may lead to the conclusions drawn in these other studies.

The initial decline observed in rituximab treated mice was shown to be due to depletion of a subset of plasma cells that expresses hCD20. The studies in aged mice (Figure 4) argue against the notion that these are newly formed cells from germinal center reactions, as the mice were infected at least six months before depletion was initiated. It has been reported that memory B cells stimulated *in vitro* to become plasma cells express CD20 on their surface (14), so it is possible that these cells are newly formed plasma cells from memory B cells. It is also possible that these cells represent a subset of plasma cells that do not down-regulate hCD20 expression.

In humans, rituximab is used for the treatment of many lymphomas, leukemias, and some autoimmune disorders. Many human studies appear to support the data that we report here. Although studies reporting no significant decreases in serum IgG levels following rituximab treatment can be found (5), several papers have been published reporting panhypogammaglobulinemia lasting for months or even years following treatment (19, 21-22, 25). One study found that serum antibodies continued decreasing even though rituximab treatment had been discontinued over thirty months earlier (26). This decrease continued despite the return of B cell numbers to normal levels and correlated with very few, if any, memory B cells being detected in these patients (as measured by CD27 expression). Another study reported that upon initiation of rituximab treatment, anti-tetanus antibody levels in patients decreased by 22.7% and did not return to original levels when treatment was stopped (9). These results mirror the data that we observed in our mice experiments. It should be noted, however, that another study found only modest decreases in anti-tetanus titers after rituximab treatment and that the levels returned to near baseline levels at 3-4 months post-treatment (10), while others have reported no significant decreases at all in anti-tetanus titers following B cell depletion (15, 23).

Several complications have been attributed to rituximab treatment in humans. Abnormal T cell responses, possibly caused by lack of B cells, resulted in three patients developing psoriasis following rituximab treatment (13) and a patient died from a varicella-zoster virus (VZV) infection following rituximab treatment, possibly due to a decline in anti-VZV antibodies (7). The results presented here indicate that antibody levels against vaccine antigens in humans treated with rituximab should be monitored closely, especially in those that are treated long-term.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

The generation and characterization of $hCD20^+$ mice has been described previously (2). Briefly, the hCD20 locus was incorporated into bacterial artificial chromosomes and incorporated into pronuclei of F₂ embryos by the Yale Genomics Transgenic Mouse Service. Mice expressing hCD20 were further characterized and backcrossed to a Balb/C background. A breeding pair was obtained from Mark Shlomchik (Yale University) and were then maintained and bred at Emory University.

Infections, bleeding, and rituximab treatment

All mice were infected at the age of 6-8 weeks of age. For influenza infections, anesthetized mice were administered $5x10^3$ pfu of A/WSN/33 (H1N1) diluted to 30 µl in PBS IN. LCMV-Armstrong infections were accomplished by injecting $2x10^5$ pfu diluted to 500 µl in PBS IP, and $2x10^6$ pfu of VSV-Indiana diluted to 500 µl in PBS was given IV for the VSV infections. Peripheral blood was collected at the indicated times via cheek bleeds. Rituxan® (rituximab)(Biogen Idec Inc. and Genentech USA, Inc, NDC 50242-051-21) was obtained from the Emory University Hospital pharmacy and treatment consisted of injecting the mice IP with 1 mg/mouse on days one, three, and five, followed by weekly injections of 1 mg, except for the experiments where it is indicated that treatment was stopped at earlier timepoints.

Hemagglutinin Inhibition Assay

One part serum was added to three parts receptor destroying enzyme (RDE) (Accurate Chemical & Scientific) and incubated at 37°C overnight. The RDE was inactivated the following morning by incubating the samples at 56°C for one hour. Samples were then serially diluted with PBS in 96 well v-bottom plates and eight hemagglutination units (as determined by incubation with 0.5% turkey RBCs in the absence of serum) of influenza virus was added to each well. After 30 minutes at room temperature, 50 μ l of 0.5% turkey RBCs (Lampire Biological Laboratories) suspended in PBS-0.5% BSA was added to each well and the plates were shaken manually. After an additional 30 minutes at room temperature, the serum titers were read as the reciprocal of the final dilution for which no hemagglutination was observed.

VSV Neutralization Assay

Serum was heat inactivated at 56° C for 30 minutes before being diluted 1:40 in serum free DMEM. Serial dilutions were performed and mixed with 100 pfu VSV-Indiana at 37° C for one hour. These were then placed on confluent Vero cells in 6-well plates and incubated at 37° C for 45 minutes. After the incubation, the cells were covered with an agar overlay supplemented with 10% DMEM and incubated at 37° C. After two days, the overlay was removed and the cell monolayers were stained with 1% crystal violet. The neutralization titer was reported as the reciprocal of the dilution that inhibited 50% of the virus from forming plaques.

Lymphocyte Isolation and Cell Sorting

Lymphocytes were isolated from lungs by treatment with 1.3 mM EDTA in HBSS (30 min at 37°C, shaking at 200 rpm), followed by incubation with 100 U/ml collagenase (Invitrogen Life Technologies) in 5% RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2 mM CaCl₂ and 2 mM MgCl₂ (60 min at 37°C, shaking at 200 rpm). Single cell suspensions were obtained by pushing spleens, lymph nodes or digested lungs through 70 μ M nylon mesh filters (Becton Dickinson). Lymphocytes from lungs were purified by centrifuging on a 44/67% Percoll gradient (800 × g for 20 min at 20°C). hCD20 positive and negative cells were sorted using magnetic beads and a MACS column per the manufacturer's instructions (Mitenyi Biotec, catalog # 130-091-104).

Antibodies and Flow Cytometry

For flow cytometry analysis, single cell suspensions of lymphocytes were stained with with anti-CD3-APC (53-6.7), B220-PerCP (CD45R), CD19-PE (MEL-14), CD20-FITC, CD11c-PE-Cy7, or CD138-APC (BD Pharmingen) as previously described (36). Samples were analyzed using a Becton Dickinson FACScaliber®.

ELISPOT

ELISPOT assays were performed as previously described (11). Briefly, ELISPOT plates were coated with 1.5 ml viral lysate/plate for LCMV and VSV, 2.5 mg/well

for influenza, or 62.5 μl per well of goat anti-mouse IgG+M+A (Caltag Laboratories, catalog # M30900) for total plasma cell numbers. PBS was added to these so that a total of 100 µl could be plated/well. The plates were incubated at 4° C overnight. The following morning, plates were washed with PBS/0.1% tween and then PBS and they were blocked for two hours at RT with 10% RPMI. Lymphocytes were resuspended to 1×10^7 cells/ml and 50 μ l of this was added to the first well on each plate. Serial dilutions were and the plates were incubated at 37° C for five hours. Plates were washed with PBS followed by PBS/0.1% tween, and 100 μ l of biotinylated anti-IgG diluted 1:1000 in PBS/0.1% tween/1% FCS was added to each well before incubating the plates overnight at 37° C. The following morning, plates were washed with PBS/0.1% tween and 100 µl/well of HRP-conjugated avidin-D (Vector) diluted 1:1000 in PBS/0.1% tween/1% FCS before incubating the plates for one hour at RT. Plates were washed with PBS/0.1% tween followed by PBS and 100 µl of the enzyme chromogen substrate (see below) was added to each well for ~8 minutes to develop the spots. Plates were counted manually. The enzyme chromogen substrate consists of 20 mg/ml 3 amino-9-ethyl-carbazole (Sigma) in dimethylformamide diluted 1:67 in 0.1 M Na-acetate buffer. This was filtered through an 0.2 μ m membrane and 100 μ l H₂O₂/10 ml of substrate was added immediately before use.

Memory B cell assay

Splenocytes were collected from infected mice and from 1 naïve mouse/96-well plate to irradiate as feeder cells. A master mix was made as follows (amount per

plate is listed: 60ul of 1mg/ml R595 LPS (ALX-581-008-L002, Alexis Biochemicals), 2ml ConA stimulated supernatant (see below), 3ml RPMI-10% FCS, 10ml 1E7 cells/ml irradiated naïve splenocytes (sex-matched) 1200 rad irradiation. To each well 150ul of stimulant master mix and 50ul of diluted splenocytes were added. Splenocytes were diluted as follows: 4 cell concentrations with 12 wells/ concentration (across one row of plate). The first dilution was 2.5E5 splenocytes/well and then followed by three, 5-fold dilutions (5E4, 1E4, 2E3/well). The plates were incubated at 37°C with 5%CO₂ for 5 days. On the fourth day ELISPOT plates were coated as described above. On day 5, the plates were blocked as described above. The cultured cells were transferred to 96-well round bottom plates and centrifuged at 800RPM for 3 minutes three times. Cells were resuspended in 200ul RPMI+1%FCS. Cells were transferred to ELISPOT plates and incubated overnight at 37°C with 5%CO₂. The remainder of the procedure is identical to the ELISPOT assay described above. ELISPOT wells were scored positive for Memory B cells if there were greater than 3 plasma cell spots at a dilution where the day 0 ELISPOT assay revealed less than or equal to 1 plasma cells.

Concanavalin A (ConA) supernatant was prepared as follows: Splenocytes were isolated from a naïve mouse and suspended at 1.25 x 10^6 /ml in DMEM-5% FCS medium. Cells were cultured in a T-75 flask at 20 ml volume with 2.5µg/ml ConA (C 5275, Sigma) and 20 ng/ml PMA (P1585, Sigma) for 48 hours at 37°C. The supernatant was transferred to 50ml tubes and spun at 1,500 rpm for 10 minutes

to remove the cells. The supernatant was sterilized by filtering through a 0.2μ M syringe filter and aliquotted and frozen at -80°C.

ELISA

ELISA assays were performed as described previously (20). Briefly, NUNC MaxiSorp plates (cat # 442404) were coated with 2.5 μ g per well of A/WSN/33, LCMV lysate, or VSV lysate diluted in PBS and kept at 4° C overnight. The following day, serum was added at different concentrations and the plates were incubated at 37° C for one hour. Plates were then washed three times with PBS/0.2% tween before HRP conjugated goat α -mouse IgG was added (Sigma cat # A4416). SigmaFast OPD tablets (cat # P9187) were used to develop the plates. The reactions were stopped with 0.1 N H₂SO₄ and the plates were read at 490 nm. The antibody concentrations were determined by endpoint titers.

REFERENCES

- Ahuja, A., S. M. Anderson, A. Khalil, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2008. Maintenance of the plasma cell pool is independent of memory B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:4802-7.
- Ahuja, A., J. Shupe, R. Dunn, M. Kashgarian, M. R. Kehry, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2007. Depletion of B cells in murine lupus: efficacy and resistance. J Immunol 179:3351-61.

- 3. Amanna, I. J., N. E. Carlson, and M. K. Slifka. 2007. Duration of humoral immunity to common viral and vaccine antigens. N Engl J Med **357**:1903-15.
- Anderson, S. M., L. G. Hannum, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2006. Memory B cell survival and function in the absence of secreted antibody and immune complexes on follicular dendritic cells. J Immunol 176:4515-9.
- Bennett, C. M., Z. R. Rogers, D. D. Kinnamon, J. B. Bussel, D. H. Mahoney, T. C. Abshire, H. Sawaf, T. B. Moore, M. L. Loh, B. E. Glader, M. C. McCarthy, B. U. Mueller, T. A. Olson, A. N. Lorenzana, W. C. Mentzer, G. R. Buchanan, H. A. Feldman, and E. J. Neufeld. 2006. Prospective phase 1/2 study of rituximab in childhood and adolescent chronic immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Blood 107:2639-42.
- Benson, M. J., R. Elgueta, W. Schpero, M. Molloy, W. Zhang, E. Usherwood, and R. J. Noelle. 2009. Distinction of the memory B cell response to cognate antigen versus bystander inflammatory signals. J Exp Med 206:2013-25.
- Bermudez, A., F. Marco, E. Conde, E. Mazo, M. Recio, and A. Zubizarreta.
 2000. Fatal visceral varicella-zoster infection following rituximab and chemotherapy treatment in a patient with follicular lymphoma. Haematologica 85:894-5.
- Bernasconi, N. L., E. Traggiai, and A. Lanzavecchia. 2002. Maintenance of serological memory by polyclonal activation of human memory B cells. Science 298:2199-202.
- Cambridge, G., M. J. Leandro, J. C. Edwards, M. R. Ehrenstein, M. Salden,
 M. Bodman-Smith, and A. D. Webster. 2003. Serologic changes following B

lymphocyte depletion therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum **48:**2146-54.

- Cambridge, G., W. Stohl, M. J. Leandro, T. S. Migone, D. M. Hilbert, and J. C. Edwards. 2006. Circulating levels of B lymphocyte stimulator in patients with rheumatoid arthritis following rituximab treatment: relationships with B cell depletion, circulating antibodies, and clinical relapse. Arthritis Rheum 54:723-32.
- Crotty, S., R. D. Aubert, J. Glidewell, and R. Ahmed. 2004. Tracking human antigen-specific memory B cells: a sensitive and generalized ELISPOT system. J Immunol Methods 286:111-22.
- Crotty, S., P. Felgner, H. Davies, J. Glidewell, L. Villarreal, and R. Ahmed.
 2003. Cutting edge: long-term B cell memory in humans after smallpox vaccination. J Immunol 171:4969-73.
- Dass, S., E. M. Vital, and P. Emery. 2007. Development of psoriasis after B cell depletion with rituximab. Arthritis Rheum 56:2715-8.
- 14. DiLillo, D. J., Y. Hamaguchi, Y. Ueda, K. Yang, J. Uchida, K. M. Haas, G. Kelsoe, and T. F. Tedder. 2008. Maintenance of long-lived plasma cells and serological memory despite mature and memory B cell depletion during CD20 immunotherapy in mice. J Immunol 180:361-71.
- Edwards, J. C., L. Szczepanski, J. Szechinski, A. Filipowicz-Sosnowska, P. Emery, D. R. Close, R. M. Stevens, and T. Shaw. 2004. Efficacy of B-cell-targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 350:2572-81.

- Fahey, J. L., and S. Sell. 1965. THE IMMUNOGLOBULINS OF MICE. V. THE METABOLIC (CATABOLIC) PROPERTIES OF FIVE IMMUNOGLOBULIN CLASSES. J Exp Med 122:41-58.
- Gong, Q., Q. Ou, S. Ye, W. P. Lee, J. Cornelius, L. Diehl, W. Y. Lin, Z. Hu,
 Y. Lu, Y. Chen, Y. Wu, Y. G. Meng, P. Gribling, Z. Lin, K. Nguyen, T. Tran,
 Y. Zhang, H. Rosen, F. Martin, and A. C. Chan. 2005. Importance of cellular microenvironment and circulatory dynamics in B cell immunotherapy. J Immunol 174:817-26.
- Hamaguchi, Y., J. Uchida, D. W. Cain, G. M. Venturi, J. C. Poe, K. M. Haas, and T. F. Tedder. 2005. The peritoneal cavity provides a protective niche for B1 and conventional B lymphocytes during anti-CD20 immunotherapy in mice. J Immunol 174:4389-99.
- Keystone, E., R. Fleischmann, P. Emery, D. E. Furst, R. van Vollenhoven, J. Bathon, M. Dougados, A. Baldassare, G. Ferraccioli, A. Chubick, J. Udell, M. W. Cravets, S. Agarwal, S. Cooper, and F. Magrini. 2007. Safety and efficacy of additional courses of rituximab in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: an open-label extension analysis. Arthritis Rheum 56:3896-908.
- Li, Z. N., S. N. Mueller, L. Ye, Z. Bu, C. Yang, R. Ahmed, and D. A. Steinhauer. 2005. Chimeric influenza virus hemagglutinin proteins containing large domains of the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen: protein characterization, incorporation into infectious influenza viruses, and antigenicity. J Virol 79:10003-12.

- 21. Lim, S. H., W. V. Esler, Y. Zhang, J. Zhang, P. O. Periman, C. Burris, and M. Townsend. 2008. B-cell depletion for 2 years after autologous stem cell transplant for NHL induces prolonged hypogammaglobulinemia beyond the rituximab maintenance period. Leuk Lymphoma 49:152-3.
- 22. Lim, S. H., Y. Zhang, Z. Wang, W. V. Esler, D. Beggs, B. Pruitt, P. Hancock, and M. Townsend. 2005. Maintenance rituximab after autologous stem cell transplant for high-risk B-cell lymphoma induces prolonged and severe hypogammaglobulinemia. Bone Marrow Transplant 35:207-8.
- 23. Looney, R. J., J. H. Anolik, D. Campbell, R. E. Felgar, F. Young, L. J. Arend, J. A. Sloand, J. Rosenblatt, and I. Sanz. 2004. B cell depletion as a novel treatment for systemic lupus erythematosus: a phase I/II dose-escalation trial of rituximab. Arthritis Rheum 50:2580-9.
- Manz, R. A., A. Thiel, and A. Radbruch. 1997. Lifetime of plasma cells in the bone marrow. Nature 388:133-4.
- 25. **Miles, S. A., and M. McGratten.** 2005. Persistent panhypogammaglobulinemia after CHOP-rituximab for HIV-related lymphoma. J Clin Oncol **23**:247-8.
- 26. Nishio, M., T. Endo, K. Fujimoto, N. Sato, T. Sakai, M. Obara, K. Kumano, K. Minauchi, and T. Koike. 2005. Persistent panhypogammaglobulinemia with selected loss of memory B cells and impaired isotype expression after rituximab therapy for post-transplant EBV-associated autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Eur J Haematol 75:527-9.
- 27. Ochsenbein, A. F., D. D. Pinschewer, S. Sierro, E. Horvath, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 2000. Protective long-term antibody memory by

antigen-driven and T help-dependent differentiation of long-lived memory B cells to short-lived plasma cells independent of secondary lymphoid organs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **97:**13263-8.

- 28. **Panum, P. L.** 1847. Beobachtungen über das Masercontagium. Virchows Arch 1.
- Riley, J. K., and M. X. Sliwkowski. 2000. CD20: a gene in search of a function. Semin Oncol 27:17-24.
- Schittek, B., and K. Rajewsky. 1990. Maintenance of B-cell memory by longlived cells generated from proliferating precursors. Nature 346:749-51.
- 31. Slifka, M. K., R. Antia, J. K. Whitmire, and R. Ahmed. 1998. Humoral immunity due to long-lived plasma cells. Immunity 8:363-72.
- Slifka, M. K., M. Matloubian, and R. Ahmed. 1995. Bone marrow is a major site of long-term antibody production after acute viral infection. J Virol 69:1895-902.
- Talbot, P. J., and M. J. Buchmeier. 1987. Catabolism of homologous murine monoclonal hybridoma IgG antibodies in mice. Immunology 60:485-9.
- 34. Tedder, T. F., and P. Engel. 1994. CD20: a regulator of cell-cycle progression of B lymphocytes. Immunol Today 15:450-4.
- 35. Vieira, P., and K. Rajewsky. 1988. The half-lives of serum immunoglobulins in adult mice. Eur J Immunol 18:313-6.
- 36. Wherry, E. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, R. van der Most, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. J Virol 77:4911-27.

37. Yu, X., T. Tsibane, P. A. McGraw, F. S. House, C. J. Keefer, M. D. Hicar, T. M. Tumpey, C. Pappas, L. A. Perrone, O. Martinez, J. Stevens, I. A. Wilson, P. V. Aguilar, E. L. Altschuler, C. F. Basler, and J. E. Crowe, Jr. 2008. Neutralizing antibodies derived from the B cells of 1918 influenza pandemic survivors. Nature 455:532-6.

Chapter 7: Discussion and future directions

The studies presented in this dissertation, although seemingly disparate, all share the common goal of gaining insight into the biology of and immune responses generated by influenza and other RNA viruses. Specifically, the results presented in Chapters 2 and 3 could aid in the development of improved drugs and vaccines to combat influenza viruses of multiple subtypes. The work presented in Chapters 4 and 5 could lead to the development of novel vaccine vectors that could be used against a wide array of pathogens for which vaccine design has otherwise proven to be problematic, and may have implications for influenza vaccine strategies in humans. Finally, the work presented in Chapter 6 contributes to our understanding of the mechanisms involved in long-term humoral immunity following viral infections and may have implications for rituximab treatment in humans.

The work presented in Chapter 2 focuses on the structural constraints of the influenza virus HA protein fusion peptide. Our results with deletion mutants suggest that structural elements along the length of the fusion peptide, or the spacing or orientation of such elements relative to one another, are critical for the association of the fusion peptide with target membranes during the fusion process. These data suggest that the length of the fusion peptide domain of influenza HA can influence the functional properties of the molecule and the finding that single residue deletions within this domain can have such a large impact on viral fitness has implications for anti-influenza drug design. In contrast to the targets of currently licensed drugs that are available to combat influenza infections, where escape mutants are common, our results indicate that drugs that are able to effectively target the fusion peptide may be less likely to generate escape mutants due to the structural rigidity of this region. Furthermore, the high level of homology seen in this region between different subtypes of influenza (Chapter 2, Figure 1A) indicates that drugs targeting this area may be active against multiple influenza subtypes. As mentioned in the introduction, one such drug that inhibits the low-pH conformational change from occurring, TBHQ, has been demonstrated to have some effect on influenza infectivity and other drugs aimed at targeting this area are currently being developed [313-314].

Indeed, most, if not all, enveloped viruses encode glycoproteins containing viral fusion proteins (VFP). In addition to members of the orthomyxoviridae family, members of the paramyxoviridae and retroviridae families, among others, are also known to have fusion peptides that are released following proteolytic cleavage of the VFP [419-420]. Although, these fusion peptides do not share direct homology with those of influenza viruses, they are also rich in hydrophobic residues and contain several interspersed glycines, indicating that these fusion peptides may be under similar constraints to those reported in influenza and may also be potential targets for anti-viral drugs [121].

The work presented in Chapter 3 evaluates the ability of candidate influenza vaccines containing partial or complete deletions of the NS1 proteins to generate memory CD8⁺ T cells. The lack of NS1 function in an influenza vaccine

may have a number of benefits. Among these are the ability to elicit improved Tcell responses due to increased stimulation of IFN-I responses (24) and increased safety due to the inability of these viruses to grow and spread as efficiently as WT strains.

We found that, despite significantly reduced viral replication in the lungs compared to that seen with WT influenza strains, intranasal infection of mice with the NS1 deletion viruses were still able to prime long-lived T and B cell responses. The antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells present after vaccination with these attenuated viruses were shown to expand rapidly upon re-challenge, demonstrating that, despite the attenuation of the vaccines, potent memory responses were still generated. Importantly, the attenuated viruses generated larger protective memory T cell populations after boosting than WT viruses and were able to be boosted more readily at early time points. This suggests that priming with more highly attenuated viruses, followed by boosting with a less attenuated strain, could be a way to induce strong immune memory quickly and efficiently.

Finally, the memory T cells generated by these viruses were demonstrated to be capable of clearing heterologous viruses in adoptive transfer experiments [230]. Prior studies with these attenuated viruses had also shown them to be safe and effective influenza vaccines in several animal models [229, 231-233], however, none of these studies looked at the quality of T cells that these viruses are capable of generating. Our study offers insight into this aspect of the immune response against these vaccine candidates and confirms that

NS1-modified viruses could be useful for the design of a new generation of influenza vaccines and that they may be able to target multiple subtypes of the virus through the generation of T cells recognizing conserved epitopes.

Chapters 4 and 5 explored the potential for influenza viruses to serve as vaccine vectors. Although the techniques and principles gleaned from these studies could potentially be applied to a wide range of pathogens, we chose to focus on the anthrax model. The experiments in Chapter 4 demonstrate that, although chimeric influenza viruses containing large pieces of the protective antigen from anthrax are able to elicit immune responses against these inserted domains, these responses are able to be increased substantially by boosting with heterologous viruses. We demonstrate that priming with influenza virus vectors followed by boosting with either recombinant rabies or recombinant vaccinia viruses containing the same inserted anthrax domains both result in these large increases. A scenario where this type of prime-boost regimen would be allowed in humans is unlikely, however, it is not unheard of. The recently reported HIV vaccine success was accomplished by priming with a canarypox vector followed by boosting with a recombinant glycoprotein 120 subunit vaccine [421].

Importantly, we found the order of the priming and boosting of our heterologous vectors to be significant. Mice primed with the inactivated rabies virus and then boosted with the recombinant influenza vector did not generate the same levels of antibodies as those that were given the two vectors in the reverse order. These results suggest that priming the immune system with a live influenza vector is advantageous over the other vectors tested with respect immune system priming. This could be attributed to replication of the influenza vector stimulating the immune system in a different way from inactivated vectors, perhaps leading to better presentation of antigen by antigen presenting cells. Another factor could be the route of inoculation leading to increased systemic responses. Whether these reasons, or others, are the cause of the increased responses remains to be elucidated.

Other work that could be followed up on from Chapter 4 is the ability of the antibodies generated by these vectors to protect mice from an actual anthrax spore challenge. We were able to elicit significantly higher neutralization titers in our heterologously prime/boosted mice (Chapter 4, Table 1), however, this did not translate to greater protection in spore challenges (Figure 1). This could be a problem with the mouse model, as several studies have suggested that the mouse model is not ideal for animal protection studies, particularly with regard to the role of α -PA responses [422-423]. Further examination of our constructs and immunization protocols in alternative animal models, for both the induction of toxin neutralization activity as well as protection from a BA spore challenge could provide more human-relevant results. We were also perplexed to see no difference in protection between the influenza primed-influenza boosted group and the influenza primed-rabies boosted group, despite our findings in repeated experiments that antibody levels are significantly increased in heterologously vaccinated mice. In fact, the neutralization titers in the heterologously vaccinated mice in this spore challenge experiment were not increased over the

homologously vaccinated counterparts, indicating that the rabies-RBD may not have been properly administered during this trial.



Figure 1. Survival of anthrax spore challenge. Mice were immunized with inf-RBD on day 0 and then boosted with either inf-RBD or rab-RBD on day 42. Mice were challenged on day 77 with 2.5 LD_{50} *B. anthracis* spores and survival was monitored for 24 days. PA-D4 = RBD domain.

Another interesting finding from the work presented in Chapter 4 was the inability to increase anti-PA antibody levels in mice primed with influenza vectors by boosting at later time points with the same influenza vector. We wanted to see if we could overcome this block in boosting by infecting mice with heterosubtypic influenza vectors. The experiments looking at this are described in Chapter 5 and the findings indicate that preexisting immunity to influenza virus, even to viruses containing completely heterologous HA an NA subtypes, leads to a significantly diminished response to influenza vectors in mice. This was surprising, as we know that humans can be infected by multiple influenza subtypes, and even the same subtype that has undergone genetic drift. The finding that responses to the vectors are being diminished by CD8⁺ T cells recognizing conserved influenza epitopes and that these cells are able to mediate protection against heterosubtypic influenza challenges has implications for influenza vectors as well as influenza vaccination strategies in humans. Though humans can be infected by influenza multiple times, it is hard to determine if prior exposure to influenza viruses is able to ameliorate the effects of subsequent infections, although anecdotal evidence of this does exist [424] and, as discussed in the introduction, the ability to elicit T cell responses is thought to be an advantage of the LAIV over the inactivated vaccine and many influenza vaccines currently in development are designed to elicit both B and T cell responses.

As discussed in Chapter 5, one way to potentially overcome the inability of influenza vectors to elicit immune responses in hosts previously infected with influenza would be to eliminate the cross-reactive epitopes. This would be difficult to do in mice, as the second most dominant CD8⁺ T cell epitopes in both B6 and Balb/C mice are also highly conserved, as is the third most dominant, and many of these epitopes are critical for viral fitness. This would be even more difficult to accomplish in humans that have a high amount of heterogeneity in their HLA alleles.

Another potential way to overcome this could be to vaccinate with inactivated influenza vectors. Inactivated vectors should still be able to elicit antibody responses, although T cell responses to these vectors would likely be greatly diminished, as would mucosal responses. In anticipation of immunizing with inactivated vectors, our laboratory has explored inserting foreign antigens into membrane distal sites on the HA protein in order to maximize the ability of the antigen to be recognized by B lymphocytes. We have found several sites, in addition to the amino terminus, into which these foreign domains can be inserted without interfering with viral replication. These constructs have yet to be tested for their ability to elicit immune responses and could merit future studies.

The work presented in Chapter 6 explores plasma cell longevity in the absence of memory B cells. We report that a subset of plasma cells expresses hCD20 and that these cells are depleted during rituximab treatment in hCD20 mice. It is possible that these cells are newly formed plasma cells from memory B cells, as memory B cells stimulated *in vitro* to become plasma cells have been reported to express CD20 on their surface [408]. These cells being a subset of plasma cells that do not down-regulate hCD20 expression is also a possibility

and future studies to distinguish between these two possibilities may be warranted.

A number of studies following antibody levels in humans treated with rituximab were discussed in Chapter 6 and seem to correlate with our findings. A problem with these studies is the fact that most of the patients treated with rituximab had underlying immunological disorders, such as leukemia or rheumatoid arthritis, and a number of them were also taking multiple medications. A further problem with interpreting these studies is that they usually follow low numbers of subjects and the rituximab treatment regimens are inconsistent. Our results indicate that rituximab treatment could have serious consequences in humans over the long-term and that antibody levels against vaccine antigens in these patients should be carefully monitored.

Another area of interest that could be addressed by these hCD20 mice is the fate of T cells in the absence of B cells. A prior study found that LCMVspecific memory CTL responses were not affected by the absence of B cells in B cell-deficient mice and that these mice were able to clear virus faster than naïve mice upon re-challenge with LCMV [425]. However, another paper found that IgG secreting B cells are necessary for the development of memory T cells in a murine model of Graves' disease [426]. In preliminary studies, we have found that LCMV-specific CD8⁺ T cells do not decline when B cells are depleted at memory time points (Figure 2). Experiments looking at the effects of B cell depletion on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells during all phases of the immune response are either underway or have been planned.



Figures 2. LCMV-specific CD8⁺ T cells following B cell depletion. Mice were infected with LCMV on day 0 and B cells were depleted with rituximab starting on day 62. The numbers of NP118⁺ CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen were quantified by staining and FACS analysis.

Other interesting questions that were not addressed by these studies include the longevity of plasma cells in memory B cell deficient mice that have been immunized with protein antigens or infected with chronic viruses. The finding that antibody levels recognizing tetanus and diphtheria toxins in humans decline much more rapidly than those generated by viral antigens leads to the hypothesis that protein-specific plasma cells may have shorter half-lives compared to virus-specific cells [320]. If this hypothesis is true, the development vaccines and vaccine strategies aimed at overcoming this may be possible. Similarly, it would also be interesting to determine what happens to antibody levels in mice infected with chronic viruses when B cells are depleted and what the consequences of this might be for viral control. Finally, immunizing mice with one antigen, depleting the memory B cells at memory time points, and then reinfecting with a second antigen could give valuable insight into how plasma cells are maintained in humans despite new infections constantly resulting in the influx of new plasma cells recognizing different antigens.

The data presented in this dissertation answer questions spanning many different aspects of influenza A virus, from structural constraints in the fusion peptide to immune responses against influenza vectors and influenza-specific plasma cell longevity. These studies provide insights into these subjects, but they also raise many more questions that will need to be addressed in future studies.

References

- 1. ICTVdB, The Universal Virus Database, version 4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ICTVdb/ICTVdB/. 2006.
- Presti, R.M., et al., Quaranfil, Johnston Atoll, and Lake Chad viruses are novel members of the family Orthomyxoviridae. J Virol, 2009. 83(22): p. 11599-606.
- 3. Clerx, J.P., F. Fuller, and D.H. Bishop, *Tick-borne viruses structurally similar to Orthomyxoviruses.* Virology, 1983. **127**(1): p. 205-19.
- Haig, D.A., J.P. Woodall, and D. Danskin, THOGOTO VIRUS: A HITHERTO UNDERSCRIBED AGENT ISOLATED FROM TICKS IN KENYA. J Gen Microbiol, 1965. 38: p. 389-94.
- 5. Davies, F.G., R.K. Soi, and B.N. Wariru, *Abortion in sheep caused by Thogoto virus.* Vet Rec, 1984. **115**(25-26): p. 654.
- Butenko, A.M., et al., [Dhori virus--a causative agent of human disease. 5 cases of laboratory infection]. Vopr Virusol, 1987. 32(6): p. 724-9.
- Da Silva, E.V., et al., Araguari virus, a new member of the family Orthomyxoviridae: serologic, ultrastructural, and molecular characterization. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2005. **73**(6): p. 1050-8.
- 8. Mjaaland, S., et al., *Genomic characterization of the virus causing infectious salmon anemia in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.): an orthomyxo-like virus in a teleost.* J Virol, 1997. **71**(10): p. 7681-6.

- Falk, K., et al., Characterization of infectious salmon anemia virus, an orthomyxo-like virus isolated from Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). J Virol, 1997. 71(12): p. 9016-23.
- Kibenge, F.S., et al., Infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) isolated from the ISA disease outbreaks in Chile diverged from ISAV isolates from Norway around 1996 and was disseminated around 2005, based on surface glycoprotein gene sequences. Virol J, 2009. 6: p. 88.
- Desselberger, U., et al., The 3' and 5'-terminal sequences of influenza A,
 B and C virus RNA segments are highly conserved and show partial inverted complementarity. Gene, 1980. 8(3): p. 315-28.
- Taylor, R.M., Studies on Survival of Influenza Virus Between Epidemics and Antigenic Variants of the Virus. Am J Public Health Nations Health, 1949. 39(2): p. 171-8.
- 13. Francis, T., Jr., J.J. Quilligan, Jr., and E. Minuse, *Identification of another epidemic respiratory disease.* Science, 1950. **112**(2913): p. 495-7.
- Guo, Y.J., et al., Isolation of influenza C virus from pigs and experimental infection of pigs with influenza C virus. J Gen Virol, 1983. 64 (Pt 1): p. 177-82.
- Hessen, M.T., *In the clinic. Influenza*. Ann Intern Med, 2009. **151**(9): p.
 ICT5-1-ICT5-15; quiz ICT5-16.
- Joosting, A.C., et al., Production of common colds in human volunteers by influenza C virus. Br Med J, 1968. 4(5624): p. 153-4.

- Francis, T., Jr., A NEW TYPE OF VIRUS FROM EPIDEMIC INFLUENZA.
 Science, 1940. 92(2392): p. 405-408.
- Osterhaus, A.D., et al., *Influenza B virus in seals.* Science, 2000.
 288(5468): p. 1051-3.
- 19. Waterfield, M.D., et al., *Structure of the haemagglutinin of influenza virus.*Br Med Bull, 1979. **35**(1): p. 57-63.
- 20. Bean, W.J., Jr. and R.W. Simpson, *Transcriptase activity and genome composition of defective influenza virus.* J Virol, 1976. **18**(1): p. 365-9.
- 21. Pons, M.W., *A reexamination of influenza single-and double-stranded RNAs by gel electrophoresis.* Virology, 1976. **69**(2): p. 789-92.
- 22. Chen, W., et al., A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nat Med, 2001. **7**(12): p. 1306-12.
- Sharp, G.B., et al., Coinfection of wild ducks by influenza A viruses: distribution patterns and biological significance. J Virol, 1997. 71(8): p. 6128-35.
- 24. Webster, R.G., et al., *Influenza viruses from avian and porcine sources and their possible role in the origin of human pandemic strains.* Dev Biol Stand, 1977. **39**: p. 461-8.
- Hinshaw, V.S., R.G. Webster, and B. Turner, *The perpetuation of orthomyxoviruses and paramyxoviruses in Canadian waterfowl.* Can J Microbiol, 1980. 26(5): p. 622-9.
- 26. Slemons, R.D., et al., *Type-A influenza viruses isolated from wild freeflying ducks in California.* Avian Dis, 1974. **18**(1): p. 119-24.

- Fouchier, R.A., et al., Characterization of a novel influenza A virus hemagglutinin subtype (H16) obtained from black-headed gulls. J Virol, 2005. 79(5): p. 2814-22.
- Crawford, P.C., et al., *Transmission of equine influenza virus to dogs.* Science, 2005. **310**(5747): p. 482-5.
- Sovinova, O., et al., Isolation of a virus causing respiratory disease in horses. Acta Virol, 1958. 2(1): p. 52-61.
- Lvov, D.K., et al., Comparison of influenza viruses isolated from man and from whales. Bull World Health Organ, 1978. 56(6): p. 923-30.
- 31. Kyriakis, C.S., et al., Virological Surveillance and Preliminary Antigenic Characterization of Influenza Viruses in Pigs in Five European Countries from 2006 to 2008. Zoonoses Public Health, 2009.
- 32. Orcutt, M.L. and R.E. Shope, *THE DISTRIBUTION OF SWINE* INFLUENZA VIRUS IN SWINE. J Exp Med, 1935. **62**(6): p. 823-826.
- Shope, R.E., THE ETIOLOGY OF SWINE INFLUENZA. Science, 1931.
 73(1886): p. 214-215.
- Geraci, J.R., et al., Mass mortality of harbor seals: pneumonia associated with influenza A virus. Science, 1982. 215(4536): p. 1129-31.
- 35. Klingeborn, B., et al., *An avian influenza A virus killing a mammalian species--the mink. Brief report.* Arch Virol, 1985. **86**(3-4): p. 347-51.
- 36. Harder, T.C. and T.W. Vahlenkamp, *Influenza virus infections in dogs and cats.* Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 2009.
- Shope, R.E., SWINE INFLUENZA : III. FILTRATION EXPERIMENTS AND ETIOLOGY. J Exp Med, 1931. 54(3): p. 373-385.
- Smith, W., C.H. Andrewes, and P.P. Laidlaw, A VIRUS OBTAINED FROM INFLUENZA PATIENTS. The Lancet, 1933. 222(5732): p. 66-68.
- 39. Tobita, K., et al., Plaque assay and primary isolation of influenza A viruses in an established line of canine kidney cells (MDCK) in the presence of trypsin. Med Microbiol Immunol, 1975. 162(1): p. 9-14.
- 40. Horisberger, M.A., *The large P proteins of influenza A viruses are composed of one acidic and two basic polypeptides.* Virology, 1980. **107**(1): p. 302-5.
- Bishop, D.H., J.A. Huddleston, and G.G. Brownlee, *The complete sequence of RNA segment 2 of influenza A/NT/60/68 P1 protein.* Nucleic Acids Res, 1982. **10**(4): p. 1335-43.
- 42. Fields, S. and G. Winter, Nucleotide sequences of influenza virus segments 1 and 3 reveal mosaic structure of a small viral RNA segment.
 Cell, 1982. 28(2): p. 303-13.
- 43. Winter, G. and S. Fields, *Nucleotide sequence of human influenza A/PR/8/34 segment 2.* Nucleic Acids Res, 1982. **10**(6): p. 2135-43.
- Biswas, S.K. and D.P. Nayak, *Mutational analysis of the conserved motifs* of influenza A virus polymerase basic protein 1. J Virol, 1994. 68(3): p. 1819-26.

- 45. Engelhardt, O.G. and E. Fodor, *Functional association between viral and cellular transcription during influenza virus infection.* Rev Med Virol, 2006. **16**(5): p. 329-45.
- Nath, S.T. and D.P. Nayak, Function of two discrete regions is required for nuclear localization of polymerase basic protein 1 of A/WSN/33 influenza virus (H1 N1). Mol Cell Biol, 1990. 10(8): p. 4139-45.
- 47. Blaas, D., E. Patzelt, and E. Kuechler, *Identification of the cap binding protein of influenza virus.* Nucleic Acids Res, 1982. **10**(15): p. 4803-12.
- Ulmanen, I., B.A. Broni, and R.M. Krug, Role of two of the influenza virus core P proteins in recognizing cap 1 structures (m7GpppNm) on RNAs and in initiating viral RNA transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1981.
 78(12): p. 7355-9.
- 49. Shi, L., et al., Influenza A virus RNA polymerase subunit PB2 is the endonuclease which cleaves host cell mRNA and functions only as the trimeric enzyme. Virology, 1995. **208**(1): p. 38-47.
- 50. Fechter, P., et al., *Two aromatic residues in the PB2 subunit of influenza A RNA polymerase are crucial for cap binding.* J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(22):
 p. 20381-8.
- Mukaigawa, J. and D.P. Nayak, *Two signals mediate nuclear localization* of influenza virus (A/WSN/33) polymerase basic protein 2. J Virol, 1991.
 65(1): p. 245-53.

- 52. Manzoor, R., et al., *PB2 protein of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus strain A/chicken/Yamaguchi/7/2004 (H5N1) determines its replication potential in pigs.* J Virol, 2009. **83**(4): p. 1572-8.
- 53. Subbarao, E.K., W. London, and B.R. Murphy, A single amino acid in the *PB2 gene of influenza A virus is a determinant of host range.* J Virol, 1993. **67**(4): p. 1761-4.
- 54. Perales, B., et al., *The replication activity of influenza virus polymerase is linked to the capacity of the PA subunit to induce proteolysis.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(3): p. 1307-12.
- 55. Gastaminza, P., et al., *Mutations in the N-terminal region of influenza virus PB2 protein affect virus RNA replication but not transcription.* J Virol, 2003. **77**(9): p. 5098-108.
- 56. Fodor, E., et al., A single amino acid mutation in the PA subunit of the influenza virus RNA polymerase inhibits endonucleolytic cleavage of capped RNAs. J Virol, 2002. **76**(18): p. 8989-9001.
- 57. Guu, T.S., et al., *Mapping the domain structure of the influenza A virus* polymerase acidic protein (PA) and its interaction with the basic protein 1 (PB1) subunit. Virology, 2008. **379**(1): p. 135-42.
- Hara, K., et al., Influenza virus RNA polymerase PA subunit is a novel serine protease with Ser624 at the active site. Genes Cells, 2001. 6(2): p. 87-97.

- Huddleston, J.A. and G.G. Brownlee, *The sequence of the nucleoprotein gene of human influenza A virus, strain A/NT/60/68.* Nucleic Acids Res, 1982. 10(3): p. 1029-38.
- 60. Rees, P.J. and N.J. Dimmock, *Electrophoretic separation of influenza virus ribonucleoproteins*. J Gen Virol, 1981. **53**(Pt 1): p. 125-32.
- 61. Compans, R.W., J. Content, and P.H. Duesberg, *Structure of the ribonucleoprotein of influenza virus.* J Virol, 1972. **10**(4): p. 795-800.
- Lamb, R.A. and P.W. Choppin, Synthesis of influenza virus proteins in infected cells: translation of viral polypeptides, including three P polypeptides, from RNA produced by primary transcription. Virology, 1976.
 74(2): p. 504-19.
- 63. Allen, H., et al., *Influenza virus RNA segment 7 has the coding capacity for two polypeptides.* Virology, 1980. **107**(2): p. 548-51.
- 64. Compans, R.W., et al., Influenza virus proteins. I. Analysis of polypeptides of the virion and identification of spike glycoproteins. Virology, 1970. 42(4):
 p. 880-9.
- 65. Smirnov Yu, A., M.A. Kuznetsova, and N.V. Kaverin, *The genetic aspects of influenza virus filamentous particle formation.* Arch Virol, 1991. **118**(3-4): p. 279-84.
- 66. Pinto, L.H., L.J. Holsinger, and R.A. Lamb, *Influenza virus M2 protein has ion channel activity.* Cell, 1992. **69**(3): p. 517-28.

- Sugrue, R.J. and A.J. Hay, Structural characteristics of the M2 protein of influenza A viruses: evidence that it forms a tetrameric channel. Virology, 1991. 180(2): p. 617-24.
- Pinto, L.H. and R.A. Lamb, *The M2 proton channels of influenza A and B viruses.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(14): p. 8997-9000.
- Zebedee, S.L. and R.A. Lamb, Influenza A virus M2 protein: monoclonal antibody restriction of virus growth and detection of M2 in virions. J Virol, 1988. 62(8): p. 2762-72.
- Baez, M., et al., Complete nucleotide sequence of the influenza A/PR/8/34 virus NS gene and comparison with the NS genes of the A/Udorn/72 and A/FPV/Rostock/34 strains. Nucleic Acids Res, 1980. 8(23): p. 5845-58.
- 71. Lamb, R.A. and C.J. Lai, Sequence of interrupted and uninterrupted mRNAs and cloned DNA coding for the two overlapping nonstructural proteins of influenza virus. Cell, 1980. **21**(2): p. 475-85.
- 72. Porter, A.G., J.C. Smith, and J.S. Emtage, *Nucleotide sequence of influenza virus RNA segment 8 indicates that coding regions for NS1 and NS2 proteins overlap.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1980. **77**(9): p. 5074-8.
- O'Neill, R.E., J. Talon, and P. Palese, *The influenza virus NEP (NS2 protein) mediates the nuclear export of viral ribonucleoproteins.* EMBO J, 1998. **17**(1): p. 288-96.
- 74. Falcon, A.M., et al., Defective RNA replication and late gene expression in temperature-sensitive influenza viruses expressing deleted forms of the NS1 protein. J Virol, 2004. 78(8): p. 3880-8.

- 75. Hatada, E., et al., Analysis of influenza A virus temperature-sensitive mutants with mutations in RNA segment 8. J Gen Virol, 1990. 71 (Pt 6):
 p. 1283-92.
- Garcia-Sastre, A., et al., Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferon-deficient systems. Virology, 1998. 252(2): p. 324-30.
- 77. Talon, J., et al., Influenza A and B viruses expressing altered NS1 proteins: A vaccine approach. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(8): p. 4309-14.
- 78. Hale, B.G., et al., *The multifunctional NS1 protein of influenza A viruses.* J Gen Virol, 2008. 89(Pt 10): p. 2359-76.
- 79. Pichlmair, A., et al., *RIG-I-Mediated Antiviral Responses to Single-Stranded RNA Bearing 5' Phosphates.* Science, 2006.
- Wang, X., et al., Influenza A virus NS1 protein prevents activation of NFkappaB and induction of alpha/beta interferon. J Virol, 2000. 74(24): p. 11566-73.
- 81. Min, J.Y. and R.M. Krug, The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: Inhibiting the 2'-5' oligo (A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. 103(18): p. 7100-5.
- 82. Min, J.Y., et al., A site on the influenza A virus NS1 protein mediates both inhibition of PKR activation and temporal regulation of viral RNA synthesis. Virology, 2007. **363**(1): p. 236-43.

- Hale, B.G., et al., Influenza A virus NS1 protein binds p85beta and activates phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. 103(38): p. 14194-9.
- Fields, S., G. Winter, and G.G. Brownlee, *Structure of the neuraminidase gene in human influenza virus A/PR/8/34.* Nature, 1981. **290**(5803): p. 213-7.
- Laver, W.G. and R.C. Valentine, Morphology of the isolated hemagglutinin and neuraminidase subunits of influenza virus. Virology, 1969. 38(1): p. 105-19.
- Downie, J.C., V. Hinshaw, and W.G. Laver, *The ecology of influenza*. Isolation of type 'A' influenza viruses from Australian pelagic birds. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci, 1977. 55(6): p. 635-43.
- 87. Gottschalk, A., *Neuraminidase: the specific enzyme of influenza virus and Vibrio cholerae.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 1957. **23**(3): p. 645-6.
- Palese, P. and J. Schulman, Isolation and characterization of influenza virus recombinants with high and low neuraminidase activity. Use of 2-(3'-methoxyphenyl)-n-acetylneuraminic acid to identify cloned populations. Virology, 1974. 57(1): p. 227-37.
- 89. Palese, P., et al., *Characterization of temperature sensitive influenza virus mutants defective in neuraminidase.* Virology, 1974. **61**(2): p. 397-410.
- Wiley, D.C., J.J. Skehel, and M. Waterfield, *Evidence from studies with a cross-linking reagent that the haemagglutinin of influenza virus is a trimer.* Virology, 1977. **79**(2): p. 446-8.

- 91. Schmidt, M.F., Acylation of viral spike glycoproteins: a feature of enveloped RNA viruses. Virology, 1982. **116**(1): p. 327-38.
- 92. Klenk, H.D., et al., Activation of influenza A viruses by trypsin treatment.
 Virology, 1975. 68(2): p. 426-39.
- Lazarowitz, S.G. and P.W. Choppin, Enhancement of the infectivity of influenza A and B viruses by proteolytic cleavage of the hemagglutinin polypeptide. Virology, 1975. 68(2): p. 440-54.
- 94. Appleyard, G. and H.B. Maber, *Plaque formation by influenza viruses in the presence of trypsin.* J Gen Virol, 1974. **25**(3): p. 351-7.
- 95. Gerhard, W., *The role of the antibody response in influenza virus infection.*Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2001. 260: p. 171-90.
- 96. Dourmashkin, R.R. and D.A. Tyrrell, *Electron microscopic observations on the entry of influenza virus into susceptible cells.* J Gen Virol, 1974. 24(1):
 p. 129-41.
- 97. Mao, H., et al., Influenza virus directly infects human natural killer cells and induces cell apoptosis. J Virol, 2009. **83**(18): p. 9215-22.
- Wang, H. and C. Jiang, Influenza A virus H5N1 entry into host cells is through clathrin-dependent endocytosis. Sci China C Life Sci, 2009. 52(5): p. 464-9.
- Rogers, G.N., et al., Single amino acid substitutions in influenza haemagglutinin change receptor binding specificity. Nature, 1983.
 304(5921): p. 76-8.

- 100. Yamada, S., et al., Haemagglutinin mutations responsible for the binding of H5N1 influenza A viruses to human-type receptors. Nature, 2006.
 444(7117): p. 378-82.
- 101. Laver, W.G., Separation of two polypeptide chains from the hemagglutinin subunit of influenza virus. Virology, 1971. **45**(1): p. 275-88.
- 102. Skehel, J.J. and G.C. Schild, *The polypeptide composition of influenza A viruses.* Virology, 1971. **44**(2): p. 396-408.
- 103. Chen, J., et al., *Structure of the hemagglutinin precursor cleavage site, a determinant of influenza pathogenicity and the origin of the labile conformation.* Cell, 1998. **95**(3): p. 409-17.
- 104. Bosch, F.X., et al., *Proteolytic cleavage of influenza virus hemagglutinins:* primary structure of the connecting peptide between HA1 and HA2 determines proteolytic cleavability and pathogenicity of Avian influenza viruses. Virology, 1981. **113**(2): p. 725-35.
- 105. Steinhauer, D.A., Role of hemagglutinin cleavage for the pathogenicity of influenza virus. Virology, 1999. 258(1): p. 1-20.
- 106. Stieneke-Grober, A., et al., Influenza virus hemagglutinin with multibasic cleavage site is activated by furin, a subtilisin-like endoprotease. EMBO J, 1992. 11(7): p. 2407-14.
- 107. Walker, J.A., et al., Location and character of the cellular enzyme that cleaves the hemagglutinin of a virulent avian influenza virus. Virology, 1992. 190(1): p. 278-87.

- 108. Kawaoka, Y., S. Krauss, and R.G. Webster, Avian-to-human transmission of the PB1 gene of influenza A viruses in the 1957 and 1968 pandemics. J Virol, 1989. 63(11): p. 4603-8.
- 109. Ohuchi, R., et al., *Human influenza virus hemagglutinin with high sensitivity to proteolytic activation.* J Virol, 1991. **65**(7): p. 3530-7.
- Li, S., et al., Glycosylation of neuraminidase determines the neurovirulence of influenza A/WSN/33 virus. J Virol, 1993. 67(11): p. 6667-73.
- 111. Holland, J., et al., *Rapid evolution of RNA genomes.* Science, 1982.
 215(4540): p. 1577-85.
- Steinhauer, D.A. and J.J. Holland, *Rapid evolution of RNA viruses*. Annu Rev Microbiol, 1987. 41: p. 409-33.
- 113. Scholtissek, C., S. Ludwig, and W.M. Fitch, Analysis of influenza A virus nucleoproteins for the assessment of molecular genetic mechanisms leading to new phylogenetic virus lineages. Arch Virol, 1993. **131**(3-4): p. 237-50.
- 114. Kida, H., et al., *Potential for transmission of avian influenza viruses to pigs.* J Gen Virol, 1994. **75 (Pt 9)**: p. 2183-8.
- 115. Scholtissek, C., Source for influenza pandemics. Eur J Epidemiol, 1994.10(4): p. 455-8.
- 116. Smith, G.J., et al., Origins and evolutionary genomics of the 2009 swineorigin H1N1 influenza A epidemic. Nature, 2009. **459**(7250): p. 1122-5.

- 117. Oxford, J.S., et al., Analysis of virion RNA segments and polypeptides of influenza A virus recombinants of defined virulence. Nature, 1978.
 273(5665): p. 778-9.
- 118. Scholtissek, C., et al., *The nucleoprotein as a possible major factor in determining host specificity of influenza H3N2 viruses.* Virology, 1985.
 147(2): p. 287-94.
- 119. Tian, S.F., et al., Nucleoprotein and membrane protein genes are associated with restriction of replication of influenza A/Mallard/NY/78 virus and its reassortants in squirrel monkey respiratory tract. J Virol, 1985. 53(3): p. 771-5.
- 120. Treanor, J.J., et al., The B allele of the NS gene of avian influenza viruses, but not the A allele, attenuates a human influenza A virus for squirrel monkeys. Virology, 1989. 171(1): p. 1-9.
- 121. Cross, K.J., et al., *Composition and functions of the influenza fusion peptide*. Protein Pept Lett, 2009. **16**(7): p. 766-78.
- 122. White, J., K. Matlin, and A. Helenius, *Cell fusion by Semliki Forest, influenza, and vesicular stomatitis viruses.* J Cell Biol, 1981. **89**(3): p. 674-9.
- 123. Huang, R.T., R. Rott, and H.D. Klenk, *Influenza viruses cause hemolysis* and fusion of cells. Virology, 1981. **110**(1): p. 243-7.
- 124. Maeda, T., K. Kawasaki, and S. Ohnishi, Interaction of influenza virus hemagglutinin with target membrane lipids is a key step in virus-induced

hemolysis and fusion at pH 5.2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1981. **78**(7): p. 4133-7.

- 125. Bizebard, T., et al., *Structure of influenza virus haemagglutinin complexed with a neutralizing antibody.* Nature, 1995. **376**(6535): p. 92-4.
- 126. Bullough, P.A., et al., *Structure of influenza haemagglutinin at the pH of membrane fusion.* Nature, 1994. **371**(6492): p. 37-43.
- 127. Wilson, I.A., J.J. Skehel, and D.C. Wiley, *Structure of the haemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus at 3 A resolution.* Nature, 1981.
 289(5796): p. 366-73.
- 128. Daniels, R.S., et al., *Fusion mutants of the influenza virus hemagglutinin glycoprotein.* Cell, 1985. **40**(2): p. 431-9.
- 129. Doms, R.W., et al., *Variant influenza virus hemagglutinin that induces fusion at elevated pH.* J Virol, 1986. **57**(2): p. 603-13.
- Steinhauer, D.A., et al., Studies of the membrane fusion activities of fusion peptide mutants of influenza virus hemagglutinin. J Virol, 1995. 69(11): p. 6643-51.
- 131. Cross, K.J., et al., Studies on influenza haemagglutinin fusion peptide mutants generated by reverse genetics. EMBO J, 2001. 20(16): p. 4432-42.
- 132. Steinhauer, D.A., et al., Studies using double mutants of the conformational transitions in influenza hemagglutinin required for its membrane fusion activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(23): p. 12873-8.

- 133. Nobusawa, E., et al., Comparison of complete amino acid sequences and receptor-binding properties among 13 serotypes of hemagglutinins of influenza A viruses. Virology, 1991. 182(2): p. 475-85.
- 134. Cros, J.F., A. Garcia-Sastre, and P. Palese, An unconventional NLS is critical for the nuclear import of the influenza A virus nucleoprotein and ribonucleoprotein. Traffic, 2005. **6**(3): p. 205-13.
- 135. O'Neill, R.E., et al., Nuclear import of influenza virus RNA can be mediated by viral nucleoprotein and transport factors required for protein import. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(39): p. 22701-4.
- 136. Herz, C., et al., *Influenza virus, an RNA virus, synthesizes its messenger RNA in the nucleus of infected cells.* Cell, 1981. **26**(3 Pt 1): p. 391-400.
- Jackson, D.A., et al., Influenza virus RNA is synthesized at fixed sites in the nucleus. Nature, 1982. 296(5855): p. 366-8.
- 138. Plotch, S.J., et al., A unique cap(m7GpppXm)-dependent influenza virion endonuclease cleaves capped RNAs to generate the primers that initiate viral RNA transcription. Cell, 1981. **23**(3): p. 847-58.
- 139. Beaton, A.R. and R.M. Krug, Transcription antitermination during influenza viral template RNA synthesis requires the nucleocapsid protein and the absence of a 5' capped end. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1986. 83(17): p. 6282-6.
- 140. Shapiro, G.I. and R.M. Krug, *Influenza virus RNA replication in vitro:* synthesis of viral template RNAs and virion RNAs in the absence of an added primer. J Virol, 1988. **62**(7): p. 2285-90.

- 141. Akarsu, H., et al., Crystal structure of the M1 protein-binding domain of the influenza A virus nuclear export protein (NEP/NS2). EMBO J, 2003.
 22(18): p. 4646-55.
- 142. Zhdanov, V.M., et al., *Chemical nature of substances forming the surface of the influenza virus.* Nature, 1963. **198**: p. 1326-7.
- 143. Baudin, F., et al., *In vitro dissection of the membrane and RNP binding activities of influenza virus M1 protein.* Virology, 2001. **281**(1): p. 102-8.
- 144. Gomez-Puertas, P., et al., *Influenza virus matrix protein is the major driving force in virus budding.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(24): p. 11538-47.
- 145. Roberts, P.C., R.A. Lamb, and R.W. Compans, The M1 and M2 proteins of influenza A virus are important determinants in filamentous particle formation. Virology, 1998. 240(1): p. 127-37.
- Scheiffele, P., et al., Influenza viruses select ordered lipid domains during budding from the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(4): p. 2038-44.
- 147. Chen, B.J., et al., *Influenza virus hemagglutinin and neuraminidase, but* not the matrix protein, are required for assembly and budding of plasmidderived virus-like particles. J Virol, 2007. **81**(13): p. 7111-23.
- 148. Latham, T. and J.M. Galarza, Formation of wild-type and chimeric influenza virus-like particles following simultaneous expression of only four structural proteins. J Virol, 2001. **75**(13): p. 6154-65.
- 149. Enami, M., et al., *An influenza virus containing nine different RNA segments.* Virology, 1991. **185**(1): p. 291-8.

- 150. Fujii, Y., et al., Selective incorporation of influenza virus RNA segments into virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(4): p. 2002-7.
- Liang, Y., Y. Hong, and T.G. Parslow, *cis-Acting packaging signals in the influenza virus PB1, PB2, and PA genomic RNA segments.* J Virol, 2005.
 79(16): p. 10348-55.
- 152. Noda, T., et al., Architecture of ribonucleoprotein complexes in influenza A virus particles. Nature, 2006. **439**(7075): p. 490-2.
- Kida, H., R. Yanagawa, and Y. Matsuoka, *Duck influenza lacking evidence* of disease signs and immune response. Infect Immun, 1980. **30**(2): p. 547-53.
- 154. Webster, R.G., et al., Intestinal influenza: replication and characterization of influenza viruses in ducks. Virology, 1978. **84**(2): p. 268-78.
- 155. Dushoff, J., et al., Mortality due to influenza in the United States--an annualized regression approach using multiple-cause mortality data. Am J Epidemiol, 2006. 163(2): p. 181-7.
- 156. www.cdc.gov.
- 157. www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/index.html. 2010.
- 158. Alford, R.H., et al., *Human influenza resulting from aerosol inhalation.*Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1966. **122**(3): p. 800-4.
- 159. Bean, B., et al., Survival of influenza viruses on environmental surfaces. JInfect Dis, 1982. 146(1): p. 47-51.
- 160. Hall, C.B., et al., *Viral shedding patterns of children with influenza B infection.* J Infect Dis, 1979. **140**(4): p. 610-3.

- 161. Hayden, F.G., et al., Local and systemic cytokine responses during experimental human influenza A virus infection. Relation to symptom formation and host defense. J Clin Invest, 1998. **101**(3): p. 643-9.
- 162. Richman, D.D., et al., *Three strains of influenza A virus (H3N2): interferon sensitivity in vitro and interferon production in volunteers*. J Clin Microbiol, 1976. 3(3): p. 223-6.
- Ennis, F.A., et al., HLA restricted virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses to live and inactivated influenza vaccines. Lancet, 1981.
 2(8252): p. 887-91.
- 164. Webby, R.J., et al., Protection and compensation in the influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. 100(12):
 p. 7235-40.
- 165. Cox, R.J., et al., An early humoral immune response in peripheral blood following parenteral inactivated influenza vaccination. Vaccine, 1994.
 12(11): p. 993-9.
- 166. Yarchoan, R., et al., Specific anti-influenza virus antibody production in vitro by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Immunol, 1981.
 127(6): p. 2588-94.
- 167. Thomas, P.G., et al., *Cell-mediated protection in influenza infection.* Emerg Infect Dis, 2006. **12**(1): p. 48-54.
- 168. Graham, M.B. and T.J. Braciale, *Resistance to and recovery from lethal influenza virus infection in B lymphocyte-deficient mice.* J Exp Med, 1997.
 186(12): p. 2063-8.

- 169. Mozdzanowska, K., et al., CD4+ T cells are ineffective in clearing a pulmonary infection with influenza type A virus in the absence of B cells. Virology, 1997. 239(1): p. 217-25.
- 170. Blazevic, V., C.M. Trubey, and G.M. Shearer, Comparison of in vitro immunostimulatory potential of live and inactivated influenza viruses. Hum Immunol, 2000. 61(9): p. 845-9.
- 171. Cox, R.J., K.A. Brokstad, and P. Ogra, Influenza virus: immunity and vaccination strategies. Comparison of the immune response to inactivated and live, attenuated influenza vaccines. Scand J Immunol, 2004. 59(1): p. 1-15.
- 172. Kendal, A.P., et al., *Influenza neuraminidase antibody patterns of man.*Am J Epidemiol, 1973. **98**(2): p. 96-103.
- 173. Francis, T. and T.P. Magill, THE INCIDENCE OF NEUTRALIZING ANTIBODIES FOR HUMAN INFLUENZA VIRUS IN THE SERUM OF HUMAN INDIVIDUALS OF DIFFERENT AGES. J Exp Med, 1936. 63(5): p. 655-668.
- 174. Morens, D.M. and A.S. Fauci, *The 1918 influenza pandemic: insights for the 21st century.* J Infect Dis, 2007. **195**(7): p. 1018-28.
- Johnson, N.P. and J. Mueller, Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918-1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. Bull Hist Med, 2002. 76(1): p. 105-15.
- 176. Reid, A.H., et al., Novel origin of the 1918 pandemic influenza virus nucleoprotein gene. J Virol, 2004. **78**(22): p. 12462-70.

- 177. Taubenberger, J.K., et al., *Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus polymerase genes.* Nature, 2005. **437**(7060): p. 889-93.
- Mulder, J. and N. Masurel, Pre-epidemic antibody against 1957 strain of Asiatic influenza in serum of older people living in the Netherlands. Lancet, 1958. 1(7025): p. 810-4.
- 179. Webster, R.G. and W.G. Laver, Studies on the origin of pandemic influenza. I. Antigenic analysis of A 2 influenza viruses isolated before and after the appearance of Hong Kong influenza using antisera to the isolated hemagglutinin subunits. Virology, 1972. **48**(2): p. 433-44.
- 180. Webster, R.G., et al., *Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses.*Microbiol Rev, 1992. 56(1): p. 152-79.
- 181. Swine influenza A (H1N1) infection in two children--Southern California,
 March-April 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2009. 58(15): p. 400-2.
- 182. Dawood, F.S., et al., Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) virus in humans. N Engl J Med, 2009. 360(25): p. 2605-15.
- Palese, P., T.M. Tumpey, and A. Garcia-Sastre, What can we learn from reconstructing the extinct 1918 pandemic influenza virus? Immunity, 2006.
 24(2): p. 121-4.
- 184. Ito, T., et al., *Molecular basis for the generation in pigs of influenza A viruses with pandemic potential.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(9): p. 7367-73.
- 185. Claas, E.C., et al., Human influenza virus A/HongKong/156/97 (H5N1) infection. Vaccine, 1998. 16(9-10): p. 977-8.

- 186. Suarez, D.L., et al., Comparisons of highly virulent H5N1 influenza A viruses isolated from humans and chickens from Hong Kong. J Virol, 1998. 72(8): p. 6678-88.
- 187. Subbarao, K., et al., Characterization of an avian influenza A (H5N1) virus isolated from a child with a fatal respiratory illness. Science, 1998.
 279(5349): p. 393-6.

188.

www.who.int/csr/disease/avian_influenza/country/cases_table_200 9_12_30/en/index.html. 2009.

- 189. Kurtz, J., R.J. Manvell, and J. Banks, *Avian influenza virus isolated from a woman with conjunctivitis.* Lancet, 1996. **348**(9031): p. 901-2.
- 190. Taylor, H.R. and A.J. Turner, *A case report of fowl plague keratoconjunctivitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1977. **61**(2): p. 86-8.
- 191. Webster, R.G., et al., *Conjunctivitis in human beings caused by influenzaA virus of seals.* N Engl J Med, 1981. **304**(15): p. 911.
- 192. Fouchier, R.A., et al., *Avian influenza A virus (H7N7) associated with human conjunctivitis and a fatal case of acute respiratory distress syndrome.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(5): p. 1356-61.
- 193. Koopmans, M., et al., *Transmission of H7N7 avian influenza A virus to human beings during a large outbreak in commercial poultry farms in the Netherlands*. Lancet, 2004. **363**(9409): p. 587-93.

- 194. Guo, Y., J. Li, and X. Cheng, [Discovery of men infected by avian influenza A (H9N2) virus]. Zhonghua Shi Yan He Lin Chuang Bing Du Xue Za Zhi, 1999. 13(2): p. 105-8.
- 195. Peiris, M., et al., *Human infection with influenza H9N2*. Lancet, 1999.354(9182): p. 916-7.
- 196. Members of the Commission on Influenza, B.f.t.I., C.o. Influenza, and P.M.S. Other Epidemic Diseases in the Army, Office of the Surgeon General, United States Army,, A CLINICAL EVALUATION OF VACCINATION AGAINST INFLUENZA: PRELIMINARY REPORT. J Am Med Assoc, 1944. **124**(14): p. 982-985.
- 197. Stokes, J., et al., *RESULTS OF IMMUNIZATION BY MEANS OF ACTIVE VIRUS OF HUMAN INFLUENZA.* J Clin Invest, 1937. **16**(2): p. 237-43.
- 198. Mori, I., et al., *In vivo induction of apoptosis by influenza virus.* J Gen Virol, 1995. **76 (Pt 11)**: p. 2869-73.
- Minor, P.D., Vaccines against Seasonal and Pandemic Influenza and the Implications of Changes in Substrates for Virus Production. Clin Infect Dis, 2010.
- 200. Subbarao, K., Influenza vaccines: present and future. Adv Virus Res, 1999. 54: p. 349-73.
- 201. Safety of influenza A (H1N1) 2009 monovalent vaccines United States, October 1-November 24, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2009.
 58(48): p. 1351-6.

- 202. Logrippo, G.A., Investigations of the use of beta-propiolactone in virus inactivation. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1960. 83: p. 578-94.
- 203. Fiore, A.E., C.B. Bridges, and N.J. Cox, Seasonal influenza vaccines. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2009. 333: p. 43-82.
- 204. Peck, F.B., Jr., *Purified influenza virus vaccine. A study of viral reactivity and antigenicity.* JAMA, 1968. **206**(10): p. 2277-82.
- 205. Gross, P.A., et al., *A controlled double-blind comparison of reactogenicity, immunogenicity, and protective efficacy of whole-virus and split-product influenza vaccines in children.* J Infect Dis, 1977. **136**(5): p. 623-32.
- 206. Mostow, S.R., et al., Studies with inactivated influenza vaccines purified by zonal centrifugation. 1. Adverse reactions and serological responses.
 Bull World Health Organ, 1969. 41(3): p. 525-30.
- 207. Belshe, R.B., et al., *Live attenuated versus inactivated influenza vaccine in infants and young children.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(7): p. 685-96.
- 208. Belshe, R.B., et al., Efficacy of vaccination with live attenuated, coldadapted, trivalent, intranasal influenza virus vaccine against a variant (A/Sydney) not contained in the vaccine. J Pediatr, 2000. 136(2): p. 168-75.
- Edwards, K.M., et al., A randomized controlled trial of cold-adapted and inactivated vaccines for the prevention of influenza A disease. J Infect Dis, 1994. 169(1): p. 68-76.
- 210. FluMist: an intranasal live influenza vaccine. Med Lett Drugs Ther, 2003.
 45(1163): p. 65-6.

- 211. Heath, A.W., et al., Cold-adapted reassortants of influenza A virus: pathogenicity of A/Ann Arbor/6/60 X A/Alaska/6/77 reassortant viruses in vivo and in vitro. Arch Virol, 1986. 91(1-2): p. 53-60.
- Maassab, H.F. and D.C. DeBorde, *Development and characterization of cold-adapted viruses for use as live virus vaccines.* Vaccine, 1985. 3(5): p. 355-69.
- Maassab, H.F. and M.L. Bryant, *The development of live attenuated cold-adapted influenza virus vaccine for humans.* Rev Med Virol, 1999. 9(4): p. 237-44.
- 214. Snyder, M.H., et al., Four viral genes independently contribute to attenuation of live influenza A/Ann Arbor/6/60 (H2N2) cold-adapted reassortant virus vaccines. J Virol, 1988. **62**(2): p. 488-95.
- 215. Cha, T.A., et al., *Genotypic stability of cold-adapted influenza virus vaccine in an efficacy clinical trial.* J Clin Microbiol, 2000. **38**(2): p. 839-45.
- 216. Vesikari, T., et al., *A randomized, double-blind study of the safety, transmissibility and phenotypic and genotypic stability of cold-adapted influenza virus vaccine.* Pediatr Infect Dis J, 2006. **25**(7): p. 590-5.
- 217. Gorse, G.J., et al., Increased anti-influenza A virus cytotoxic T cell activity following vaccination of the chronically ill elderly with live attenuated or inactivated influenza virus vaccine. J Infect Dis, 1995. **172**(1): p. 1-10.
- 218. Muszkat, M., et al., Local and systemic immune response in communitydwelling elderly after intranasal or intramuscular immunization with inactivated influenza vaccine. J Med Virol, 2000. **61**(1): p. 100-6.

- 219. Bui, H.H., et al., *Ab and T cell epitopes of influenza A virus, knowledge and opportunities.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(1): p. 246-51.
- 220. Kolumam, G.A., et al., *Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection.* J Exp Med, 2005. **202**(5): p. 637-50.
- 221. Havenar-Daughton, C., G.A. Kolumam, and K. Murali-Krishna, *Cutting Edge: The direct action of type I IFN on CD4 T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(6): p. 3315-9.
- 222. Curtsinger, J.M., et al., *Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(8): p. 4465-9.
- Tomoda, T., et al., Prevention of influenza by the intranasal administration of cold-recombinant, live-attenuated influenza virus vaccine: importance of interferon-gamma production and local IgA response. Vaccine, 1995.
 13(2): p. 185-90.
- 224. Johnson, T.R., et al., *Role for innate IFNs in determining respiratory syncytial virus immunopathology.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(11): p. 7234-41.
- 225. Mancuso, G., et al., Type I IFN signaling is crucial for host resistance against different species of pathogenic bacteria. J Immunol, 2007. 178(5):
 p. 3126-33.

- 226. Ohka, S., et al., *Establishment of a poliovirus oral infection system in human poliovirus receptor-expressing transgenic mice that are deficient in alpha/beta interferon receptor.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(15): p. 7902-12.
- 227. Shresta, S., et al., Interferon-dependent immunity is essential for resistance to primary dengue virus infection in mice, whereas T- and B-cell-dependent immunity are less critical. J Virol, 2004. **78**(6): p. 2701-10.
- 228. Lopez, C.B., et al., *Type I interferon induction pathway, but not released interferon, participates in the maturation of dendritic cells induced by negative-strand RNA viruses.* J Infect Dis, 2003. **187**(7): p. 1126-36.
- 229. Ferko, B., et al., Immunogenicity and protection efficacy of replicationdeficient influenza A viruses with altered NS1 genes. J Virol, 2004. 78(23):
 p. 13037-45.
- 230. Mueller, S.N., et al., Immunization with live attenuated influenza viruses that express altered NS1 proteins results in potent and protective memory CD8+ T-cell responses. J Virol, 2010. 84(4): p. 1847-55.
- 231. Vincent, A.L., et al., Efficacy of intranasal administration of a truncated NS1 modified live influenza virus vaccine in swine. Vaccine, 2007. 25(47):
 p. 7999-8009.
- 232. Chambers, T.M., et al., Influenza A viruses with truncated NS1 as modified live virus vaccines: pilot studies of safety and efficacy in horses.
 Equine Vet J, 2009. 41(1): p. 87-92.

- 233. Baskin, C.R., et al., *Functional genomic and serological analysis of the protective immune response resulting from vaccination of macaques with an NS1-truncated influenza virus.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(21): p. 11817-27.
- 234. Steel, J., et al., Live attenuated influenza viruses containing NS1 truncations as vaccine candidates against H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza. J Virol, 2009. **83**(4): p. 1742-53.
- 235. Kim, J.H. and J. Jacob, DNA vaccines against influenza viruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2009. 333: p. 197-210.
- 236. Ulmer, J.B., et al., *Heterologous protection against influenza by injection of DNA encoding a viral protein.* Science, 1993. **259**(5102): p. 1745-9.
- 237. Wolff, J.A., et al., *Direct gene transfer into mouse muscle in vivo*. Science, 1990. 247(4949 Pt 1): p. 1465-8.
- 238. Dai, Y., et al., DNA vaccination by electroporation and boosting with recombinant proteins enhances the efficacy of DNA vaccines for Schistosomiasis japonica. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2009. 16(12): p. 1796-803.
- 239. Davis, H.L., et al., DNA vaccine for hepatitis B: evidence for immunogenicity in chimpanzees and comparison with other vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(14): p. 7213-8.
- 240. Hoffman, S.L., M. Sedegah, and R.C. Hedstrom, *Protection against malaria by immunization with a Plasmodium yoelii circumsporozoite protein nucleic acid vaccine.* Vaccine, 1994. **12**(16): p. 1529-33.

- 241. Oran, A.E. and H.L. Robinson, DNA vaccines: influenza virus challenge of a Th2/Tc2 immune response results in a Th2/Tc1 response in the lung. J Virol, 2004. 78(8): p. 4376-80.
- 242. Perez-Velez, M.E., et al., Induction of neutralization antibodies in mice by Dengue-2 envelope DNA vaccines. P R Health Sci J, 2009. 28(3): p. 239-50.
- 243. Liu, J., et al., Dose-response studies for the elicitation of CD8 T cells by a DNA vaccine, used alone or as the prime for a modified vaccinia Ankara boost. Vaccine, 2007. 25(15): p. 2951-8.
- 244. Cebere, I., et al., Phase I clinical trial safety of DNA- and modified virus Ankara-vectored human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) vaccines administered alone and in a prime-boost regime to healthy HIV-1uninfected volunteers. Vaccine, 2006. **24**(4): p. 417-25.
- 245. Mwau, M., et al., A human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) clade A vaccine in clinical trials: stimulation of HIV-specific T-cell responses by DNA and recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) vaccines in humans. J Gen Virol, 2004. 85(Pt 4): p. 911-9.
- 246. Klinman, D.M., et al., Contribution of cells at the site of DNA vaccination to the generation of antigen-specific immunity and memory. J Immunol, 1998. 160(5): p. 2388-92.
- 247. Donnelly, J.J., et al., Preclinical efficacy of a prototype DNA vaccine: enhanced protection against antigenic drift in influenza virus. Nat Med, 1995. 1(6): p. 583-7.

- 248. Donnelly, J.J., et al., *Further protection against antigenic drift of influenza virus in a ferret model by DNA vaccination.* Vaccine, 1997. **15**(8): p. 865-8.
- 249. Chen, Z., et al., Enhanced protection against a lethal influenza virus challenge by immunization with both hemagglutinin- and neuraminidase-expressing DNAs. Vaccine, 1999. **17**(7-8): p. 653-9.
- 250. Sedegah, M., et al., Improving protective immunity induced by DNA-based immunization: priming with antigen and GM-CSF-encoding plasmid DNA and boosting with antigen-expressing recombinant poxvirus. J Immunol, 2000. **164**(11): p. 5905-12.
- 251. Harper, D.M., et al., Efficacy of a bivalent L1 virus-like particle vaccine in prevention of infection with human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 in young women: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 2004. 364(9447): p. 1757-65.
- 252. Kost, T.A., J.P. Condreay, and D.L. Jarvis, *Baculovirus as versatile vectors for protein expression in insect and mammalian cells.* Nat Biotechnol, 2005. **23**(5): p. 567-75.
- 253. Katz, J.M., et al., *Pathogenesis of and immunity to avian influenza A H5 viruses.* Biomed Pharmacother, 2000. **54**(4): p. 178-87.
- 254. Crawford, J., et al., Baculovirus-derived hemagglutinin vaccines protect against lethal influenza infections by avian H5 and H7 subtypes. Vaccine, 1999. 17(18): p. 2265-74.

- Slepushkin, V.A., et al., Protection of mice against influenza A virus challenge by vaccination with baculovirus-expressed M2 protein. Vaccine, 1995. 13(15): p. 1399-402.
- 256. Lakey, D.L., et al., Recombinant baculovirus influenza A hemagglutinin vaccines are well tolerated and immunogenic in healthy adults. J Infect Dis, 1996. **174**(4): p. 838-41.
- 257. Treanor, J.J., et al., Evaluation of a recombinant hemagglutinin expressed in insect cells as an influenza vaccine in young and elderly adults. J Infect Dis, 1996. **173**(6): p. 1467-70.
- 258. Powers, D.C., et al., Influenza A virus vaccines containing purified recombinant H3 hemagglutinin are well tolerated and induce protective immune responses in healthy adults. J Infect Dis, 1995. **171**(6): p. 1595-9.
- 259. Treanor, J.J., et al., Dose-related safety and immunogenicity of a trivalent baculovirus-expressed influenza-virus hemagglutinin vaccine in elderly adults. J Infect Dis, 2006. **193**(9): p. 1223-8.
- 260. Pushko, P., et al., Influenza virus-like particles comprised of the HA, NA, and M1 proteins of H9N2 influenza virus induce protective immune responses in BALB/c mice. Vaccine, 2005. **23**(50): p. 5751-9.
- 261. Deml, L., et al., Recombinant human immunodeficiency Pr55gag virus-like particles presenting chimeric envelope glycoproteins induce cytotoxic Tcells and neutralizing antibodies. Virology, 1997. 235(1): p. 26-39.

- 262. Quan, F.S., et al., Virus-like particle vaccine induces protective immunity against homologous and heterologous strains of influenza virus. J Virol, 2007. 81(7): p. 3514-24.
- 263. Galarza, J.M., T. Latham, and A. Cupo, Virus-like particle vaccine conferred complete protection against a lethal influenza virus challenge.
 Viral Immunol, 2005. 18(2): p. 365-72.
- 264. Bright, R.A., et al., Cross-clade protective immune responses to influenza viruses with H5N1 HA and NA elicited by an influenza virus-like particle.
 PLoS One, 2008. 3(1): p. e1501.
- 265. Bernstein, D.I., et al., Effects of adjuvants on the safety and immunogenicity of an avian influenza H5N1 vaccine in adults. J Infect Dis, 2008. 197(5): p. 667-75.
- 266. Brady, R.C., et al., Safety and immunogenicity of a subvirion inactivated influenza A/H5N1 vaccine with or without aluminum hydroxide among healthy elderly adults. Vaccine, 2009. 27(37): p. 5091-5.
- 267. O'Hagan, D.T., *MF59 is a safe and potent vaccine adjuvant that enhances protection against influenza virus infection.* Expert Rev Vaccines, 2007.
 6(5): p. 699-710.
- 268. Schultze, V., et al., Safety of MF59 adjuvant. Vaccine, 2008. 26(26): p.
 3209-22.
- 269. Nicholson, K.G., et al., Safety and antigenicity of non-adjuvanted and MF59-adjuvanted influenza A/Duck/Singapore/97 (H5N3) vaccine: a

randomised trial of two potential vaccines against H5N1 influenza. Lancet, 2001. **357**(9272): p. 1937-43.

- 270. Atmar, R.L., et al., Safety and immunogenicity of nonadjuvanted and MF59-adjuvanted influenza A/H9N2 vaccine preparations. Clin Infect Dis, 2006. 43(9): p. 1135-42.
- 271. Mbawuike, I., Y. Zang, and R.B. Couch, *Humoral and cell-mediated immune responses of humans to inactivated influenza vaccine with or without QS21 adjuvant.* Vaccine, 2007. **25**(17): p. 3263-9.
- 272. Skountzou, I., et al., Incorporation of glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored granulocyte- macrophage colony-stimulating factor or CD40 ligand enhances immunogenicity of chimeric simian immunodeficiency virus-like particles. J Virol, 2007. 81(3): p. 1083-94.
- 273. Romani, N., et al., Morphological and phenotypical characterization of bone marrow-derived dendritic Thy-1-positive epidermal cells of the mouse. J Invest Dermatol, 1985. 85(1 Suppl): p. 91s-95s.
- 274. Prausnitz, M.R., *A practical assessment of transdermal drug delivery by skin electroporation.* Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 1999. **35**(1): p. 61-76.
- 275. Prausnitz, M.R., et al., *Microneedle-based vaccines.* Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2009. **333**: p. 369-93.
- 276. Alarcon, J.B., et al., Preclinical evaluation of microneedle technology for intradermal delivery of influenza vaccines. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2007.
 14(4): p. 375-81.

- 277. Kim, Y.C., et al., Enhanced memory responses to seasonal H1N1 influenza vaccination of the skin with the use of vaccine-coated microneedles. J Infect Dis, 2010. **201**(2): p. 190-8.
- 278. Lambert, P.H. and P.E. Laurent, Intradermal vaccine delivery: will new delivery systems transform vaccine administration? Vaccine, 2008. 26(26):
 p. 3197-208.
- 279. Kaushik, S., et al., *Lack of pain associated with microfabricated microneedles.* Anesth Analg, 2001. **92**(2): p. 502-4.
- Mikszta, J.A., et al., Improved genetic immunization via micromechanical disruption of skin-barrier function and targeted epidermal delivery. Nat Med, 2002. 8(4): p. 415-9.
- 281. Kato, N. and H.J. Eggers, *Inhibition of uncoating of fowl plague virus by I-adamantanamine hydrochloride*. Virology, 1969. **37**(4): p. 632-41.
- 282. Skehel, J.J., A.J. Hay, and J.A. Armstrong, On the mechanism of inhibition of influenza virus replication by amantadine hydrochloride. J Gen Virol, 1978. 38(1): p. 97-110.
- 283. Ohkuma, S. and B. Poole, Fluorescence probe measurement of the intralysosomal pH in living cells and the perturbation of pH by various agents. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1978. **75**(7): p. 3327-31.
- 284. Steinhauer, D.A., et al., Amantadine selection of a mutant influenza virus containing an acid-stable hemagglutinin glycoprotein: evidence for virus-specific regulation of the pH of glycoprotein transport vesicles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. 88(24): p. 11525-9.

- Deyde, V.M., et al., Surveillance of resistance to adamantanes among influenza A(H3N2) and A(H1N1) viruses isolated worldwide. J Infect Dis, 2007. 196(2): p. 249-57.
- 286. Bright, R.A., et al., Incidence of adamantane resistance among influenza A (H3N2) viruses isolated worldwide from 1994 to 2005: a cause for concern. Lancet, 2005. 366(9492): p. 1175-81.
- 287. Smith, N.M., et al., Prevention and Control of Influenza: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep, 2006. 55(RR-10): p. 1-42.
- 288. Moscona, A., *Neuraminidase inhibitors for influenza*. N Engl J Med, 2005.353(13): p. 1363-73.
- 289. Hayden, F.G., et al., Efficacy and safety of the neuraminidase inhibitor zanamivir in the treatment of influenzavirus infections. GG167 Influenza Study Group. N Engl J Med, 1997. 337(13): p. 874-80.
- 290. Chik, K.W., et al., Oseltamivir prophylaxis during the influenza season in a paediatric cancer centre: prospective observational study. Hong Kong Med J, 2004. **10**(2): p. 103-6.
- 291. Schunemann, H.J., et al., WHO Rapid Advice Guidelines for pharmacological management of sporadic human infection with avian influenza A (H5N1) virus. Lancet Infect Dis, 2007. **7**(1): p. 21-31.
- 292. Sheu, T.G., et al., Surveillance for neuraminidase inhibitor resistance among human influenza A and B viruses circulating worldwide from 2004 to 2008. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2008. **52**(9): p. 3284-92.

- 293. Baranovich, T., et al., *Emergence of H274Y oseltamivir-resistant A(H1N1) influenza viruses in Japan during the 2008-2009 season.* J Clin Virol, 2009.
- 294. Chen, H., et al., Oseltamivir-resistant influenza A pandemic (H1N1) 2009 virus, Hong Kong, China. Emerg Infect Dis, 2009. **15**(12): p. 1970-2.
- 295. Ciancio, B.C., et al., Oseltamivir-resistant influenza A(H1N1) viruses detected in Europe during season 2007-8 had epidemiologic and clinical characteristics similar to co-circulating susceptible A(H1N1) viruses. Euro Surveill, 2009. **14**(46).
- 296. Hurt, A.C., et al., Oseltamivir resistance and the H274Y neuraminidase mutation in seasonal, pandemic and highly pathogenic influenza viruses. Drugs, 2009. 69(18): p. 2523-31.
- 297. Le, Q.M., et al., *A community cluster of oseltamivir-resistant cases of 2009 H1N1 influenza.* N Engl J Med, 2010. **362**(1): p. 86-7.
- 298. Ison, M.G., et al., Recovery of drug-resistant influenza virus from immunocompromised patients: a case series. J Infect Dis, 2006. 193(6): p. 760-4.
- 299. Furuta, Y., et al., *In vitro and in vivo activities of anti-influenza virus compound T-705.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2002. **46**(4): p. 977-81.
- 300. Furuta, Y., et al., *Mechanism of action of T-705 against influenza virus.*Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2005. **49**(3): p. 981-6.
- 301. Kiso, M., et al., *T-705 (favipiravir) activity against lethal H5N1 influenza A viruses.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(2): p. 882-7.

- 302. Chung, T.D., et al., *Biochemical studies on capped RNA primers identify a class of oligonucleotide inhibitors of the influenza virus RNA polymerase.*Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. **91**(6): p. 2372-6.
- 303. Tomassini, J., et al., Inhibition of cap (m7GpppXm)-dependent endonuclease of influenza virus by 4-substituted 2,4-dioxobutanoic acid compounds. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 1994. 38(12): p. 2827-37.
- 304. Gamblin, S.J., et al., *The structure and receptor binding properties of the* 1918 influenza hemagglutinin. Science, 2004. **303**(5665): p. 1838-42.
- 305. Ha, Y., et al., H5 avian and H9 swine influenza virus haemagglutinin structures: possible origin of influenza subtypes. EMBO J, 2002. 21(5): p. 865-75.
- 306. Ha, Y., et al., X-ray structure of the hemagglutinin of a potential H3 avian progenitor of the 1968 Hong Kong pandemic influenza virus. Virology, 2003. 309(2): p. 209-18.
- 307. Stevens, J., et al., Structure of the uncleaved human H1 hemagglutinin from the extinct 1918 influenza virus. Science, 2004. 303(5665): p. 1866-70.
- Matrosovich, M.N., et al., Synthetic polymeric sialoside inhibitors of influenza virus receptor-binding activity. FEBS Lett, 1990. 272(1-2): p. 209-12.
- Mochalova, L.V., et al., Synthetic polymeric inhibitors of influenza virus receptor-binding activity suppress virus replication. Antiviral Res, 1994.
 23(3-4): p. 179-90.

- 310. Tuzikov, A.B., et al., Monovalent and polymeric 5N-thioacetamido sialosides as tightly-bound receptor analogs of influenza viruses. Antiviral Res, 1997. 33(2): p. 129-34.
- Hosoya, M., et al., *Effects of protease inhibitors on replication of various myxoviruses.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 1992. 36(7): p. 1432-6.
- 312. Zhirnov, O.P., A.V. Ovcharenko, and A.G. Bukrinskaya, Suppression of influenza virus replication in infected mice by protease inhibitors. J Gen Virol, 1984. 65 (Pt 1): p. 191-6.
- Bodian, D.L., et al., Inhibition of the fusion-inducing conformational change of influenza hemagglutinin by benzoquinones and hydroquinones.
 Biochemistry, 1993. 32(12): p. 2967-78.
- 314. Hoffman, L.R., I.D. Kuntz, and J.M. White, Structure-based identification of an inducer of the low-pH conformational change in the influenza virus hemagglutinin: irreversible inhibition of infectivity. J Virol, 1997. **71**(11): p. 8808-20.
- 315. Plotch, S.J., et al., Inhibition of influenza A virus replication by compounds interfering with the fusogenic function of the viral hemagglutinin. J Virol, 1999. 73(1): p. 140-51.
- 316. Staschke, K.A., et al., Inhibition of influenza virus hemagglutinin-mediated membrane fusion by a compound related to podocarpic acid. Virology, 1998. 248(2): p. 264-74.
- 317. Yoshimoto, J., et al., *Identification of a novel HA conformational change inhibitor of human influenza virus.* Arch Virol, 1999. **144**(5): p. 865-78.

- 318. Yoshimoto, J., et al., Identification of amino acids of influenza virus HA responsible for resistance to a fusion inhibitor, Stachyflin. Microbiol Immunol, 2000. 44(8): p. 677-85.
- 319. Yagi, S., et al., *Development of anti-influenza virus drugs I: improvement of oral absorption and in vivo anti-influenza activity of Stachyflin and its derivatives.* Pharm Res, 1999. **16**(7): p. 1041-6.
- 320. Amanna, I.J., N.E. Carlson, and M.K. Slifka, *Duration of humoral immunity* to common viral and vaccine antigens. N Engl J Med, 2007. **357**(19): p. 1903-15.
- 321. Draper, S.J. and J.L. Heeney, *Viruses as vaccine vectors for infectious diseases and cancer.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2010. **8**(1): p. 62-73.
- 322. Vuola, J.M., et al., *Differential immunogenicity of various heterologous* prime-boost vaccine regimens using DNA and viral vectors in healthy volunteers. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(1): p. 449-55.
- 323. Webster, D.P., et al., Enhanced T cell-mediated protection against malaria in human challenges by using the recombinant poxviruses FP9 and modified vaccinia virus Ankara. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(13): p. 4836-41.
- 324. Germain, R.N., MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. Cell, 1994. 76(2): p. 287-99.
- 325. Barouch, D.H., et al., *Protective efficacy of a single immunization of a chimeric adenovirus vector-based vaccine against simian*
immunodeficiency virus challenge in rhesus monkeys. J Virol, 2009. **83**(18): p. 9584-90.

- 326. Guthrie, A.J., et al., Protective immunization of horses with a recombinant canarypox virus vectored vaccine co-expressing genes encoding the outer capsid proteins of African horse sickness virus. Vaccine, 2009. 27(33): p. 4434-8.
- 327. Smith, M.E., et al., *Rabies virus glycoprotein as a carrier for anthrax protective antigen.* Virology, 2006. **353**(2): p. 344-56.
- 328. Rouxel, R.N., N. Svitek, and V. von Messling, A chimeric measles virus with canine distemper envelope protects ferrets from lethal distemper challenge. Vaccine, 2009. **27**(36): p. 4961-6.
- 329. Sadagopal, S., et al., *Expansion and exhaustion of T-cell responses* during mutational escape from long-term viral control in two DNA/modified vaccinia virus Ankara-vaccinated and simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV-89.6P-challenged macaques. J Virol, 2008. **82**(8): p. 4149-53.
- 330. Fleming, D.M., et al., Comparison of the efficacy and safety of live attenuated cold-adapted influenza vaccine, trivalent, with trivalent inactivated influenza virus vaccine in children and adolescents with asthma. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 2006. 25(10): p. 860-9.
- 331. Wiley, D.C. and J.J. Skehel, The structure and function of the hemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus. Annu Rev Biochem, 1987. 56: p. 365-94.

- Steinhauer, D.A. and J.J. Skehel, *Genetics of influenza viruses*. Annu Rev Genet, 2002. 36: p. 305-32.
- 333. Neumann, G., et al., Generation of influenza A viruses entirely from cloned cDNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. 96(16): p. 9345-50.
- 334. Hoffmann, E., et al., A DNA transfection system for generation of influenza A virus from eight plasmids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(11): p. 6108-13.
- 335. Neumann, G., et al., An improved reverse genetics system for influenza A virus generation and its implications for vaccine production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(46): p. 16825-9.
- 336. Kang, S.M., et al., Intranasal immunization with inactivated influenza virus enhances immune responses to coadministered simian-human immunodeficiency virus-like particle antigens. J Virol, 2004. **78**(18): p. 9624-32.
- 337. www.cdc.gov.
- 338. Li, S., et al., Chimeric influenza virus induces neutralizing antibodies and cytotoxic T cells against human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 1993. 67(11): p. 6659-66.
- 339. Ferko, B., et al., Chimeric influenza virus replicating predominantly in the murine upper respiratory tract induces local immune responses against human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in the genital tract. J Infect Dis, 1998. **178**(5): p. 1359-68.

- 340. Ferko, B., et al., Hyperattenuated recombinant influenza A virus nonstructural-protein-encoding vectors induce human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef-specific systemic and mucosal immune responses in mice. J Virol, 2001. **75**(19): p. 8899-908.
- 341. Muster, T., et al., Mucosal model of immunization against human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with a chimeric influenza virus. J Virol, 1995. 69(11): p. 6678-86.
- 342. Muster, T., et al., Cross-neutralizing activity against divergent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates induced by the gp41 sequence ELDKWAS. J Virol, 1994. 68(6): p. 4031-4.
- 343. Castrucci, M.R., et al., Protection against lethal lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection by immunization of mice with an influenza virus containing an LCMV epitope recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol, 1994. 68(6): p. 3486-90.
- 344. Rodrigues, M., et al., Influenza and vaccinia viruses expressing malaria CD8+ T and B cell epitopes. Comparison of their immunogenicity and capacity to induce protective immunity. J Immunol, 1994. 153(10): p. 4636-48.
- 345. Sereinig, S., et al., Influenza virus NS vectors expressing the mycobacterium tuberculosis ESAT-6 protein induce CD4+ Th1 immune response and protect animals against tuberculosis challenge. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2006. 13(8): p. 898-904.

- Turnbull, P.C., Introduction: anthrax history, disease and ecology. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2002. 271: p. 1-19.
- 347. Jernigan, D.B., et al., Investigation of bioterrorism-related anthrax, United States, 2001: epidemiologic findings. Emerg Infect Dis, 2002. 8(10): p. 1019-28.
- 348. Smith, H., J. Keppie, and J.L. Stanley, The chemical basis of the virulence of Bacillus anthracis. V. The specific toxin produced by B. Anthracis in vivo. Br J Exp Pathol, 1955. 36(5): p. 460-72.
- 349. Welkos, S., et al., The role of antibodies to Bacillus anthracis and anthrax toxin components in inhibiting the early stages of infection by anthrax spores. Microbiology, 2001. 147(Pt 6): p. 1677-85.
- 350. Stanley, J.L. and H. Smith, *Purification of factor I and recognition of a third factor of the anthrax toxin.* J Gen Microbiol, 1961. **26**: p. 49-63.
- 351. Petosa, C., et al., *Crystal structure of the anthrax toxin protective antigen.*Nature, 1997. **385**(6619): p. 833-8.
- 352. Bradley, K.A., et al., *Identification of the cellular receptor for anthrax toxin.*Nature, 2001. **414**(6860): p. 225-9.
- 353. Liu, S. and S.H. Leppla, Cell surface tumor endothelium marker 8 cytoplasmic tail-independent anthrax toxin binding, proteolytic processing, oligomer formation, and internalization. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(7): p. 5227-34.

- 354. Scobie, H.M., et al., Human capillary morphogenesis protein 2 functions as an anthrax toxin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. 100(9): p. 5170-4.
- 355. Zhao, J., J.C. Milne, and R.J. Collier, *Effect of anthrax toxin's lethal factor* on ion channels formed by the protective antigen. J Biol Chem, 1995.
 270(31): p. 18626-30.
- 356. Mogridge, J., M. Mourez, and R.J. Collier, Involvement of domain 3 in oligomerization by the protective antigen moiety of anthrax toxin. J Bacteriol, 2001. 183(6): p. 2111-6.
- 357. Blaustein, R.O., et al., Anthrax toxin: channel-forming activity of protective antigen in planar phospholipid bilayers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989.
 86(7): p. 2209-13.
- Ivins, B.E. and S.L. Welkos, Cloning and expression of the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen gene in Bacillus subtilis. Infect Immun, 1986.
 54(2): p. 537-42.
- 359. Ivins, B.E. and S.L. Welkos, *Recent advances in the development of an improved, human anthrax vaccine.* Eur J Epidemiol, 1988. **4**(1): p. 12-9.
- 360. Flick-Smith, H.C., et al., *A recombinant carboxy-terminal domain of the protective antigen of Bacillus anthracis protects mice against anthrax infection.* Infect Immun, 2002. **70**(3): p. 1653-6.
- 361. Turnbull, P.C., Anthrax vaccines: past, present and future. Vaccine, 1991.9(8): p. 533-9.

- 362. Boyaka, P.N., et al., Effective mucosal immunity to anthrax: neutralizing antibodies and Th cell responses following nasal immunization with protective antigen. J Immunol, 2003. **170**(11): p. 5636-43.
- 363. Ivins, B.E., et al., Comparative efficacy of experimental anthrax vaccine candidates against inhalation anthrax in rhesus macaques. Vaccine, 1998.
 16(11-12): p. 1141-8.
- 364. Little, S.F., Anthrax vaccines: a development update. BioDrugs, 2005.**19**(4): p. 233-45.
- 365. Little, S.F., et al., *Defining a serological correlate of protection in rabbits* for a recombinant anthrax vaccine. Vaccine, 2004. **22**(3-4): p. 422-30.
- Coeshott, C.M., et al., *Pluronic F127-based systemic vaccine delivery* systems. Vaccine, 2004. 22(19): p. 2396-405.
- 367. Barnard, J.P. and A.M. Friedlander, Vaccination against anthrax with attenuated recombinant strains of Bacillus anthracis that produce protective antigen. Infect Immun, 1999. **67**(2): p. 562-7.
- 368. Hermanson, G., et al., A cationic lipid-formulated plasmid DNA vaccine confers sustained antibody-mediated protection against aerosolized anthrax spores. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(37): p. 13601-6.
- 369. Huang, J., et al., Intranasal administration of dry powder anthrax vaccine provides protection against lethal aerosol spore challenge. Hum Vaccin, 2007. 3(3): p. 90-3.
- 370. Peachman, K.K., et al., Correlation between lethal toxin-neutralizing antibody titers and protection from intranasal challenge with Bacillus

anthracis Ames strain spores in mice after transcutaneous immunization with recombinant anthrax protective antigen. Infect Immun, 2006. **74**(1): p. 794-7.

- 371. Li, Z.N., et al., Chimeric influenza virus hemagglutinin proteins containing large domains of the Bacillus anthracis protective antigen: protein characterization, incorporation into infectious influenza viruses, and antigenicity. J Virol, 2005. **79**(15): p. 10003-12.
- 372. Goodnow, C.C., Balancing immunity and tolerance: deleting and tuning lymphocyte repertoires. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(6): p. 2264-71.
- Hardy, R.R. and K. Hayakawa, *B cell development pathways*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2001. 19: p. 595-621.
- 374. Hayakawa, K., et al., *Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells.*Science, 1999. 285(5424): p. 113-6.
- 375. Allman, D.M., et al., Peripheral B cell maturation. II. Heat-stable antigen(hi) splenic B cells are an immature developmental intermediate in the production of long-lived marrow-derived B cells. J Immunol, 1993. 151(9): p. 4431-44.
- 376. Osmond, D.G., *Population dynamics of bone marrow B lymphocytes.* Immunol Rev, 1986. **93**: p. 103-24.
- 377. Boes, M., et al., A critical role of natural immunoglobulin M in immediate defense against systemic bacterial infection. J Exp Med, 1998. 188(12): p. 2381-6.

- 378. Ochsenbein, A.F., et al., *Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies.* Science, 1999. **286**(5447): p. 2156-9.
- 379. Okada, T. and J.G. Cyster, *B cell migration and interactions in the early phase of antibody responses.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2006. **18**(3): p. 278-85.
- Ferguson, S.E., et al., CD28 is required for germinal center formation. J Immunol, 1996. 156(12): p. 4576-81.
- 381. Kawabe, T., et al., The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. Immunity, 1994. 1(3): p. 167-78.
- 382. Crotty, S., et al., SAP is required for generating long-term humoral immunity. Nature, 2003. 421(6920): p. 282-7.
- 383. Gray, D., M. Kosco, and B. Stockinger, Novel pathways of antigen presentation for the maintenance of memory. Int Immunol, 1991. 3(2): p. 141-8.
- 384. O'Connor, B.P., M. Cascalho, and R.J. Noelle, Short-lived and long-lived bone marrow plasma cells are derived from a novel precursor population. J Exp Med, 2002. 195(6): p. 737-45.
- 385. Allen, C.D. and J.G. Cyster, Follicular dendritic cell networks of primary follicles and germinal centers: phenotype and function. Semin Immunol, 2008. 20(1): p. 14-25.
- Gunn, M.D., et al., A B-cell-homing chemokine made in lymphoid follicles activates Burkitt's lymphoma receptor-1. Nature, 1998. 391(6669): p. 799-803.

- 387. Kalia, V., et al., Differentiation of memory B and T cells. Curr Opin Immunol, 2006. 18(3): p. 255-64.
- 388. Liu, Y.J., et al., Sites of specific B cell activation in primary and secondary responses to T cell-dependent and T cell-independent antigens. Eur J Immunol, 1991. 21(12): p. 2951-62.
- 389. Gray, D., P. Dullforce, and S. Jainandunsing, Memory B cell development but not germinal center formation is impaired by in vivo blockade of CD40-CD40 ligand interaction. J Exp Med, 1994. 180(1): p. 141-55.
- 390. Neurath, M.F., E.E. Max, and W. Strober, Pax5 (BSAP) regulates the murine immunoglobulin 3' alpha enhancer by suppressing binding of NFalpha P, a protein that controls heavy chain transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(12): p. 5336-40.
- 391. Liu, Y.J., et al., Germinal center cells express bcl-2 protein after activation by signals which prevent their entry into apoptosis. Eur J Immunol, 1991.
 21(8): p. 1905-10.
- 392. Turner, C.A., Jr., D.H. Mack, and M.M. Davis, *Blimp-1, a novel zinc finger*containing protein that can drive the maturation of *B* lymphocytes into immunoglobulin-secreting cells. Cell, 1994. **77**(2): p. 297-306.
- 393. Stuber, E., et al., Cross-linking of OX40 ligand, a member of the TNF/NGF cytokine family, induces proliferation and differentiation in murine splenic B cells. Immunity, 1995. 2(5): p. 507-21.

- 394. Smith, K.G., et al., *The extent of affinity maturation differs between the memory and antibody-forming cell compartments in the primary immune response.* EMBO J, 1997. **16**(11): p. 2996-3006.
- 395. Kraal, G., I.L. Weissman, and E.C. Butcher, Germinal centre B cells: antigen specificity and changes in heavy chain class expression. Nature, 1982. 298(5872): p. 377-9.
- 396. Slifka, M.K., et al., *Humoral immunity due to long-lived plasma cells.* Immunity, 1998. 8(3): p. 363-72.
- 397. Slifka, M.K., M. Matloubian, and R. Ahmed, Bone marrow is a major site of long-term antibody production after acute viral infection. J Virol, 1995.
 69(3): p. 1895-902.
- 398. Panum, P.L., *Beobachtungen über das Masercontagium*. Virchows Arch, 1847. 1(492).
- 399. Yu, X., et al., *Neutralizing antibodies derived from the B cells of 1918 influenza pandemic survivors.* Nature, 2008. **455**(7212): p. 532-6.
- 400. Crotty, S., et al., *Cutting edge: long-term B cell memory in humans after smallpox vaccination.* J Immunol, 2003. **171**(10): p. 4969-73.
- 401. Hammarlund, E., et al., *Duration of antiviral immunity after smallpox vaccination.* Nat Med, 2003. **9**(9): p. 1131-7.
- 402. Taub, D.D., et al., *Immunity from smallpox vaccine persists for decades: a longitudinal study.* Am J Med, 2008. **121**(12): p. 1058-64.

- 403. Fahey, J.L. and S. Sell, THE IMMUNOGLOBULINS OF MICE. V. THE METABOLIC (CATABOLIC) PROPERTIES OF FIVE IMMUNOGLOBULIN CLASSES. J Exp Med, 1965. 122: p. 41-58.
- 404. Talbot, P.J. and M.J. Buchmeier, *Catabolism of homologous murine monoclonal hybridoma IgG antibodies in mice.* Immunology, 1987. 60(4):
 p. 485-9.
- 405. Vieira, P. and K. Rajewsky, *The half-lives of serum immunoglobulins in adult mice.* Eur J Immunol, 1988. **18**(2): p. 313-6.
- 406. Manz, R.A., A. Thiel, and A. Radbruch, *Lifetime of plasma cells in the bone marrow.* Nature, 1997. **388**(6638): p. 133-4.
- 407. Ahuja, A., et al., *Maintenance of the plasma cell pool is independent of memory B cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(12): p. 4802-7.
- 408. DiLillo, D.J., et al., *Maintenance of long-lived plasma cells and serological memory despite mature and memory B cell depletion during CD20 immunotherapy in mice.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(1): p. 361-71.
- 409. Anderson, S.M., L.G. Hannum, and M.J. Shlomchik, *Memory B cell survival and function in the absence of secreted antibody and immune complexes on follicular dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(8): p. 4515-9.
- Schittek, B. and K. Rajewsky, *Maintenance of B-cell memory by long-lived cells generated from proliferating precursors.* Nature, 1990. **346**(6286): p. 749-51.
- 411. Ochsenbein, A.F., et al., *Protective long-term antibody memory by* antigen-driven and T help-dependent differentiation of long-lived memory

B cells to short-lived plasma cells independent of secondary lymphoid organs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. **97**(24): p. 13263-8.

- 412. Benson, M.J., et al., Distinction of the memory B cell response to cognate antigen versus bystander inflammatory signals. J Exp Med, 2009. 206(9):
 p. 2013-25.
- 413. Bernasconi, N.L., E. Traggiai, and A. Lanzavecchia, Maintenance of serological memory by polyclonal activation of human memory B cells.
 Science, 2002. 298(5601): p. 2199-202.
- 414. Gong, Q., et al., *Importance of cellular microenvironment and circulatory dynamics in B cell immunotherapy*. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(2): p. 817-26.
- 415. O'Keefe, T.L., et al., *Mice carrying a CD20 gene disruption.* Immunogenetics, 1998. **48**(2): p. 125-32.
- 416. Riley, J.K. and M.X. Sliwkowski, *CD20: a gene in search of a function.* Semin Oncol, 2000. **27**(6 Suppl 12): p. 17-24.
- 417. Tedder, T.F. and P. Engel, *CD20: a regulator of cell-cycle progression of B lymphocytes.* Immunol Today, 1994. **15**(9): p. 450-4.
- 418. Cragg, M.S., et al., *The biology of CD20 and its potential as a target for mAb therapy.* Curr Dir Autoimmun, 2005. **8**: p. 140-74.
- 419. Kielian, M. and F.A. Rey, *Virus membrane-fusion proteins: more than one way to make a hairpin.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2006. **4**(1): p. 67-76.
- 420. Weissenhorn, W., A. Hinz, and Y. Gaudin, *Virus membrane fusion.* FEBS Lett, 2007. **581**(11): p. 2150-5.

- 421. Rerks-Ngarm, S., et al., *Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand.* N Engl J Med, 2009. **361**(23): p. 2209-20.
- 422. Heninger, S., et al., *Toxin-deficient mutants of Bacillus anthracis are lethal in a murine model for pulmonary anthrax.* Infect Immun, 2006. **74**(11): p. 6067-74.
- 423. Welkos, S.L. and A.M. Friedlander, *Pathogenesis and genetic control of resistance to the Sterne strain of Bacillus anthracis.* Microb Pathog, 1988.
 4(1): p. 53-69.
- 424. Epstein, S.L., *Prior H1N1 influenza infection and susceptibility of Cleveland Family Study participants during the H2N2 pandemic of 1957: an experiment of nature.* J Infect Dis, 2006. **193**(1): p. 49-53.
- 425. Asano, M.S. and R. Ahmed, *CD8 T cell memory in B cell-deficient mice.* J Exp Med, 1996. **183**(5): p. 2165-74.
- 426. Pichurin, P., et al., Thyrotrophin receptor-specific memory T cell responses require normal B cells in a murine model of Graves' disease.
 Clin Exp Immunol, 2003. 134(3): p. 396-402.